UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO RIO GRANDE DO SUL INSTITUTO DE CIÊNCIAS BÁSICAS DA SAÚDE PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS: BIOQUÍMICA

Gabriel Cardozo Müller

Efeitos Globais da Neuroproteção pela Administração Intranasal de Guanosina em um Modelo de Isquemia Cerebral Focal Permanente.

> Porto Alegre 2021

Gabriel Cardozo Müller

Efeitos Globais da Neuroproteção pela Administração Intranasal de Guanosina em um Modelo de Isquemia Cerebral Focal Permanente.

Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica do Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde da Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul como requisito parcial para a obtenção do título de doutorem Bioquímica.

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Diogo Onofre Gomes de Souza

Porto Alegre 2021

CIP - Catalogação na Publicação

```
Muller, Gabriel Cardozo
Efeitos Globais da Neuroproteção pela Administração
Intranasal de Guanosina em um Modelo de Isquemia
Cerebral Focal Permanente. / Gabriel Cardozo Muller.
-- 2021.
117 f.
Orientador: Diogo Onofre Gomes de Souza.
Tese (Doutorado) -- Universidade Federal do Rio
Grande do Sul, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde,
Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas:
Bioquímica, Porto Alegre, BR-RS, 2021.

Guanosina. 2. Neuroproteção. 3. Isquemia
Cerebral. I. Gomes de Souza, Diogo Onofre, orient.
Título.
```

Elaborada pelo Sistema de Geração Automática de Ficha Catalográfica da UFRGS com os dados fornecidos pelo(a) autor(a).

Agradecimentos

Acredito que esta seja a parte mais difícil desta tese...

Inicialmente gostaria de agradecer à minha família, aos meus pais, Armim e Luciana, que se esforçaram e me deram condições para que eu pudesse estar aqui. Admito que não tenho palavras para expressar toda a gratidão que tenho por vocês.

Ao meu orientador, Prof Diogo, que direta ou indiretamente foi responsável por uma revolução em minha vida que me deu oportunidades de aprender e de entender o mundo de maneira que eu jamais imaginaria. Sempre imagino que sem um ambiente de portas abertas, como o do laboratório 28, seria impossível eu ter me inserido desde tão cedo na pesquisa.

Não posso deixar de ser também grato à Prof^a Maria Elisa, sem a qual essa tese provavelmente estaria com uma qualidade muito inferior, que me ajudou muito em todos esses anos.

Agradeço também aos colegas e amigos feitos na bioquímica, que sempre foram uma fonte de apoio nos experimentos mais difíceis. O Marcelo Ganzella, que aceitou me orientar como IC há quase oito anos e deu o "pontapé inicial" a tudo isso, e a Samanta Loureiro, cuja criatividade e ideias geniais são parte importante desse trabalho. Não posso esquecer também o Roberto, a Letícia, o Pedro, a Joseane, o Luis Valmor, o Marcelo e o Natan...

Seria irresponsável não ser grato àqueles que me acompanharam durante o período da minha graduação, principalmente aos membros da ATM 19/1, que me deram a honra de ser o "Doutorando Homenageado", "cargo" criado para a minha pessoa. Vocês não sabem como foram importantes durante a minha jornada.

Devo citar também aqueles que "surgiram" durante esse período de graduação, Fernanda, Marcelle, Jordana, Professores Ricardo, Edimarlei e Janete, que não só me ajudaram, mas também me deram oportunidades em diversos grupos de pesquisa.

Sem dúvidas, foi fundamental o apoio de todo o PPG Bioquímica, técnicos, bioteristas e todos os que participaram do processo, principalmente para resolver tantos trâmites (sem palavras para a eficiência e disponibilidade da Cléia e do Giordano).

E agradeço a todos aqueles que de alguma forma ajudaram ou participaram de todo o desenvolvimento da tese, direta ou indiretamente (muito obrigado Carine e Gib,Patricia e Mazeron pela parceria e, claro, à Tânia pela revisão). E tantos outros cujos nomes não podem ser inseridos aqui por falta de espaço, porém tenham certeza de que estarão em meus pensamentos quando olhar novamente esse documento.

Também agradeço às agências de fomento (CAPES,CNPq,FAPERGS), essenciais para o desenvolvimento do trabalho.

Abreviações

- A1 Receptor de Adenosina 1
- A2A Receptor de Adenosina A2A
- ACM Artéria Cerebral Média
- AKT/ PkB Proteína Cinase B
- ADP 5'-Adenosina Difosfato
- ATP 5'-Adenosina Trifosfato
- AVC Acidente vascular cerebral
- AVCh Acidente vascular cerebral Hemorrágico
- AVCi- Acidente vascular cerebral Isquêmico
- BHE Barreira Hematoencefálica
- COX-2 Ciclooxigenase 2
- EEG Eletroencefalograma
- FLAIR Fluid-Attenuated Inversion Recovery
- Guo Guanosina
- GFAP Proteína Ácida Fibrilar Glial
- GSk3β Cinase Glicogênio-Sintetase 3 Beta
- H&E Hematoxilina e Eosina
- HIF-1α Fator induzido por Hipóxia

- In-Guo Administração Intranasal de Guanosina
- iNOS Óxido Nítrico Sintase Induzida
- I.N. Administração Intranasal
- I.P. Administração Intraperitoneal
- iNOS- Óxido-nítrico sintase induzível
- PI3k Cinase Fosfaditilinositol-3
- PTEN Fosfatase e Tensina Homóloga
- MAPk Cinase Ativada por Mitogênio
- mTOR Mammalian Target of Rapamycin
- MMP-2 Metaloproteinase-2
- MMP-9 Metaloproteinase-9
- NMDA N-metil-D-aspartato
- OGD Privaçãode Oxigênio e Glicose
- PBS Solução Tampão de Fosfato
- PSD Densidade de Potência Espectral
- PI lodeto de Propídio
- ROS Radicais Livres de Oxigênio
- rt-PA Ativador de Plasminogênio Tecidual Recombinante
- SOD Superóxido dismutase

SNC – Sistema Nervoso Central

- TBARS Substâncias Reativas ao Ácido Tiobarbitúrico
- TC Tomografia Computadorizada
- qEEG Eletroencefalograma quantitativo

Müller, GC. Efeitos Globais da Neuroproteção pela Administração Intranasal de Guanosina em um Modelo de Isquemia Cerebral Focal Permanente.

Resumo

Guanosina (Guo) é um nucleosídeo com diversos efeitos neuroprotetores que apresentou resultados promissores, em modelos animais, para patologias como: crises epiléticas, sepse, encefalopatia hepática e doenças psiguiátricas. Resultados relevantes também foram achados nos modelos animais de isquemia cerebral focal transitória e permanente. Esses resultados, porém, ficaram limitados pela janela terapêutica, pois os efeitos, nos escores comportamentais observados, se manifestaram somente com a administração da Guo imediatamente após a indução de isquemia. Para aumentar a janela terapêutica, passou-se a considerar a administração pela via intranasal a partir da primeira dose administrada três horas após indução de isquemia no modelo de termocoagulação dos vasos piais; entre os resultados se destaca a melhora dos escores comportamentais a curto prazo. Este trabalho teve por objetivos avaliar parâmetros que pudessem reforçar os efeitos da via intranasal no modelo de termocoagulação utilizando-se de ratos Wistar machos adultos e estender a janela terapêutica por um prazo mais longo, levando em consideração outros parâmetros que também refletissem os efeitos neuroprotetores da Guo. A administração intranasal de Guo apresentou-se capaz de prevenir o déficit motor até mesmo com sua primeira dose administrada nove horas após a indução de isquemia, e seus efeitos mantidos por até 42 dias após a indução. Verificou-se, também, que o esquema terapêutico, com janela terapêutica de três horas, se mostrou eficaz na prevenção do déficit motor a curto e longo prazo ao apresentar efeitos protetores relacionados ao EEG quantitativo, às vias de sinalização e à permeabilidade da barreira hematoencefálica.

Müller, GC. Global Effects of Neuroprotection by Intranasal Guanosine Administration in a Model of Focal Permanent Abstract

Guanosine (Guo) is a nucleoside presenting several neuroprotective effects, with promising results on animal models of: seizures, sepsis, hepatic encephalopathy and psychiatric diseases. Further results also were shown on animal models of focal transient and permanent ischemia. However, these effects were restricted by its narrow therapeutic window, with its results on preventing motor deficit only when administered immediately after ischemia induction. In order to increase this therapeutical window, intranasal Guo administration (In-Guo) was evaluated on a ischemic stroke model, presenting partial damage prevention with administration up to three hours after ischemia induction by thermocoagulation of pial vessels using Wistar rats. In this actual work, the objective was to evaluate parameters reinforcing evidence on In-Guo neuroprotective effects after ischemic damage, using thermocoagulation of pial vessels, on a long term perspective to estabilish its therapeutical window, and evaluate other parameters related to Guo neuroprotection. Thereby, In-Guo prevented long-term motor deficit even when administered up to nine hours after ischemia induction. On other side, therapeutical scheme with first administration up to three hours presented itself effective in preventing motor deficit on both short and long term, also with neuroprotective effects related to quantitative electroencephalogram, signaling pathways and to Blood Brain Barrier permeability.

APRESENTAÇÃO

Esta tese de doutorado dividide-se em três partes.

Parte I - introdução e objetivos – traz o embasamento teórico, os objetivos e as hipóteses da tese.

Parte II - artigo científico e resultados complementares – aqui se encontram as metodologias utilizadas e os resultados obtidos apresentados em um artigo,assim como os resultados complementares.

Parte III - discussão, conclusão e perspectivas- disserta sobre as limitações, conclusões e perspectivas que podem ser consideradas a partir dos resultados desse trabalho.

As referências bibliográficas das citações feitas encontram-se inseridas no texto da introdução e discussão desse documento.

O anexo refere-se ao artigo, em caráter de autoria dividida, redigido e publicado durante a elaboração dessa tese.

ÍNDICE

● Introdução		
1. Acidentes vasculares Cerebrais	12	
1.1. Epidemiologia	12	
1.2. Apresentação Clínica, Diagnóstico e Achados em Neuroimagem	13	
1.3. Mecanismos Fisiopatológicos do AVCi	15	
1.3.1. Falha Bioenergética e Desequilíbrio Iônico	15	
1.3.2. Excitoxicidade Glutamatérgica	16	
1.3.3. Dano Mitocondrial e Apoptose	17	
1.3.4. Dano à BHE	20	
1.3.5. Reatividade Astrocitária	23	
1.3.6. Abordagens Terapêuticas e Prognósticas com Base na Fisiopatologia do AVCi	25	
1.3.6.1. Tratamento	25	
1.3.6.2. Prognóstico pelo EEG	27	
2. Guanosina e seu Potencial Neuroprotetor	31	
2.1. Repercussões da Guanosina na Atividade Elétrica Cerebral	32	
2.2. Guanosina e Isquemia Cerebral	33	
2.3. Guanosina e seus Aspectos Mecanísticos em Modelos de Isquemia	34	
2.4. Guanosina Administrada Via Intranasal como Alternativa Terapêutica	36	
3. Hipóteses	37	
4. Objetivos	38	
4.1. Objetivos Gerais	38	
4.2. Objetivos Específicos	38	
● Metodologias e Resultados	39	
Capítulo I	40	
Capítulo II	60	
1. Metodologias Complementares	60	
1.1. Animais e Protocolos Experimentais de Isquemia	60	

		1.2. Escolha De Esquemas De Administração Intranasal De Guo.	60
		1.3. Teste de Simetria dos Membros Anteriores	61
		1.4. Processamento e Coleta de Amostras	61
		1.5. Histologia	62
		1.6. Mensuração de Volume de Infarto	63
		1.7. Contagem de Células por Citometria de Fluxo	63
		1.8. Estatística	64
		2. Resultados	64
		2.1. Simetria das Patas Anteriores	65
		2.2. Avaliação Histológica por H&E e Área de Infarto	66
		2.3. Citometria de Fluxo/Parâmetros celulares	68
• Discussão e Conclusões			70
	1.	Análise Comportamental a Longo Prazo.	70
	2.	Efeitos da Guo nas Oscilações Corticais em Modelos de Isquemia e Injúria Cerebral	70
	3.	Alterações da BHE em Modelos de Isquemia Cerebral e Efeitos da Guo em sua Permeabilidade	73
	4.	Parâmetros Celulares e de Sinalização Relacionados à Neuroproteção da Guo	74
	5.	Conclusões e Perspectivas	77
• Bibliografia			79
• Anexos			104
1.	. A	nexo I -Intranasal guanosine administration presents a wide therapeutic time window to reduce brain	105

damage induced by permanent ischemia in rats

PARTE I INTRODUÇÃO E OBJETIVOS

INTRODUÇÃO

1. Acidentes Vasculares Cerebrais

1.1 Epidemiologia

Doenças vasculares, em termos mundiais,são as principais causas de morbimortalidade (Katan and Luft 2018, Collaborators 2019, Kaji 2019, Liu, Huang et al. 2019, Zhao and Huang 2019), com sua incidência aumentada na medida em que fatores de risco, como a idade avançada, obesidade, hipertensão e sedentarismo, tornam-se mais prevalentes nas populações (Feigin, Krishnamurthi et al. 2015).

Dentre essas doenças, destacam-se os Acidentes Vasculares Cerebrais/ Encefálicos (AVC ou AVE, doravante AVC) os quais isoladamente representam a segunda maior causa de mortalidade. Na América Latina, estima-se que uma a cada cinco pessoas acima dos 25 anos irá apresentar um AVC, conforme o Global Burden of Stroke (levantamento epidemiológico da Organização Mundial da Saúde) (Feigin, Krishnamurthi et al. 2015). Ao lado disso, existe um impacto econômico importante decorrente das sequelas pós-AVC (de Santana, Dos Santos Figueiredo et al. 2018, Gorelick 2019), uma vez que um percentual considerável dos pacientes acometidos necessita de cuidado especializado, internações recorrentes, inclusive em Unidades de Tratamento Intensivo, e aposentadoria por invalidez (Gorelick 2019).

Etiologicamente, dividem-se os AVCs em: Hemorrágicos (AVCh),quadro caracterizado por rompimento na parede das artérias envolvidas na circulação cerebral; Isquêmicos (AVCi), quadro caracterizado pela oclusão de um vaso

por coágulo. Ainda que os primeiros apresentem maior letalidade, os isquêmicos representam 80-90% de todos os casos de AVC (de Santana, Dos Santos Figueiredo et al. 2018) razão pela qual esse trabalho passará a abordar os AVCi.

1.2. Apresentação Clínica, Diagnóstico e Achados em Neuroimagem.

Nos AVCi, as apresentações clínicas correspondem à função do território encefálico acometido, sendo a área de irrigação da artéria cerebral média (ACM) predominantemente afetada (Donnan, Fisher et al. 2008). Nela, encontram-se as áreas motora e sensorial primária, bem como – no hemisfério dominante – a área de Wernicke. Por isso, são frequentes sintomas como perda abrupta de força e sensibilidade em hemicorpo, e alterações na fala (Kothari, Hall et al. 1997, Goldstein and Simel 2005). Essa tríade, quando presente, indica alto valor preditivo positivo para o diagnóstico de AVCi (Kothari, Hall et al. 1997, Goldstein and Simel 2005), porém não é capaz de excluir a necessidade de neuroimagem.

Em vista disso, para o diagnóstico são necessários exame físico neurológico e diferenciação de etiologia (hemorrágica ou isquêmica) – essencial para definição de conduta – por meio de tomografia computadorizada (TC) (Zivin 1998, Dirnagl, ladecola et al. 1999, Powers, Rabinstein et al. 2019).Como, no Brasil, existe apenas uma minoria de centros de saúde que dispõem de tomógrafo, as possibilidades de tramento ficam restritas (de Carvalho, Alves et al. 2011, Martins, Pontes-Neto et al. 2013, de Santana, Dos Santos Figueiredo et al. 2018). A TC pode detectar precocemente sinais de oclusão arterial por meio de hiperdensidade do vaso acometido (Marks, Holmgren et al. 1999), tendo de moderada/alta capacidade para identificar sinais de infarto cerebral (**Figura 1**), como a presença de hipodensidade tecidual (Marks, Holmgren et al. 1999), Sua utilização, portanto, foca-se na exclusão da presença de hemorragias intracerebrais (2019, Powers, Rabinstein et al. 2019), já que o uso de trombolítico é contraindicado nesses casos (2019, Powers, Rabinstein et al. 2019).



Figura 1.1 Imagens de Tomografias computadorizadas de crânio (TC), 48 horas após o evento isquêmico. À esquerda correspondente a um AVC isquêmico, extraída Radiopaedia.org, rID: 6153 (cortesia de Dr Jeremy Jones), à direita correspondente a um AVC hemorrágico, Radiopaedia.org, rID: 23669 (cortesia de Hugo Neves)

É possível, ainda, usar a imagem por ressonância magnética (RM) para detecção de sinais hiperagudos decorrentes da isquemia, sendo capaz de identificar com precisão consequências de edema citotóxico e morte celular aumentada, bem como hipoperfusão tecidual. Não obstante, a acessibilidade a

esse exame é ainda baixa e seus custos bastante elevados (Camilo and Goldstein 2003).

Recentemente, as análises de perfusão por meio de contraste em TC e RM foram propostas como complementares à avaliação dos pacientes, para definir prognóstico e determinar novas abordagens terapêuticas (Mokin, Levy et al. 2017, Wood 2018).

1.3 Mecanismos Fisiopatológicos do AVCi

A oclusão arterial no SNC leva, de maneira quase imediata, a uma série de eventos que podem ocorrer por horas ou dias após o início da oclusão (**Figura 2**), conhecida como "cascata isquêmica" (Durukan and Tatlisumak 2007, Brouns and De Deyn 2009).

Essa sequência de eventos envolve diversos processos bioquímicos que resultam na progressão de uma zona não salvável, conhecida como núcleo isquêmico, para zona salvável, parcialmente disfuncional, conhecida como "penumbra" (Durukan and Tatlisumak 2007, Brouns and De Deyn 2009).

1.3.1. Falha Bioenergética e Desequilíbrio lônico

A hipoperfusão, no seu início, resulta em hipóxia e redução no aporte de glicose, o que determina importante falha bioenergética. Desenvolve-se daí, portanto, um desequilíbrio iônico por meio da disfunção de mecanismos homeostáticos celulares importantes, como a Na-K ATPase (Brouns and De Deyn 2009), o qual promoverá uma alteração do potencial de membrana e, consequentemente, a ativação aumentada dos receptores de glutamato.



Figura 1.2: Cascata Isquêmica, conforme adaptado de Brouns and De Deyn 2009

1.3.2. Excitoxicidade Glutamatérgica

Diversos trabalhos apontam que o aumento abrupto da concentração intracerebral de glutamato e aspartato corresponde a uma resposta ao dano isquêmico, sendo a excitotoxicidade uma etapa importante para o aumento da morte celular (Dirnagl, ladecola et al. 1999, Lo 2008, Brouns and De Deyn 2009, Lai, Zhang et al. 2014).

Como consequência da hiperestimulação glutamatérgica, diversas cascatas intracelulares são ativadas, principalmente as decorrentes da ação dos receptores NMDA. Pela ativação destes, observa-se um aumento no influxo intracelular de cátions, que se reflete na ativação da iNOS, responsável pela conversão de arginina em óxido nítrico, uma das principais fontes de ROS (Lo 2008, Lai, Zhang et al. 2014).

Outra consequência do influxo de cálcio aumentado é o desequilíbrio da sinalização envolvida na sobrevivência celular. Esse efeito decorre da inibição da fosforilação/ativação da PI3k e da consequente ativação de proteínas próapoptóticas, como PTEN, GSk3β, responsáveis pela sinalização de morte celular (Lo 2008, Lai, Zhang et al. 2014).

Em última análise, em curto prazo, tem-se, como resultado de todo esse processo, a morte celular aumentada se propagando pelo tecido cerebral potencialmente (Pisani, Bonsi et al. 2004, Lo 2008, Lai, Zhang et al. 2014).

1.3.3. Dano mitocondrial e Apoptose

A mitocôndria é um dos principais reguladores da morte celular, uma vez que se apresenta como um dos importantes depósitos do cálcio intracelular. Além disso, contém complexos enzimáticos essenciais para a manutenção da sobrevivência celular em sua membrana interna (Liu, Lu et al. 2018). Por isso, as mitocôndrias afetadas pelo dano isquêmico tornam-se componentes importantes na evolução desfavorável da zona de peri-infarto, na qual eventos, como excitotoxicidade glutamatérgica, disfunção bioenergética e iônica, afetam proeminentemente a funcionalidade mitocondrial (Liu, Lu et al. 2018).

A indução de morte celular por meio das funções mitocondriais ocorre por mecanismos, como inibição da fosforilação oxidativa, abertura do poro de transição de permeabilidade mitocondrial e liberação do Citocromo C, ou outra proteína do espaço entre as membranas interna e externa (Lipton 1999).

Esses efeitos ocorrem principalmente porque, em situações como a excitoxicidade glutamatérgica induzida pela isquemia cerebral, nas quais há um

aumento expressivo das concentrações intra e extracelulares de cálcio, a mitocôndria pode funcionar como um "depósito" desse cátion (Szabadkai and Duchen 2008, Liu, Lu et al. 2018). Isso promove, em conjunto com os baixos níveis de ATP, uma variação do potencial de membrana mitocondrial (Hajnoczky, Csordas et al. 2006), a qual apresentará, como consequências, abertura do poro de transição de permeabilidade mitocondrial e desacoplamento nos mecanismos de produção de ATP (Leung and Halestrap 2008). Se este for mantido, poderá causar a morte celular por necrose; se controlado por níveis mínimos de ATP, com conseguente fechamento do poro (Leung and Halestrap 2008), pode implicar a sinalização de vias intracelulares, promovendo a morte celular programada (Kim, He et al. 2003, Leung and Halestrap 2008).

Concomitantemente à sinalização de morte celular induzida pelo dano mitocondrial, outras vias de sinalização pró e anti apoptóticas são moduladas, uma vez que os ROS também ativam mecanismos de morte celular (Lo 2008, Lai, Zhang et al. 2014, Uzdensky 2019).

Cabe ressaltar que a zona isquêmica é essencialmente heterogênea, uma vez que a transição entre núcleo e zona de penumbra se faz de maneira gradual, na medida em que se afasta do foco isquêmico, visto que esse gradiente é definido pela perfusão tecidual, proporcional ao substrato energético (Fricker, Tolkovsky et al. 2018, Yang, Liu et al. 2019). Isso influencia diretamente o tipo de morte celular, predominantemente dividida em necrose e apoptose (Uzdensky 2019). As células capazes de entrar em apoptose estão disfuncionais, porém mantêm integridade de membrana plasmática e níveis mínimos de ATP (Radak, Katsiki et al. 2017). Tendo em vista essas condições, os mecanismos de apoptose, regulados por diversas vias de sinalização, são alvos importantes a serem abordados para a investigação de potenciais fármacos neuroprotetores (Uzdensky 2019).

Especialmente afetadas por modelos de isquemia focal e envolvidas diretamente na morte celular são as caspases, enzimas responsáveis pela promoção e execução da apoptose (Bursch, Kleine et al. 1990, Schwartzman and Cidlowski 1993, Hengartner 2000). Essas enzimas, ativadas por diferentes mecanismos, fazem parte de uma cascata de reações que converge para as formas efetoras (Caspases 3, 6 e 9) as quais vão promover a morte por apoptose (Hengartner 2000).

Dessa forma, inibir os efeitos das caspases, especialmente das suas formas ativas, pode prevenir a morte celular e repercutir, de maneira favorável, em parâmetros funcionais nos modelos de AVCi (Schulz, Weller et al. 1999, Zehendner, Librizzi et al. 2011).

Outras vias de sinalização têm potencial modulatório sobre as caspases, principalmente em modelos de isquemia cerebral. Essas vias são aquelas envolvidas na sinalização da Akt/PI3k/mTOR, uma vez que essas proteínas têm papel importante na proliferação celular e na inibição de apoptose, inibindo proteínas como a GSK3β e a PTEN (Noshita, Lewen et al. 2001). A redução da atividade da via da mTOR,como exemplo em modelos animais de AVCi, está associada a indução de apoptose e piores desfechos. Além disso, a inibição dessa via tem capacidade de extinguir o efeito neuroprotetor de diversos fármacos (Wu, Reiter et al. 2004, Chong, Li et al. 2007, Gao, Zhang et al. 2010, Chong, Hou et al. 2011). Isso sugere que modular essa via é fundamental para o controle da morte celular, a fim de promover a evolução favorável da zona de penumbra (Zhang and Chopp 2009, Chong, Yao et al. 2013, Taliyan and Ramagiri 2016).

Além disso, as cascatas das caspases e da Akt/PI3k não estão envolvidas somente na sinalização de apoptose, mas também em diversos outros parâmetros afetados pelo dano isquêmico, como a disfunção da BHE e o aumento das citocinas pró-inflamatórias (Zhao, Sapolsky et al. 2006, Jin, Song et al. 2011, Lopez-Ramirez, Fischer et al. 2012, Sifat, Vaidya et al. 2017, Qian, Dou et al. 2018).

1.3.4. Dano à BHE

O endotélio dos vasos cerebrais compõe a interface no sistema conhecido como "Barreira Hematoencefálica" (Liebner, Dijkhuizen et al. 2018).Essa barreira apresenta estruturas conhecidas como "tight junctions", compostas principalmente por famílias de proteínas como claudinas e ocludinas, as quais têm a função de reduzir a distância intercelular e de permitir uma passagem transendotelial extremamente seletiva (Liebner, Dijkhuizen et al. 2018).

Portanto, a BHE é um sistema com interações entre endotélio, astrócitos, neurônios, pericitos e micróglia, sendo fundamental para a manutenção do equilíbrio iônico e a atividade elétrica (Sifat, Vaidya et al. 2017, Liebner, Dijkhuizen et al. 2018).

Em vista disso, em um processo de isquemia cerebral, ocorrem mudanças importantes nesse sistema que vão desde disfunção precoce dos

astrócitos, reorganização das *tight junctions*, expressão aumentada de metaloproteinases, fatores, portanto, que culminam no aumento da permeabilidade da BHE (Yang and Rosenberg 2011).

A disfunção da BHE costuma ser bifásica em quadros de AVCi (Kuroiwa, Ting et al. 1985): inicial, sendo detectada de duas a seis horas do início do quadro isquêmico; tardio, de 48 a 72 horas depois do início do quadro isquêmico. Acredita-se que esse padrão ocorra por meio de distintos mecanismos que são influenciados por diferentes cascatas (Yang and Rosenberg 2011).

A primeira fase ocorre como consequência direta da isquemia com aumento do HIF-1α que promoverá a ativação da MMP-2, causando o aumento da permeabilidade da BHE (Yang and Rosenberg 2011).

A fase tardia decorre dos efeitos do processo inflamatório intensificado pela cascata isquêmica, já que este determina o aumento de fatores como citocinas e proteínas de adesão; como consequência, também há a indução da ativação da MMP-9, uma das principais responsáveis pelo dano "permanente" à BHE (Brouns and De Deyn 2009).

O dano à BHE se torna importante na medida em que ele está relacionado a processos como hipertensão intracraniana, resultante de edema vasogênico e transformação hemorrágica do AVCi. Ambos os quadros são de extrema gravidade, já que estão ligados à morte encefálica e ao coma (Feigin, Krishnamurthi et al. 2015, Truelsen, Krarup et al. 2015). Por conseguinte, terapêuticas que previnem o dano à BHE têm especial relevância para proteger os pacientes de desfechos desfavoráveis.

Autores sugerem, por exemplo, que a disfunção da BHE pode ser não somente um preditor de hemorragia intracraniana após administração de alteplase (Turner and Sharp 2016), mas também um mediador/moderador desse processo. Essa hipótese é reforçada pelo fato de que estudos de coorte apontaram eficácia moderada de fármacos moduladores do dano à BHE, já que aqueles apresentaram associações estatisticamente significativas na redução da chance de mortalidade intrahospitalar, no aumento da chance de alta com independência e na redução de eventos adversos em pacientes submetidos ao tratamento com alteplase (Jin, Cai et al. 2017, Sifat, Vaidya et al. 2017, Enomoto, Endo et al. 2019). Mesmo assim, esses achados necessitam de confirmação em ensaios clínicos randomizados (ECR).

Além de potencial alvo terapêutico, o aumento de permeabilidade da BHE pode ser usado para definição de conduta. Um dos principais exemplos disso é o ECR que propôs o critério de RM para determinar a possibilidade do tratamento com alteplase, em pacientes com janela terapêutica indeterminada (Thomalla, Simonsen et al. 2018, Zhao, Zhao et al. 2019).

A base fisiológica desse estudo se encontra no fato de que alterações como hiperintensidade na sequência FLAIR, em conjunto aumento de sinal em difusão (DWI, difusion weighted imaging) e redução do sinal no mapa de coeficientes aparentes de difusão (ADC), indicam um AVCi com presença de edema no tecido cerebral, o que representa restrição de difusão à água, comumente encontrada em situações de aumento da permeabilidade de BHE (Hjort, Wu et al. 2008, Weier, Fluri et al. 2009).O paciente, portanto, apresenta uma janela terapêutica inviável para o tratamento com alteplase.

1.3.5. Reatividade Astrocitária

Os astrócitos são responsáveis pela regulação de diversos processos no SNC, estando, por isso, envolvidos em diversas etapas do dano isquêmico (Nedergaard and Dirnagl 2005). Não obstante, os impactos da atividade astrocitária sobre o dano isquêmico ainda não foram completamente esclarecidos, bem como sua influência no prognóstico dos pacientes (Nedergaard and Dirnagl 2005).

Por conseguinte, abordar a função astrocitária em modelos de AVCi pode resultar no desenvolvimento de novas terapias e de novos marcadores prognósticos, uma vez que, minutos após o início do quadro isquêmico, os astrócitos sofrem alterações morfológicas e funcionais relacionadas a proliferação e hipertrofia, fenômeno conhecido como reatividade astrocitária (Liu and Chopp 2016). Ainda assim, os efeitos dessa resposta não são totalmente conhecidos. Alguns trabalhos testaram marcadores astrocitários como proteína ácida fibrilar glial (GFAP) e proteína B de liberação ao cálcio (s100ß) (Aurell, Rosengren et al. 1991, Herrmann, Vos et al. 2000)para avaliação de desfechos em longo prazo, apresentando correlações entre concentrações séricas da proteína ácida fibrilar glial e desfechos negativos, para um pequeno número de pacientes (Wunderlich, Wallesch et al. 2006).

Além disso, a avaliação de parâmetros astrocitários em modelos de isquemia cerebral se torna relevante, ao passo que fenômenos fundamentais para a evolução do quadro são modulados por células gliais. Entre esses fenômenos, encontram-se produção de fatores inflamatórios, mediação da tolerância isquêmica, recaptação de glutamato, homeostase iônica e, consequentemente, progressão da morte celular na zona de penumbra (Giffard and Swanson 2005, Choudhury and Ding 2016).

Esse efeito, conhecido como "cicatriz glial", é caracterizado pela proliferação aumentada e alterações morfológicas e funcionais dos astrócitos circundantes à zona isquêmica, que formam uma contenção física do dano (Silver and Miller 2004, Nedergaard and Dirnagl 2005). Tal efeito é reportado tanto em modelos animais de isquemia quanto em pacientes pós AVCi (Silver and Miller 2004, Nedergaard and Dirnagl 2005). A partir disso, estudos referem que o isolamento da lesão é uma maneira de proteger o tecido nervoso não afetado, ainda que, como conseguência, restrinja a resposta regenerativa em estágios mais tardios e possa criar uma potencial zona epileptogênica (Wetherington, Serrano et al. 2008, Pekny, Wilhelmsson et al. 2014). Ainda assim, animais nocaute para a GFAP, submetidos a lesões isquêmicas, apresentam maiores infartos se comparados a animais wild-type (Li, Lundkvist et al. 2008, Barreto, White et al. 2011), o que sugere a importância da reatividade astrocitária e da cicatriz glial no controle da excitotoxicidade glutamatérgica e das espécies reativas de oxigênio (Pekny, Wilhelmsson et al. 2014).

Além disso, os efeitos da reatividade astrocitária não se restringem somente à zona peri-isquêmica, porquanto estudos em modelos animais de isquemia cerebral focal apontam para zonas de proliferação astroglial, tanto no hemisfério contralateral à lesão isquêmica, quanto em regiões distantes dela (Giffard and Swanson 2005, Nedergaard and Dirnagl 2005, Pekny, Wilhelmsson et al. 2014, Takatsuru, Nabekura et al. 2014, Liu and Chopp 2016). No entanto, os efeitos decorrentes desse processo não foram totalmente elucidados (Patience, Zouikr et al. 2015), ainda que possam ser observadas associações entre reatividade astrocitária contralateral e BHE, e parâmetros eletrofisiológicos (Garbuzova-Davis, Rodrigues et al. 2013, Takatsuru, Nakamura et al. 2013, Garbuzova-Davis, Haller et al. 2014, Takatsuru, Nabekura et al. 2014)

Assim sendo, prevenir os efeitos da isquemia sobre os parâmetros astrocitários, ainda que em regiões distantes da lesão isquêmica, pode ter repercussões em diversas outras etapas da cascata isquêmica (Alvarez, Katayama et al. 2013, Pekny, Wilhelmsson et al. 2014), o que representa um significativo impacto na recuperação da funcionalidade em modelos animais e em pacientes pós AVCi (Takatsuru, Nabekura et al. 2014).

1.3.6. Abordagens terapêuticas e prognósticas com base na fisiopatologia do AVCi

1.3.6.1. Tratamento

O tratamento para AVCi surgiu somente na década de 90, quando ensaios clínicos randomizados (ECR) validaram o alteplase ou rt-PA como uma alternativa para recanalização do vaso acometido (Albers, Bates et al. 2000, Donnan, Fisher et al. 2008).

O mecanismo desse fármaco se baseia na cascata de coagulação por ser um ativador do plasminogênio que o converte em sua forma ativa, a plasmina, responsável pela degradação da fibrina, principal componente do coágulo. O rt-PA também é responsável por ativar uma cascata de reações que envolvem proteólise, adesão leucocitária e o consumo da lâmina basal, que pode apresentar diversas consequências. Disso decorre seu principal efeito adverso: o risco significativamente aumentado de hemorragia intracraniana, um quadro de péssimo prognóstico (Mazya, Egido et al. 2012).

Esse fármaco, no entanto, só pode ser oferecido a uma restrita porção dos pacientes afetados, visto seus critérios restritivos (comorbidades associadas, uso prévio de anticoagulantes e área cerebral acometida), além de sua janela terapêutica de 4,5h após o início do quadro isquêmico. Em vista disso, diversos estudos tentaram apontar quais pacientes se beneficiariam de tratamentos alternativos ou de uma expansão de janela. Recentemente, trabalhos apresentaram um software com boa acurácia para distinguir esse perfil de paciente. O propósito desse software é estimar uma relação entre zona necrótica e salvável – conhecida como "mismatch" - por meio da análise de perfusão em neuroimagem (Mokin, Levy et al. 2017).

Assim, utilizando-se o "mismatch", foram realizados ECRs na tentativa de expandir a janela terapêutica do alteplase (Ma, Campbell et al. 2019, Powers, Rabinstein et al. 2019). Mesmo apresentando benefícios, esses estudos apontam necessidade de dados adicionais.

Como alternativa, a trombectomia mecânica se apresentou como um tratamento para além de 6h após a primeira manifestação do AVCi, com uma melhora importante de morbidade em pacientes tratados até 24h após a primeira manifestação dos sintomas (Albers, Marks et al. 2018, Damji and Lang 2018, Tsurukiri, Ota et al. 2019). No entanto, para obtenção de benefício, os pacientes também precisam ser selecionados pelo critério de perfusão (Mokin,

Levy et al. 2017, Vinny, Vishnu et al. 2018). Essa abordagem, entretanto, requer diversas condições para ser implantada, como equipamentos de ponta e equipe altamente especializada, ambos, em conjunto com o software de neuroimagem, indisponíveis na maioria dos centros de saúde do Brasil (Brinjikji, Rabinstein et al. 2014). Mesmo assim, essa terapêutica se mostrou viável e extremamente eficaz no Sistema Único de Saúde, em um ensaio recente (Martins, Mont'Alverne et al. 2020).

Como resultante desse panorama, a maioria dos pacientes diagnosticados com AVCi ainda não são efetivamente tratados no Brasil (de Carvalho, Alves et al. 2011), o que faz, geralmente,o quadro evoluir de maneira desfavorável e representa custos elevados para a sociedade (Christensen, Valiente et al. 2009, de Carvalho, Alves et al. 2011, Gorelick 2019)

Tendo em vista isso, na busca por novas terapias, a fisiopatologia dos AVCi foi detalhadamente estudada, e a "cascata isquêmica" determinada (Durukan and Tatlisumak 2007, Brouns and De Deyn 2009).

1.3.6.2. Prognóstico pelo EEG

Ainda que, no contexto de doenças cerebrovasculares, o EEG seja mais comumente utilizado para o diagnóstico de epilepsia pós-AVC (Myint, Staufenberg et al. 2006, Rabiller, He et al. 2015), mostra-se sensível para detectar mudanças na atividade elétrica decorrente de alterações sutis no fluxo sanguíneo cerebral de maneira rápida e eficiente (Laman, Wieneke et al. 2005, Foreman and Claassen 2012). Muitas vezes ele pode detectar anormalidades antes mesmo da neuroimagem (Laman, Wieneke et al. 2005). O EEG quantitativo (qEEG), inclusive, pode detectar mudanças ainda mais sutis (Laman, Wieneke et al. 2005) no ritmo cerebral as quais apresentam correlações com estados patológicos. Por conseguinte, ele tem sido proposto para AVCi, tanto em modelos animais quanto em pacientes, como uma forma de predizer o prognóstico (Finnigan, Rose et al. 2004, Finnigan, Rose et al. 2006, Sheorajpanday, Nagels et al. 2009, Sheorajpanday, Nagels et al. 2011).

Isso se baseia na origem do sinal do EEG, proveniente da condução de volume decorrente do fluxo iônico gerado pelas sinapses no córtex cerebral, o que originará os diferentes ritmos cerebrais, que podem ser registrados por eletrodos de superfície. Cabe ressaltar que a classificação desses ritmos realiza-se por meio das faixas de frequências correspondentes às oscilações propostas por neurofisiologistas como Berger (Buzsaki and Draguhn 2004, Buzsaki 2006), sendo classicamente analisadas as seguintes: delta (1-4 Hz), teta (4-8 Hz), alfa (8-12 Hz), beta (13-30 Hz) e gama (30-120 Hz). Tendo em vista isso, a origem de algumas oscilações pode ser correlacionada a processos rítmicos, como exemplo as oscilações delta e teta com o sono de ondas lentas (originado predominantemente por neurônios localizados no tálamo), que precede a fase REM, alfa a inibição de estímulos visuais no córtex occipital (presente quando os olhos estão fechados), beta à vigília ativa e gama a estímulos cognitivos (predominantemente originado por interneurônios inibitórios) (Buzsaki and Wang 2012).

Diversas análises podem ser realizadas por meio do qEEG, entre elas quantificação da potência espectral (PSD) de cada uma das oscilações, simetria inter-hemisférica, razões entre os ritmos rápidos e lentos, coerência de uma frequencia entre diferentes locais e acoplamento entre diferentes

28

frequências na mesma região (Canolty, Edwards et al. 2006, Kahana 2006, van Vugt, Sederberg et al. 2007, Axmacher, Henseler et al. 2010, Sheorajpanday, Nagels et al. 2010).

Para realizar essas análises, é necessário decompor o sinal complexo do EEG por meio da Transformada de Fourier, uma série temporal com domínio em frequência. O ponto fundamental dessa análise decorre que o sinal natural complexo é resultante de funções periódicas (senos, cossenos) conhecidas, com diferentes fases e amplitudes. Essas funções são comparadas em relação à sua similaridade com o sinal registrado a fim de quantificar o componente da faixa de freqüência especificada. A partir disso, descreve-se o sinal do EEG – localizado no domínio de tempo - por uma função no domínio de freqüência, i.e., pode-se representar esse sinal em um gráfico com abcissa correspondente às frequências e a ordenada correspondente à amplitude ou densidade de potência espectral (PSD).



Fig 1.3. Figura representativa da decomposição do EEG pela Transformada de Fourier. Adaptado de:

https://www.nti-audio.com/pt/suporte/saber-como/transformacao-rapida-de-fourier-fft

Ainda que haja diferenças na literatura em relação às bases biológicas da variação da PSD de cada oscilação (Buzsaki 2006, Canolty and Knight 2010, Schomer and Lopes da Silva 2017), podem ser estabelecidas algumas correlações, entre elas, alterações como o predomínio de ondas lentas no EEG, a redução na potência relativa das oscilações "rápidas" (como beta e gama) e/ou o aumento na PSD das oscilações "lentas" (como Delta e Teta). Tais alterações são encontradas à medida que o fluxo sanguíneo cerebral reduz (Nuwer, Jordan et al. 1987, Laman, Wieneke et al. 2005, Sheorajpanday, Nagels et al. 2011).

Posteriormente, se a hipoperfusão for mantida, a amplitude das oscilações registradas no EEG também reduz, observando-se, então, a atenuação do poder de todas as oscilações (Nuwer, Jordan et al. 1987, Laman, Wieneke et al. 2005). Outras alterações relevantes também podem ser achadas à medida que se distancia o registro do núcleo isquêmico, como redução na PSD de Beta, um dia após o início do evento isquêmico (Foreman and Claassen 2012), cuja magnitude é proporcional ao tamanho e à proximidade da área infartada. É possível também se observar que oscilações Gama (lenta, média e rápida), de mais alta frequência e relacionadas classicamente a processos cognitivos, têm sua PSD rapidamente alterada devido aos eventos decorrentes da isquemia cerebral (Rabiller, He et al. 2015).

Além dessas, outras etapas da cascata isquêmica, como a hiperestimulação glutamatérgica, podem ser associadas às anormalidades na PSD de Teta, na zona de penumbra (Gallinat, Kunz et al. 2006, Torres, da Silva Filho et al. 2010, Vazana, Veksler et al. 2016).

Modelos experimentais/animais de AVCi focais apresentam, de mesmo modo, resultados relevantes quando se comparam os dois hemisférios, já que alterações funcionais ocorrem não somente no hemisfério ipsilateral à isquemia, mas também no hemisfério contralateral (Takatsuru, Nakamura et al. 2013, Takatsuru, Nabekura et al. 2014). Em vista disso, o hemisfério contralateral também apresenta alterações eletroencefalográficas, ainda que reportadas com divergências na literatura, mostrando diferentes padrões na zona peri-infarto ipsi e contralateral, os quais se justificam principalmente pela heterogeneidade de abordagens e de faixas de tempo estudadas.

No entanto, mesmo em pacientes, acredita-se que algumas alterações na quantificação das oscilações corticais no hemisfério contralateral estão relacionadas a quadros de maior gravidade (Gloor, Ball et al. 1977, Finnigan, Walsh et al. 2007). Nesse contexto, publicações avaliando medidas, como: simetria inter-hemisférica,a razão entre alfa e delta, a razão delta-teta e alfabeta, em pacientes pós AVCi, apresentam valores preditivos moderados para predizer o desfecho em diferentes tipos de AVCi. Esse quadro sugere o uso do qEEG como potencial marcador (Finnigan, Rose et al. 2004, Finnigan, Rose et al. 2006, Finnigan, Walsh et al. 2007), que está sendo gradualmente mais utilizado principalmente na avaliação de pacientes em unidades de tratamento intensivo (Jordan 2004, Hajat, Ahmad et al. 2017).

2. Guanosina e Seu Potencial Neuroprotetor

Diante de todo esse contexto, apresenta-se a Guo, uma purina com base na Guanina, apresenta efeitos extracelulares correspondentes a funções neurotróficas e neuroprotetoras (Rathbone, Pilutti et al. 2008, Tasca, Lanznaster et al. 2018). Diante disso, testou-se sua eficácia, nos modelos animais, para diversas patologias, como doenças psiquiátricas (Bettio, Cunha et al. 2012, Almeida, Comasseto et al. 2017), crises epilépticas (Schmidt, Tort et al. 2008) e encefalopatia hepática (Paniz, Calcagnotto et al. 2014, Cittolin-Santos, de Assis et al. 2017), sepse (Bellaver, Souza et al. 2015), doença de Parkinson (Li, Yao et al. 2014), trauma crânio encefálico (Dobrachinski, Gerbatin et al. 2019), doença de Alzheimer (da Silva, Nonose et al. 2020) e dor neuropática (Schmidt, Paniz et al. 2010). Nesses testes, os resultados se mostraram relevantes em diversos desfechos, como nos parâmetros comportamentais, na redução de crises epilépticas e até mesmo na mortalidade (Lara, Schmidt et al. 2001, Schmidt, Tort et al. 2008, Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Cittolin-Santos, de Assis et al. 2017, Massari, Lopez-Cano et al. 2017).

2.1. Repercussões da Guanosina na Atividade Elétrica Cerebral

A avaliação eletrofisiológica dos efeitos da Guo foi realizada predominantemente em modelos de crises epilépticas induzidas por agonistas glutamatérgicos (Schmidt, Tort et al. 2009, Torres, da Silva Filho et al. 2010). Nesses modelos, a administração de Guo mostrou-se capaz de prevenir a redução da PSD, induzida pelas crises epilépticas decorrentes do tratamento com ácido quinolínico (Torres, da Silva Filho et al. 2010).

Até então, na literatura, haviam sido registradas poucas alterações eletroencefalográficas nos animais controle tratados com Guo (Tort, Mantese et al. 2004, Torres, da Silva Filho et al. 2010).

Foram encontrados, também, efeitos neuroprotetores da Guo em modelos animais de encefalopatia hepática, nos quais comumente se observam alterações eletroencefalográficas, principalmente a predominância de oscilações de baixa frequência e de baixa amplitude registradas no EEG, fortemente correlacionadas, nesses modelos, a estados comatosos e a morte (Paniz, Calcagnotto et al. 2014, Cittolin-Santos, de Assis et al. 2017). Nestes, o tratamento com Guo preveniu alterações eletroencefalográficas, como redução da frequência generalizada das oscilações corticais e presença de ondas trifásicas (Cittolin-Santos, de Assis et al. 2017), o que pode justificar a menor mortalidade e menor duração do com a dos animais tratados com Guo (Cittolin-Santos, de Assis et al. 2017). No entanto, os parâmetros do EEG não foram diretamente correlacionados aos parâmetros comportamentais.

Diante disso, a quantificação do EEG aparece como um parâmetro válido para avaliação de modelos animais referentes às patologias do SNC, e, ainda, apresenta-se como válido para avaliar o efeito neuroprotetor da Guo nessas patologias.

2.2. Guanosina e Isquemia Cerebral

Além dos efeitos supracitados, esse nucleosídeo dá evidências de resultados relevantes também em modelos animais de hipoperfusão (Ganzella, de Oliveira et al. 2012), isquemia focal transitória e permanente (Rathbone, Saleh et al. 2011, Connell, Di Iorio et al. 2013, Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015). Assim sendo, dentre os efeitos observados, destacaram-se a prevenção dos déficits motores comportamentais referentes ao dano isquêmico, bem como a redução do volume de infarto. Nos modelos de OGD, classicamente utilizados para reproduzir *in vitro* alterações decorrentes da isquemia (Tornabene, Helms et al. 2019), observa-se a proteção da Guo em fatias hipocampais por meio de parâmetros de mortalidade celular, como marcadores de disfunção mitocondrial e de

rompimento da membrana celular (Thomazi, Godinho et al. 2004, Thomazi, Boff et al. 2008, Dal-Cim, Martins et al. 2016, Thomaz, Dal-Cim et al. 2016).

No modelo de isquemia focal transitória induzida pela oclusão da ACM, a administração combinada de Guo, em regime de pré e pós indução, mostrou-se capaz de reduzir o déficit neurológico induzido pela isquemia, embora não apresentasse a capacidade de afetar o dano ao retículo endoplasmático (Connell, Di lorio et al. 2013).

Observou-se que, no modelo de isquemia focal permanente induzido por termocoagulação, a administração sistêmica/intraperitoneal de Guo também se mostrou capaz de prevenir o dano induzido pela isquemia, como: aumento de células neuronais e astrocitárias marcadas positivamente para PI (comumente usado para medir morte celular), aumento na proporção de células positivas para micróglia ativada(Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015).

Todos esses efeitos, porém, se mostram eficazes a partir de uma importante restrição: somente quando a Guo é administrada imediatamente após a indução de isquemia (Rathbone, Saleh et al. 2011, Connell, Di Iorio et al. 2013, Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015).

2.3. Guanosina e seus Aspectos Mecanísticos em Modelos de Isquemia

Diversos trabalhos postulam efeitos do tratamento com Guo em etapas do dano isquêmico, como produção de ROS, cascata inflamatória, apoptose e, principalmente, na excitoxicidade glutamatérgica, quando analisados em modelos *in vivo* (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015).
Ainda assim, majoritariamente esses trabalhos descrevem os efeitos da Guo de maneira associativa, postulando alterações provocadas pela isquemia e prevenidas pela administração de Guo (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014). Em vista disso, Hansel e colaboradores mostraram os efeitos da Guo na expressão de transportadores glutamatérgicos, especialmente na prevenção da redução de GLT-1, principal transportador de glutamato astrocitário, o que reforça, em parte, os efeitos da Guo na excitotoxicidade (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014). Além disso, também sugeriram que efeitos neuroprotetores fossem moderados pela redução na formação de ROS, já que a Guo também preveniu os efeitos da isquemia em parâmetros, como a expressão e atividade da enzima SOD, catalase e ácido ascórbico/vitamina C. Esse estudo também mostrou correlações significativas entre o escore de simetria e os níveis de ROS, TBARS e ácido ascórbico/vitamina C (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014)

Da mesma forma, o efeito da Guo no estresse oxidativo também foi testado no modelo de OGD (Thomaz, Dal-Cim et al. 2016). Nesse estudo, a OGD aumentou os níveis de marcadores relacionados ao estresse oxidativo e nitrosativo, bem como elevou a quantidade de células com potencial de membrana disfuncional e em vias de apoptose. Uma vez que a Guo se mostrou capaz de prevenir esses efeitos nesse modelo e apresentou também efeitos antioxidantes em isquemia *in vivo*, havia a possibilidade de que, tal qual seu metabólito ácido úrico (Becker, Reinholz et al. 1991), agisse como "*scavenger*". Nesse mesmo trabalho, no entanto, a Guo não apresentou atividade antioxidante *per se*, sendo esta uma evidência contrária à hipótese de que o mecanismo de neuroproteção da Guo se desse por sua interação direta com as ROS (Thomaz, Dal-Cim et al. 2016).

Assim, em busca de um denominador comum para justificar os diversos efeitos da Guo no dano isquêmico, investigaram-se as vias de sinalização ligadas à sobrevivência celular. Foi, então, demonstrado que inibidores das vias PI3k e Mapa podem bloquear os efeitos neuroprotetores da Guo (Dal-Cim, Martins et al. 2011, Bettio, Cunha et al. 2012, Lanznaster, Dal-Cim et al. 2016). O efeito de modulação da Guo nessas vias, no entanto, aparentou ser mediado/moderado por receptores de adenosina e canais de potássio (Dal-Cim, Martins et al. 2011, Lanznaster, Massari et al. 2019).

Esses resultados ganham relevância, pois a sinalização dessas vias pode explicar grande parte dos efeitos da Guo, como redução do apoptose, disfunção mitocondrial e até mesmo aumento na recaptação do glutamato (Frizzo, Lara et al. 2002, Molz, Dal-Cim et al. 2011, Chojnowski, Opielka et al. 2021).

2.4. Guanosina Administrada Via Intranasal como Alternativa Terapêutica

Estudos anteriores apontavam que a via intranasal se mostrava como válida para diversas substâncias endógenas que têm efeito sobre o SNC (Chavanpatil and Vavia 2004, Ma, Ma et al. 2008, Wang, Cheng et al. 2008, Fletcher, Kohli et al. 2009). Isso se deve pelo fato de essas substâncias atingirem maior concentração comparativamente às vias sistêmicas em seu alvo terapêutico. As justificativas para isso são: menor metabolização periférica (Lochhead and Thorne 2012, Djupesland, Messina et al. 2014) e utilização de transportadores nas vias olfatórias localizadas na placa cribriforme onde há descontinuidade de BHE (Rhim, Lee et al. 2013, Djupesland, Messina et al. 2014).

Foi realizado, então, um estudo (Ramos, Muller et al. 2016) para verificar o perfil farmacocinético da administração intranasal de Guo (In-Guo). Sua radioatividade foi detectada cinco minutos após a administração, com uma importante modificação do conteúdo de purinas no líquido cerebrospinal e no soro, não observada no grupo que recebeu a administração intraperitoneal.

Nesse mesmo trabalho, o estudo da determinação de volume e dose efetivas indicou, pela análise de conteúdo radioativo, o volume ótimo de 50 µL por narina e a concentração ótima de 30 mg/ml (Ramos, Muller et al. 2016). Cabe ressaltar que uma estimativa aproximada de concentração medida em miligramas de Guo por peso de animal é uma dose efetiva de 8,5 mg/kg, muito inferior à concentração utilizada por Hansel e colaboradores (60 mg/kg) (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014), que obteve melhora em escore de simetria somente em regimes de pré tratamento e quando a Guo foi administrada imediatamente após a indução do dano isquêmico. Esse estudo (Ramos, Muller et al. 2016) também mostrou resultados promissores dessa molécula já com a primeira dose administrada 3h após a indução de isquemia em um modelo de isquemia focal permanente, o que preveniu déficit motor e dano mitocondrial induzido pela isquemia a curto prazo (Ramos, Muller et al. 2016).

Com isso, impôs-se a necessidade de validar a eficácia do tratamento In-Guo em um modelo de isquemia cerebral.

3. Hipóteses

O presente trabalho baseia-se na hipótese de que o modelo de isquemia por termocoagulação unilateral implica alterações no hemisfério contralateral, como alterações eletrofisiológicas, astrocitárias, vias de sinalização e disfunção da BHE, as quais podem ser prevenidas pela Guo,quando administrada por via intranasal.

4. Objetivos

4.1. Objetivos Gerais

Investigar a eficácia do tratamento intranasal de GUO para avaliar, em curto e longo prazo, o seu efeito na recuperação dos animais submetidos ao modelo de isquemia cerebral por termocoagulação.

Determinar os efeitos da Guo em parâmetros das oscilações corticais, comportamentais, histológicos e citológicos diante do insulto isquêmico.

Avaliar o dano do modelo de termocoagulação e o potencial de prevenção ao dano isquêmico pelo tratamento com In-Guo na disfunção da BHE.

4.2. Objetivos Específicos

1. Confirmar o efeito neuroprotetor da Guo no modelo de isquemia cerebral por termocoagulação.

2. Determinar a janela terapêutica dessa molécula quando administrada via intranasal, para aumentar seu valor translacional.

3. Avaliar alvos terapêuticos envolvidos na neuroproteção desse potencial fármaco, em modelos animais de AVCi/Isquemia cerebral.

38

PARTE II - METODOLOGIAS E RESULTADOS

O presente trabalho está dividido em dois capítulos.

O capítulo I traz o artigo "Effects of Intranasal Guanosine Administration on Brain Function in a Rat Model of Ischemic Stroke", publicado na revista científica Purinergic Signalling. Relaciona-se ao objetivo específico dois e três.

O capítulo II relaciona-se a dados suplementares aos do capítulo I, os quais, embora não enviados para submissão, foram coletados com as mesmas metodologias e que justificam os parâmetros escolhidos para constarem no artigo. Relaciona-se ao objetivo específico um e dois, e ao objetivo geral de determinar a janela terapêutica da In-Guo.

Capítulo I

Effects of Intranasal Guanosine Administration on Brain Function in a Rat Model

of Ischemic Stroke

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Effects of intranasal guanosine administration on brain function in a rat model of ischemic stroke

Gabriel C. Müller¹ • Samanta O. Loureiro¹ • Letícia F. Pettenuzzo¹ • Roberto F. Almeida² • Evandro Y. Ynumaru¹ • Pedro A. Guazzelli¹ • Fabíola S. Meyer¹ • Mayara V. Pasquetti^{1,3} • Marcelo Ganzella⁴ • Maria Elisa Calcagnotto^{1,3,5} • Diogo O. Souza^{1,5}

Received: 7 September 2020 / Accepted: 21 January 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Nature B.V. 2021

Abstract

Ischemic stroke is a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide and only few affected patients are able to receive treatment, especially in developing countries. Detailed pathophysiology of brain ischemia has been extensively studied in order to discover new treatments with a broad therapeutic window and that are accessible to patients worldwide. The nucleoside guanosine (Guo) has been shown to have neuroprotective effects in animal models of brain diseases, including ischemic stroke. In a rat model of focal permanent ischemia, systemic administration of Guo was effective only when administered immediately after stroke induction. In contrast, intranasal administration of Guo (In-Guo) was effective even when the first administration was 3 h after stroke induction. In order to validate the neuroprotective effect in this larger time window and to investigate In-Guo neuroprotection under global brain dysfunction induced by ischemia, we used the model of thermocoagulation of pial vessels in Wistar rats. In our study, we have found that In-Guo administered 3 h after stroke was capable of preventing ischemia-induced dysfunction, such as bilateral suppression and synchronicity of brain oscillations and ipsilateral cell death signaling, and increased permeability of the blood-brain barrier. In addition, In-Guo had a long-lasting effect on preventing ischemia-induced motor impairment. Our data reinforce In-Guo administration as a potential new treatment for brain ischemia with a more suitable therapeutic window.

Keywords Stroke \cdot Guanosine Intranasal administration \cdot Neuroprotection \cdot Quantitative electroencephalogram \cdot Blood-brain barrier \cdot Cell signaling

Muller, G.C is a MD and Phd student in Biochemistry. His main work is focused on neuroprotective effects of nucleoside Guanosine in stroke models.



Maria Elisa Calcagnotto elisa.calcagnotto@ufrgs.br

Diogo O. Souza diogo@ufrgs.br; diogo.bioq@gmail.com

Extended author information available on the last page of the article

Introduction

Cerebrovascular diseases are a major cause of death and morbidity worldwide, and ischemic brain stroke is the most prevalent among them [1-3]. So far, there are two therapies available for ischemic stroke: the recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rtPA) and the more recently approved endovascular reperfusion [4-8]. The rtPA is the standard therapy and it

Group	Methodology					
	Behavior short term*	Behavior long term	EGG	Evans blue	Albumin in CSF	Flow cytometry
Sham ^{\$}	47	11	6	11	12	7
Sham Guo	42	8	7	12	10	5
IS ^{\$}	54	12	11	11	12	8
IG	45	11	6	12	9	7
Total	188	42	30	46	43	27

Table 1 Sample size of cohorts. Sample sizes described by its respective group and methodology

*Sum of all other cohorts

^{\$} Higher number of animals used for methodology standardization

works by dissolving the arterial clot through plasminogen activation [4]. Its use is restricted, however, due to the increased risk of intracerebral hemorrhaging and a narrow therapeutic window [4–6]. Alternatively, endovascular therapy with mechanical thrombectomy has had outstanding results reported in recent trials and within expanded therapeutic window [7, 8]. However, the criteria for using this therapeutic approach are based on imaging and require a highly skilled multiprofessional team and infrastructure, which are lacking in most health centers in developing countries [7, 9, 10]. Therefore, the search for effective and broadly accessible treatments for ischemic stroke is a priority [3].

The physiopathology of ischemic stroke has been extensively studied in order to find new therapeutic approaches. Hence, it is known that an ischemic insult starts with an arterial thromboembolic occlusion, leading to bioenergetic failure, which ultimately triggers a signaling phenomenon known as ischemic cascade [11–13]. The ischemic cascade involves unbalanced ionic homeostasis, inflammatory cascade, enhanced cell death, glutamatergic excitotoxicity, astrocyte reactivity, and blood-brain barrier (BBB) damage [11], among other events. This series of events results in the progression of

ischemic damage from the necrotic region, or "core," to the "penumbra zone," which surrounds the core and presents collateral perfusion [12]. The penumbra is the potentially salvageable tissue [12] and is the usual target for traditional and innovative therapeutic strategies [12, 14].

In the clinical scenario, electroencephalogram (EEG) is a very sensitive method that may be used to monitor progression of cerebral injuries induced by ischemic insult [15, 16]. The topographical distribution of brain rhythms is extensively disrupted in ischemia [17–19]. A pathological pattern starts with decreased voltage of faster frequencies and, under intense hypoperfusion, progressively evolves into suppression of all frequencies in EEG [17, 20, 21]. As brain oscillations change with cerebral blood flow (CBF) variations, the EEG can promptly detect signs of cerebral cortex reperfusion during stroke therapy [18, 22–24].

Guanosine (Guo) prevents ischemic damage when administered immediately after permanent ischemia induction [25, 26]. Interestingly, intranasal administration of Guo (In-Guo) improves the neuroprotective potential of Guo in an ischemia model by expanding its therapeutic window [27]. In-Guo treatment was effective in preventing behavioral deficit and





Fig. 1 Forelimb symmetry score measured by cylinder test. **a** Symmetry score 48 h after focal ischemia induction, aggregating rats used in all further protocols of this work (42 to 54 animals per group ****p < 0.001 vs Sham and Sham Guo, ^{###}p < 0.005 vs. IS by Kruskal-Wallis,

corrected by Dunn's multiple comparisons. **b** Timeline of symmetry score measured at each time point, ****p < 0.001 vs Sham and Sham Guo, **p < 0.01 vs IS in the 42nd day after stroke induction, by two-way ANOVA (8 to 12 animals per group)



Fig. 2 Power spectral density (PSD) at electrode located on contralateral cortex unrelated to the ischemic lesion (E1). Representative PSD (μ V/Hz) for each group: **a** 0 to 30 Hz and **b** 30 to 100 Hz. Plots of PSD of **c** delta, **d** theta, **e** beta, **f** slow gamma, and **g** middle gamma. **h** Electrode position:

black square, ischemic area; electrode 1 - a contralateral region unrelated to the ischemic lesion. No statistically significant differences were detected in all analyses of all groups by one-way ANOVA (6 to 11 animals per group)



◄ Fig. 3 Power spectral density (PSD) at electrode located on ipsilateral peri-infarct cortex (E2). Representative PSD (μ V/Hz) for each group: **a** 0 to 30 Hz and **b** 30 to 100 Hz. Plots of PSD of **c** delta, **d** theta, **e** beta, **f** slow gamma, and **g** middle gamma. **h** Electrode position: black square, ischemic area; electrode 2, ipsilateral peri-infarct cortex. All comparisons **p* < 0.05 and ***p* < 0.01 vs Sham, [&]*p* < 0.05 vs Sham and Sham Guo, [#]*p* < 0.05 and ^{##}*p* < 0.01 vs IS by one-way ANOVA, corrected by Tukey multiple comparisons or by Kruskal-Wallis, corrected by Dunn's multiple comparisons (6 to 11 animals per group)</p>

brain damage when administrated up to 3 h after stroke [27] involving (i) modulation of astrocyte functions, by modulating the glutamatergic system (decreasing the glutamatergic excitotoxicity) [28–30]; (ii) modulating the adenosinergic system [31, 32]; (iii) repercussions on inflammatory cascade and on oxidative stress [26, 32]; and (iv) modulation of electrophysiological parameters [33–36]. The involvement of kinase pathways on these Guo effects has been also demonstrated [37, 38]. However, despite the evidence of all these effects by Guo, its neuroprotective mechanism is not completely clear.

Here, we introduce important evidence for the therapeutic approach of the neuroprotective potential of In-Guo in a stroke model. Firstly, we show that In-Guo presented a long-lasting protective effect, as behavioral improvement persisted up to 42 days after a stroke insult induced by thermocoagulation of the pial vessels. Moreover, we demonstrate that the neuroprotective effects of In-Guo were not restricted to the area around the core of the ischemic lesion. In fact, In-Guo treatment prevented ischemia-induced low-voltage EEG patterns in the peri-infarct area of both ipsilateral and contralateral hemispheres. The treatment also prevented the disruption of the BBB, and at the cellular level, it reduced pro-apoptotic signaling in the ipsilateral hemisphere.

Methodology

Materials/chemicals

Guanosine (Guo) and Evans blue were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). The anesthetic ketamine hydrochloride and xylazine were obtained from Syntec Brazil (Cotia, SP, Brazil). All other chemicals were of analytical grade obtained from standard suppliers.

Animals

Male adult Wistar rats (n = 188; 90–120 days, weighing 350– 450g, specified per protocol on Table 1), were obtained from the animal facility house of the Department of Biochemistry, ICBS, UFRGS, and from the University Animal Experimental and Reproduction Center (CREAL, UFRGS). Animals were kept under a 12-h light/dark cycle (light on at 7:00 am) at a temperature of 22 ± 1 °C. They were housed in plastic cages (4 or 5 per cage) with water and commercial food available ad libitum. No adverse effects were observed, and maximum care for reducing pain and distress of each animal was taken. The study design and procedures were reported according to the Animals in Research: Reporting in Vivo Experiments (ARRIVE) guidelines [39]. All protocols were in compliance with the approval of the Institutional Ethics Committee on Animal Use from our institution (CEUA-UFRGS-29028).

Induction of permanent focal ischemia

Ischemia was induced by thermocoagulation of the pial vessels at motor and sensorimotor cortices, as previously described [40, 41]. Briefly, rats were anesthetized by intraperitoneal administration of both ketamine hydrochloride (50 mg/kg) and methyl xylazine (10 mg/kg) and then placed on a stereotactic apparatus. Animals in the Sham groups were only exposed to craniotomy at the region of the frontoparietal cortex (+3 to - 6 A.P and + 2 L.L), while animals in the ischemia groups were exposed to thermocoagulation by close proximity to hot probe to the pial vessels.

Treatment with intranasal guanosine after ischemia induction

Before the procedure, the animals were randomly allocated into four groups: Sham; Sham Guo; ischemic saline (IS); and Ischemic guanosine (IG). During all performed analyses, blind experiments were conducted.

Based on a previous study [27], treatment consisted of three intranasal administrations of either Guo or saline solution at 3, 5, and 8 h after surgery. The animals were anesthetized with ketamine (25 mg/kg) and xylazine (5 mg/kg) before each administration [27]. Fifty microliters per nostril of saline solution 0.9% or Guo at 30 mg/ml diluted in saline was administered at the bottom of the nasal septae using a long edge pipette tip [27].

Forepaw symmetry evaluation (cylinder test)

As previously determined [40], the cylinder test is the most sensitive test for detecting motor impairment observed after ischemia induction in this experimental model. Cylinder test is performed by placing the animal in a glass cylinder (20 cm diameter and 30 cm high), and an experimenter counts the first 20 forepaw contacts with the cylinder walls. Each contact using either exclusively right or left forepaw, as well as both simultaneously, was recorded and further used to calculate a symmetry score by the Vasconcelos et al. method [40]. This task was performed with each animal before surgery (to exclude pre-surgery asymmetric rats), at the 48th hour and consecutively each 7 days until the 42nd day after stroke induction.



◄ Fig. 4 Power spectral density (PSD) at electrode located on contralateral peri-infarct cortex (E3). Representative PSD (µV/Hz) for each group: a 0 to 30 Hz and b 30 to 100 Hz. Plots of quantitative PSD of c delta, d theta, e beta, f slow gamma, and g middle gamma. h Electrode position: black square, ischemic area; electrode 3, contralateral peri-infarct cortex. All comparisons *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01 vs Sham, [&]p < 0.05 vs Sham and Sham Guo, ^{\$}p < 0.05 vs IG, [#]p < 0.05, and ^{##}p < 0.01 vs IS by one-way ANOVA, corrected by Tukey multiple comparisons by Kruskal-Wallis, corrected by Dunn's multiple comparisons (6 to 11 animals per group)</p>



In vivo electrophysiology

Since brain ischemia has a significant impact on brain electrical activity and quantitative analysis of the EEG (qEEG) is used to monitor and to predict long-term stroke progress [16, 22], we performed the qEEG on all groups.



Fig. 5 Correlation plots of qEEG. Abbreviations used for each oscillation PSD: DE1 delta electrode 1, TE1 theta E1, BE1 beta E1, SG E1 slow gamma E1, MG middle gamma E1, DE2 delta electrode 2, TE2 theta E2, BE2 beta E2, SGE2 slow gamma E2, MGE2 middle gamma E3, delta electrode 3, TE3 theta E3, BE3 beta E3, SGE3 slow gamma E3, MGE3 middle gamma E3. **a–d** Correlation plots per group of PSD of all analyzed oscillations at 3 areas for all groups. Horizontal and vertical labels represent each oscillation followed by respective electrode (E1, E2, and E3). Correlation coefficients are expressed by colors according to its color scale, represented from blue (negative/inverse correlation) to

red (positive/direct correlation). **a** Sham correlation plot, **b** Sham Guo correlation plot, **c** IS correlation plot, and **d** IG correlation plot. Significant correlations (*p*-adjusted < 0.05) are displayed with asterisk (*) in the corresponding square. **e**–**h** Network analysis per group of brain oscillation PSD at 3 different areas for all groups. Each oscillation PSD and the electrode location (E1, E2, and E3) are described in the respective nodes. Each tie represents a correlation coefficient higher than 0.8 between nodes, and the tie width is proportional to correlation coefficient among both nodes (6 to 11 animals per group). **e** Sham network, **f** Sham Guo network, **g** IS network, and **h** IG network



Fig. 6 Network analysis of q EEG. Abbreviations used for each oscillation PSD: DE1 delta electrode 1, TE1 theta E1, BE1 beta E1, SG E1 slow gamma E1, MG middle gamma E1, DE2 delta electrode 2, TE2 theta E2, BE2 beta E2, SGE2 slow gamma E2, MGE2 middle gamma E2, DE3 delta electrode 3, TE3 theta E3, BE3 beta E3, SGE3 slow gamma E3, MGE3 middle gamma E3. **e-h** Network analysis per group of brain

oscillation PSD at 3 different areas for all groups. Each oscillation PSD and the electrode location (E1, E2, and E3) are described in the respective nodes. Each tie represents a correlation coefficient higher than 0.8 between nodes, and the tie width is proportional to correlation coefficient among both nodes (6 to 11 animals per group). **e** Sham network, **f** Sham Guo network, **g** IS network, and **h** IG network

Electrode implantation

Immediately after the induction of permanent focal ischemia, all rats allocated for this protocol were maintained on the apparatus for implanting four stainless steel subdural electrodes. These electrodes were implanted at following areas (respective coordinates): contralateral unrelated to the ischemic lesion (E1, A.P—1.88, L.L—3.90); ipsilateral peri-infarct cortex (E2, A.P—7.0, L.L + 2.0); contralateral peri-infarct cortex (E3, A.P—1.88, L.L—1.10) [42]; a reference electrode was positioned above the bregma line between sagittal sutures. Electrodes were fixed with a small screw (also used for grounding) in the occipital bone and with a dental acrylic helmet on the skull.

Quantitative electroencephalogram and data processing

After forepaw symmetry evaluation, animals were immediately transferred to the in vivo electrophysiology room. Acquisition of video-EEG was made through an amplification and recording system (MAP-32, Plexon Inc).

Video-EEG was recorded for approximately 18 min and EEG signals were filtered through 0.1 to 500 Hz band and

а

d



Fig. 8 Flow Cytometry of Signaling Pathways in the peri-infarct area of the Ipsilateral Cortex. a Ratio of pPI3k/PI3k-positive cells. b pPI3k/ PI3kMFI ratio. c Dot plot correlating symmetry score and pPI3k/PI3kpositive cells ($R^2 = 0.46$, p = 0.0001). **d** Cleaved Caspase 3/Caspase 3 ratio of positive cells. e Cleaved Caspase 3/Caspase 3 MFI ratio. f Dot plot correlating symmetry score Cleaved Caspase 3/Caspase 3 MFI ratio

 $(R^2 = 0.44, p = 0.002)$. In **c** and **f**, the line represents overall Pearson R. The following symbols represent *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.005, and \$\$p < 0.005, and \$0.005 statistically different from Sham and IG and p < 0.05 and 0.005 statistically different from IS; all comparisons made by one-way ANOVA and corrected by Tukey multiple comparisons (5 to 8 animals per group)

% of Symmetry

digitalized at 1 kHz. Video and EEG were evaluated simultaneously. To perform the qEEG, an interval of 60 s was selected during awake immobility state. We used custom-written and built-in routines in MATLAB (version 2016a, MathWorks Inc.) to perform the analyses. Power spectral density (PSD) was computed using the *pwelch.m* function (Signal Processing Toolbox). The frequency bands were separated into delta (1–4 Hz), theta (5–8 Hz), beta (13–30 Hz), slow gamma (20–50 Hz), and middle gamma (60–100 Hz). The animals used in the EEG experiments were not used for biochemical parameter analyses and were euthanized by exsanguination through cardiac puncture after the experiment.

Evaluation of blood-brain barrier permeability

Aiming to identify if our stroke model, and In-Guo administration, could have effects on the BBB, we evaluated its permeability/leakage with the following methodologies: Evans blue (EB) staining and measurement of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) albumin levels.

Evans blue

Immediately after the cylinder test, EB (2% dissolved in saline solution, 3 ml/kg) was administered in the tail vein [43]. After 90 min of EB administration, animals were anesthetized and then euthanized by exsanguination through cardiac puncture [27]. The brains were removed and weighed. Each sample was frozen and sliced with a blade (thickness of 2 mm) guided by a ruled sheet of rat brain matrix (Insight LTDA, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil) [43, 44]. Afterwards, slices were photographed and the EB stained area was calculated using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA).

Quantification of albumin concentration in cerebrospinal fluid

Immediately after the cylinder test, animals were anesthetized by inhaled isoflurane and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus. CSF samples were collected by direct puncture of the cisterna magna with an insulin syringe (27 gauge \times 1/2 in. length) [31] and immediately put on ice and centrifuged at 10,000×g at 4 °C for 5 min; the supernatant was collected and then stored at - 80 °C [31]. Samples contaminated with blood were excluded from the study. In accordance with Durgawale et al. [45], 50 µl of CSF sample was mixed with 500 µl of reagent from the bromocresol green commercial kit (Doles, GO, Brazil) [46]. To enhance sensitivity, the mixture was incubated for 10 min at 37 °C. Absorbance was measured at 546 nm using a spectrophotometer [45, 46]. A standard curve with preestablished albumin concentrations was used to determine concentration in mg/ml.

Flow cytometry

We performed flow cytometry to investigate putative alterations caused by ischemia in PI3K (pro-survival) and Caspase (pro-apoptotic) signaling pathways in the ipsilateral peri-infarct area and the potential neuroprotective effects of Guo.

The rats were euthanized 48 h after ischemia, immediately after forepaw symmetry evaluation, by exsanguination. Animals were anesthetized and perfused by cardiac puncture with saline solution. Brain tissue samples were obtained from the peri-infarct area of the ipsilateral cortex, based on Hansel et al.'s protocol [26, 27]. Samples were incubated in 1 ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS 0.1 M, pH 7.4) containing 0.01 mg/ml collagenase IV for 10 min and then mechanically dissociated. After dissociation and in every washing process with PBS, homogenates were centrifuged at $1000 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C, and the pelleted cells were washed twice with PBS with the same centrifugation protocol [26].

Cells were permeabilized with Triton X-100 0.1% for 10 min and then blocked with bovine serum albumin 5% solution for 15 min. After blocking, samples from the ipsilateral peri-infarct area were incubated for 1 h in the same solution containing the following antibodies at a proportion of 1 to 200: anti-Caspase 3, anti-Cleaved Caspase 3, anti-PI3k, and anti-phosphorylated PI3k (all antibodies are from Cell Signaling Inc.).

After incubation, all samples were washed with PBS twice and incubated again with blocking solution containing AlexaFluor 488 anti-Rabbit and AlexaFluor 635 anti-Mouse in a proportion of 1 to 500 (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., PA, USA). Finally, samples were washed twice, and the pellet was resuspended in PBS.

The number of positive cells for each antibody labeling was determined by a flow cytometer (FACSCalibur, Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), considering size (SSC (side scatter), 6 to 30 micrometers) and granularity (FSC (forward scatter)). Emission of fluorochromes was registered to specific channels by their respective wavelengths using software CellQuest Pro (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, and USA). All data were collected using FL1 (excitation laser 488, filter 530/30) and FL4 (excitation laser 635, filter 661/16) channels and because of that, no compensation was applied. Using software FlowJo 7.6.3 (Tree Star, Ashland, OR, USA), data from 10,000 events were analyzed by density dot plots. We created gates considered negative for each protein using cells labeled only with the secondary antibody, using logarithmic scale dot plots. Events labeled in FL1 or FL4 with higher fluorescence than the cells labeled only with the secondary antibody were considered positive. Data were expressed by percentage of positive cells and by the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) that was correlated with the protein content in these positive cells.

To evaluate proteins related to apoptotic and survival signaling in the peri-infarct area of the ipsilateral hemisphere, the active forms (Cleaved Caspase 3 and phosphorylated PI3k) were normalized by the total content of Caspase 3 and PI3K, respectively.

Statistics

To estimate animal sample size for experiments, the primary outcome of forepaw symmetry was used considering 4 groups, with 7 animals per group, with 80% power, and an alpha of 0.05, without estimating losses. We used Minitab 22.0 software for this assessment, using variances described by earlier published papers as parameters [27]. Animals from the ischemic saline group with a forepaw symmetry score above 30% were excluded from flow cytometry, EEG, and BBB permeability analyses.

Using GraphPad Prism 6.0 software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA), D'Agostino-Pearson Normality test was conducted to determine the normality of groups. Analyses of parametric variables were made by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test, corrected for multiple comparisons with Tukey post hoc. Analyses of non-parametric parameters were made by Kruskal-Wallis tests and corrected by Dunn's test. To make correlations between parameters, Pearson and Spearman correlations to parametric and non-parametric variables were employed, respectively, and multiple comparisons were corrected by the Holm-Bonferroni method in the correlation plots. All differences were considered statistically significant when the p value was less than 0.05.

To perform correlation plots and network analyses, we used R and R studio version 3.6.2 (R, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) with packages "corrplot," "igraph," and "Hmisc". In network analysis, we used a Spearman correlation coefficient above 0.8 to form edges between nodes.

Results

Symmetry score measured by cylinder test

In accordance with our previous data [27], no motor deficit was detected in Sham groups. Measured at 48 h after ischemia (Fig. 1a), the IS group presented a significant reduction of the symmetry score (p < 0.0001, when compared to both Sham groups), which was improved by In-Guo administration (IG group, p < 0.005 vs IS, Sham and Sham Guo groups).

The follow-up evaluations, made until the 42nd day after ischemia induction, showed a long-lasting reduction in the symmetry score in the IS group (p < 0.0001, when compared to both Sham groups); in the IG group, we observed a gradual improvement in the score (p < 0.01, IG vs IS on overall curve),

reaching total recovery from motor deficit on the 42nd day (p < 0.05 vs IS, p > 0.05 vs the Sham and SG group) (Fig. 1b).

EEG power spectral analysis

We used qEEG as a tool to evaluate brain electrical activity and In-Guo treatment 48 h after ischemia induction. Accordingly, we analyzed a contralateral region unrelated to ischemia (E1, Fig. 2), the ipsilateral peri-infarct area (E2, Fig. 3) and the peri-infarct area (E3, Fig. 4).

The power spectral density (PSD) analysis of EEG, recorded from a contralateral brain region unrelated to the ischemic lesion (E1), showed no significant differences among all groups in all analyzed frequencies (Suppl. Table 1 and Fig. 2).

In contrast, in the peri-infarct area zone of the ipsilateral cortex (E2), IS animals presented a reduction in all PSD oscillations (delta, theta, beta, slow gamma and middle gamma), when compared to the Sham group (p < 0.05). In-Guo treatment in ischemic animals (IG group) prevented the reduction of all PSD oscillations compared to the IS group (p < 0.05, IG vs IS) (Suppl. Table 1 and Fig. 3).

Furthermore, in the peri-infarct area of the contralateral hemisphere (E3), IS animals presented a reduction in PSD oscillations of theta, beta, slow gamma, and middle gamma, when compared to the Sham group (p < 0.05). In-Guo treatment in ischemic animals (IG group) prevented the reduction of all affected PSD oscillations compared to the IS group (p < 0.05) (Suppl. Table 1 and Fig. 4). Noteworthy, in theta PSD, we observed an increase of IG in comparison with the Sham Guo group (p < 0.05) (Suppl. Table 1 and Fig. 4).

We also performed correlation analyses (Suppl. Fig. 1) to evaluate association between the forepaw symmetry score and the PSD oscillations in all brain regions analyzed (E1, E2, and E3). We observed that the symmetry score increased with the increase in PSD of theta, beta, slow gamma, and middle gamma oscillations in all analyzed areas. The significant positive correlations (p < 0.05) suggest that the improvement in behavioral performance (forepaw symmetry) was associated with higher PSD oscillations in both hemispheres (Suppl. Fig. 1d-o).

Correlations of PSD oscillations at each electrode and between electrodes were performed to evaluate synchrony between the analyzed regions. Areas with hyperexcitability in the brain, such as those caused by brain injury, present hypersynchrony [47–49]. Indeed, the IS group (Fig. 5c) presented a greater number of significant positive correlations of PSD oscillations compared to the Sham (Fig. 5a) and Sham Guo groups (Fig. 5b), suggesting that ischemia induced synchronicity and thus global dysfunction. The IG group (ischemic group treated with In-Guo) (Fig. 5d) had less significant positive correlations of PSD oscillations. These positive correlations between PSD oscillations indicate an increase in synchronicity. Therefore, In-Guo partially prevented the state of synchronicity induced by ischemia.

To better evaluate the brain synchronicity, we performed network analysis with the qEEG data. In a network analysis, a node represents a PSD parameter and edges represent a correlation coefficient above 0.8. Thus, a network with a larger number of connections (higher density) and with between nodes of both hemispheres represents higher synchronicity and thus global dysfunction. The network analysis showed that the Sham group (Fig. 6e) and Sham Guo group (Fig. 6f) presented a network pattern with lower density compared to the IS group (Fig. 6g). Therefore, the correlation coefficients among the PSD oscillations in all analyzed electrodes were similar to each other and higher than the Sham and Sham Guo groups. This suggests that both hemispheres of the IS (Fig. 6g) group were altered with increased synchronous activity. On the other hand, the IG group (Fig. 6h) presented a network pattern similar to Sham Guo (Fig. 6f), with an absence of ties between PSD oscillations in E1 (unrelated to the ischemic lesion) and E2 (ipsilateral peri-infarct area), suggesting a decreased stroke induced-synchrony in the In-Guo treated group. This reinforces the effect Guo on the area unrelated to ischemia.

Evaluation of BBB permeability

The CSF albumin content and Evans blue staining were measured to evaluate BBB dysfunction.

The blue-stained area in both Sham and Sham Guo groups (Fig. 7a and b) was significantly smaller than in the IS group (p < 0.005, IS vs Sham and Sham Guo). In-Guo treatment abolished this difference (p < 0.005, IG vs IS). Accordingly, there was a significant inverse correlation between the forepaw symmetry and the Evans blue stained area (Fig. 7c, $R^2 = 0.26$, p < 0.005).

The ischemic insult caused a significant increase in the CSF albumin content when compared to both Sham groups (p < 0.005, IS vs Sham and Sham Guo) (Fig. 7d). In-Guo administration prevented this increase (p < 0.01, IS vs IG), presenting values similar to Sham groups (Fig. 7d). In addition, a significant, but weak, correlation between albumin content and symmetry score was observed (Fig. 7e, Spearman Rho = -0.22, p < 0.05).

Flow cytometry

In ipsilateral peri-infarct area samples, the ratio of active isoforms was calculated to evaluate pro-apoptotic (Cleaved Caspase 3/total Caspase 3) and pro-survival (pPI3k/PI3k) signaling. The ischemic insult decreased the pPI3k/PI3k ratio of positive cells (p < 0.05, Fig. 8a) and increased the ratio of Cleaved Caspase 3 MFI/ total Caspase 3 MFI (p < 0.005, Fig. 8e) compared to the Sham group. Both effects were abolished by In-Guo treatment, indicating a protective effect of Guo in our

ischemia model. Interestingly, Guo also increased the ratio in the Sham Guo group (p < 0.001) (Fig. 8a). However, there was no statistical difference in the content ratio of active PI3k between groups (Fig. 8b).

The IS group exhibited a statistically higher content ratio of Cleaved and total Caspase 3 when compared to Sham groups (p < 0.001), an effect prevented by In-Guo (p < 0.001) (Fig. 8e). Nevertheless, no statistical difference was detected in the percentage of positive cells for Cleaved Caspase 3/Caspase 3 for all groups (Fig. 8d).

The reduction in the active forms of positive cells of PI3k (Fig. 8a) and the enhanced expression of Cleaved Caspase 3 (Fig. 8e) suggest that our ischemic model induced cell death and In-Guo treatment prevented this apoptotic state. To further explore this hypothesis, correlations between these parameters and the symmetry score were made. Accordingly, forepaw symmetry and the ratio of positive cells of phosphorylated and total PI3k were positively correlated (Fig. 7c, $R^2 = 0.46$, p < 0.005). Also, the content ratio of active and total Caspase 3 was negatively correlated with the symmetry score (Fig. 7f, $R^2 = 0.44$, p < 0.0005).

Discussion

Here, we show that early In-Guo treatment promoted a neuroprotective effect that persisted up to 42 days after injury. Our present results validate previous data for a therapeutic window of 3 h for In-Guo treatment [27]. Additionally, we demonstrated that acute In-Guo treatment did not cause potentially harmful effects to Sham animals. In-Guo partially prevented shortterm motor deficits induced by ischemia and accelerated the long-lasting recovery, in such way that the animals presented normal forepaw symmetry from the 35th day after ischemic injury.

Our electrophysiological data showed that the injury altered brain oscillations recorded by EEG. This methodology can be used in certain contexts to evaluate the outcomes and management of patients with stroke [19, 50, 51]. Indeed, routine EEG detects changes in brain oscillations associated to altered CBF and cellular metabolism observed in ischemic brain [17, 21]. Interestingly, quantitative EEG (qEEG) analysis has been able to detect similar and subtle changes even more effectively (as fast as 28 to 104 s after ischemic injury) [24]. In this way, a decrease in brain oscillation amplitude was demonstrated in the ipsilateral hemisphere at the lesion [21] that gradually recovered after 48 to 72 h following middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats [21]. In patients, the qEEG analysis is shown to be related with the severity of stroke and to the response to treatment [23]. Changes in delta and theta and faster oscillations were previously described during ischemia [15, 17, 20, 22, 23, 52].

In our study, the qEEG showed a decrease in the power spectral density (PSD) for delta, theta, beta, and gamma oscillations in the peri-infarct area of the ipsilateral cortex (E2) and most of the oscillations in the peri-infarct area of contralateral cortex (E3), measured at 48 h after ischemia induction. Similar results were found in the presence of severe hypoperfusion, i.e., an EEG suppression pattern of all frequencies [18]. Therefore, this synchronic decrease in power density of brain oscillations (global EEG suppression) is probably associated with the decrease in CBF and with brain edema, which is closely linked to early BBB disruption [53, 54].

Heatmap and network analyses were made to evaluate correlations between qEEG parameters and, thus, their associations with increased synchronicity in EEGs, i.e., characteristic of hyperexcitability [47, 55]. In both analyses, the correlation coefficients among the PSD in all three electrodes for the IS group were similar to each other and higher than the Sham group. This implies that both hemispheres were altered, thus presenting increased synchronous activity in the IS group and pointing to a globally dysfunctional brain. Interestingly, similar patterns of increased synchronous activity were found in animal models and patients with strokes and seizures at various moments [56]. In this study, the effect of In-Guo administration on brain oscillations during ischemia was associated with a decrease in synchrony, suggesting an improvement in global brain functionality apparently caused by a modulation of ipsilateral and contralateral peri-infarct area and in those unrelated to the ischemic lesion (as E1). Since it has been shown that abnormal cortical oscillations affect behavioral parameters, the maintenance of brain rhythms similar to the normal/Sham pattern in both hemispheres seems to contribute to the better and long-lasting behavioral outcome of ischemic animals treated with Guo [33–35].

Recent publications have shown that some abnormal EEG patterns, especially when presenting reduced EEG activity, may be associated with BBB impairment [54, 57-59]. Preventing BBB damage in stroke promotes better outcomes in patients [60, 61] and also reduces harmful rtPA effects on the BBB [11], especially the increased risk of hemorrhagic transformation [62–64]. Accordingly, randomized clinical trials using drugs to prevent BBB dysfunction in stroke have shown improvement in outcomes, even in patients treated with rtPA or subjected to mechanical thrombectomy [60, 61]. Our present results support this proposition. We detected that In-Guo administration prevented the impairment of BBB integrity, both in tissue and in CSF, 48 h after ischemic surgery. These data suggest a global effect of Guo on preventing the spread of harmful signaling factors from the peri-infarct area to the whole brain. Since BBB disruption is involved in many neuropathologies [11, 65-67] and Guo presented a general neuroprotective effect without a clear mechanism [32], we hypothesize that Guo acts by contributing, at least partially, to maintain BBB integrity.

It has been shown that PI3k /Caspase 3 pathway activities modulate BBB stabilization [68, 69], especially in models of stroke, hypoxia-ischemia, and intracerebral hemorrhage [70-73], though the mechanisms are not fully understood. Previous data show active Caspase 3 regulating other functions than cell death [72, 74] and influencing disorganization of BBB components [69, 74, 75]. Our data in the ipsilateral peri-infarct area indicated that our ischemia model simultaneously decreased the phosphorylated pPI3k/PI3k-positive cells and increased the Cleaved Caspase 3/Caspase 3 ratio, suggesting an enhancement of apoptotic processes, which may result in mitochondrial damage and ultimately apoptosis [76]. In-Guo treatment enhanced PI3k phosphorylation even in non-pathological scenarios, such as in the Sham-Guo group, which was a finding similar to previous in vitro results [75]. Therefore, In-Guo treatment prevented the effects of ischemia on PI3k phosphorylation and on activation of Caspase 3, and both effects were correlated with the improvement of the symmetry score.

Limitations on our study included that one should keep in mind that ketamine may have neuroprotective effects [77]. Nevertheless, previous work from our group and others demonstrated the suitability of ketamine in anesthesia in this animal model of stroke [40, 41] whereas in this study and other studies from our group [25–27], all animals were exposed to same anesthetic setting.

In summary, we demonstrated that In-Guo administration presented a long-term neuroprotective effect that could be related to the short-term prevention of the impairments to brain functionality. Interestingly, the EEG, BBB, and the survival/apoptotic cellular pathway data demonstrated that Guo did not act only in the ipsilateral peri-infarct area but also on brain regions far from the lesion core. Taken altogether, we hope to move a step further in order to consolidate the neuroprotective effectiveness of Guo against stroke.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-021-09766-x.

Author's contribution All authors contributed to material preparation and data collection. Study conception and design and data analysis were performed by Gabriel Cardozo Müller, Samanta Oliveira Loureiro, Mayara Vendramin Pasquetti, Marcelo Ganzella, Letícia Pettenuzzo, Maria Elisa Calcagnotto, and Diogo Souza. The first draft of the manuscript was written by Gabriel Cardozo Müller and all authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript and approved its publication.

Funding This work was supported by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Brazil, No. 465671/2014-4 and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES).

Data availability Data will be made available if requested to corresponding authors or to the first author.

Declarations

Ethical approval of animal use All experiments were performed following the rules and with approval of the Institutional Ethics Committee on Animal Use, CEUA-UFRGS, Project No. 29028. These rules were in accordance with the National Institute of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- Donnan GA, Fisher M, Macleod M, Davis SM (2008) Stroke. Lancet 371(9624):1612–1623. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60694-7
- Feigin VL, Krishnamurthi RV, Parmar P, Norrving B, Mensah GA, Bennett DA, Barker-Collo S, Moran AE, Sacco RL, Truelsen T, Davis S, Pandian JD, Naghavi M, Forouzanfar MH, Nguyen G, Johnson CO, Vos T, Meretoja A, Murray CJ, Roth GA, Group GBDW, Group GBDSPE (2015) Update on the global burden of ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke in 1990-2013: the GBD 2013 study. Neuroepidemiology 45(3):161–176. https://doi.org/10. 1159/000441085
- Chamorro A, Dirnagl U, Urra X, Planas AM (2016) Neuroprotection in acute stroke: targeting excitotoxicity, oxidative and nitrosative stress, and inflammation. The Lancet Neurology 15(8):869–881. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00114-9
- Albers GW, Bates VE, Clark WM, Bell R, Verro P, Hamilton SA (2000) Intravenous tissue-type plasminogen activator for treatment of acute stroke: the Standard Treatment with Alteplase to Reverse Stroke (STARS) study. Jama 283(9):1145–1150. https://doi.org/10. 1001/jama.283.9.1145
- Mazya M, Egido JA, Ford GA, Lees KR, Mikulik R, Toni D, Wahlgren N, Ahmed N, Investigators S (2012) Predicting the risk of symptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage in ischemic stroke treated with intravenous alteplase: safe Implementation of Treatments in Stroke (SITS) symptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage risk score. Stroke 43(6):1524–1531. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA. 111.644815
- Llovera G, Hofmann K, Roth S, Salas-Perdomo A, Ferrer-Ferrer M, Perego C, Zanier ER, Mamrak U, Rex A, Party H, Agin V, Fauchon C, Orset C, Haelewyn B, De Simoni MG, Dirnagl U, Grittner U, Planas AM, Plesnila N, Vivien D, Liesz A (2015) Results of a preclinical randomized controlled multicenter trial (pRCT): anti-CD49d treatment for acute brain ischemia. Sci Transl Med 7(299):299ra121. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa9853
- Vinny PW, Vishnu VY, Padma Srivastava MV (2018) Thrombectomy 6 to 24 hours after stroke. N Engl J Med 378(12): 1161–1162. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1801530
- Vinny PW, Vishnu VY, Srivastava MVP (2018) Thrombectomy for stroke with selection by perfusion imaging. N Engl J Med 378(19):1849–1850. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1803856
- Wood H (2018) Stroke: expanding the thrombectomy time window after stroke. Nat Rev Neurol 14(3):128. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nmeurol.2018.15
- Brinjikji W, Rabinstein AA, Cloft HJ (2014) Socioeconomic disparities in the utilization of mechanical thrombectomy for acute ischemic stroke. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 23(5):979–984. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2013.08.008
- Brouns R, De Deyn PP (2009) The complexity of neurobiological processes in acute ischemic stroke. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 111(6): 483–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2009.04.001

- Durukan A, Tatlisumak T (2007) Acute ischemic stroke: overview of major experimental rodent models, pathophysiology, and therapy of focal cerebral ischemia. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 87(1): 179–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2007.04.015
- Dirnagl U (2012) Pathobiology of injury after stroke: the neurovascular unit and beyond. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1268:21–25. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06691.x
- Doerrfuss JI, Kilic T, Ahmadi M, Holtkamp M, Weber JE (2020) Quantitative and aualitative EEG as a prediction tool for outcome and complications in acute stroke patients. Clinical EEG and neuroscience 51(2):121–129. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1550059419875916
- Rabiller G, He JW, Nishijima Y, Wong A, Liu J (2015) Perturbation of brain oscillations after ischemic stroke: a potential biomarker for post-stroke function and therapy. Int J Mol Sci 16(10):25605–25640. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms161025605
- Foreman B, Claassen J (2012) Quantitative EEG for the detection of brain ischemia. Crit Care 16(2):216. https://doi.org/10.1186/ cc11230
- Jordan KG (2004) Emergency EEG and continuous EEG monitoring in acute ischemic stroke. J Clin Neurophysiol 21(5):341–352
- Nuwer MR, Jordan SE, Ahn SS (1987) Evaluation of stroke using EEG frequency analysis and topographic mapping. Neurology 37(7):1153–1159. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.37.7.1153
- Burghaus L, Liu WC, Dohmen C, Haupt WF, Fink GR, Eggers C (2013) Prognostic value of electroencephalography and evoked potentials in the early course of malignant middle cerebral artery infarction. Neurol Sci 34(5):671–678. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10072-012-1102-1
- Hossmann KA (1994) Viability thresholds and the penumbra of focal ischemia. Ann Neurol 36(4):557–565. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ana.410360404
- Finnigan SP, Rose SE, Walsh M, Griffin M, Janke AL, McMahon KL, Gillies R, Strudwick MW, Pettigrew CM, Semple J, Brown J, Brown P, Chalk JB (2004) Correlation of quantitative EEG in acute ischemic stroke with 30-day NIHSS score: comparison with diffusion and perfusion MRI. Stroke 35(4):899–903. https://doi.org/10. 1161/01.STR.0000122622.73916.d2
- Finnigan SP, Rose SE, Chalk JB (2006) Rapid EEG changes indicate reperfusion after tissue plasminogen activator injection in acute ischaemic stroke. J Clin Neurophysiol 117(10):2338–2339. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.06.718
- Laman DM, Wieneke GH, van Duijn H, Veldhuizen RJ, van Huffelen AC (2005) QEEG changes during carotid clamping in carotid endarterectomy: spectral edge frequency parameters and relative band power parameters. J Clin Neurophysiol 22(4):244– 252
- Hansel G, Ramos DB, Delgado CA, Souza DG, Almeida RF, Portela LV, Quincozes-Santos A, Souza DO (2014) The potential therapeutic effect of guanosine after cortical focal ischemia in rats. PLoS One 9(2):e90693. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0090693
- Hansel G, Tonon AC, Guella FL, Pettenuzzo LF, Duarte T, Duarte M, Oses JP, Achaval M, Souza DO (2015) Guanosine protects against cortical focal ischemia. Involvement of inflammatory response. Mol Neurobiol 52(3):1791–1803. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-014-8978-0
- 27. Ramos DB, Muller GC, Rocha GB, Dellavia GH, Almeida RF, Pettenuzzo LF, Loureiro SO, Hansel G, Horn AC, Souza DO, Ganzella M (2016) Intranasal guanosine administration presents a wide therapeutic time window to reduce brain damage induced by permanent ischemia in rats. Purinergic Signal 12(1):149–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11302-015-9489-9

- Schmidt AP, Tort AB, Silveira PP, Bohmer AE, Hansel G, Knorr L, Schallenberger C, Dalmaz C, Elisabetsky E, Crestana RH, Lara DR, Souza DO (2009) The NMDA antagonist MK-801 induces hyperalgesia and increases CSF excitatory amino acids in rats: reversal by guanosine. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 91(4):549–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2008.09.009
- Schmidt AP, Tort AB, Souza DO, Lara DR (2008) Guanosine and its modulatory effects on the glutamatergic system. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 18(8):620–622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. euroneuro.2008.01.007
- Schmidt AP, Lara DR, Souza DO (2007) Proposal of a guaninebased purinergic system in the mammalian central nervous system. Pharmacol Ther 116(3):401–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pharmthera.2007.07.004
- Almeida RF, Comasseto DD, Ramos DB, Hansel G, Zimmer ER, Loureiro SO, Ganzella M, Souza DO (2017) Guanosine anxiolyticlike effect involves adenosinergic and glutamatergic neurotransmitter systems. Mol Neurobiol 54(1):423–436. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12035-015-9660-x
- Ciruela F (2013) Guanosine behind the scene. J Neurochem 126(4): 425–427. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12328
- 33. Paniz LG, Calcagnotto ME, Pandolfo P, Machado DG, Santos GF, Hansel G, Almeida RF, Bruch RS, Brum LM, Torres FV, de Assis AM, Rico EP, Souza DO (2014) Neuroprotective effects of guanosine administration on behavioral, brain activity, neurochemical and redox parameters in a rat model of chronic hepatic encephalopathy. Metab Brain Dis 29(3):645–654. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11011-014-9548-x
- Torres FV, da Silva FM, Antunes C, Kalinine E, Antoniolli E, Portela LV, Souza DO, Tort AB (2010) Electrophysiological effects of guanosine and MK-801 in a quinolinic acid-induced seizure model. Exp Neurol 221(2):296–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. expneurol.2009.11.013
- Cittolin-Santos GF, de Assis AM, Guazzelli PA, Paniz LG, da Silva JS, Calcagnotto ME, Hansel G, Zenki KC, Kalinine E, Duarte MM, Souza DO (2017) Guanosine exerts neuroprotective effect in an experimental model of acute ammonia intoxication. Mol Neurobiol 54(5):3137–3148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-016-9892-4
- Kovacs Z, Kekesi KA, Dobolyi A, Lakatos R, Juhasz G (2015) Absence epileptic activity changing effects of non-adenosine nucleoside inosine, guanosine and uridine in Wistar Albino Glaxo Rijswijk rats. Neuroscience 300:593–608. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2015.05.054
- Tasca CI, Lanznaster D, Oliveira KA, Fernandez-Duenas V, Ciruela F (2018) Neuromodulatory effects of guanine-based purines in health and disease. Front Cell Neurosci 12:376. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00376
- Bettio LE, Cunha MP, Budni J, Pazini FL, Oliveira A, Colla AR, Rodrigues AL (2012) Guanosine produces an antidepressant-like effect through the modulation of NMDA receptors, nitric oxidecGMP and PI3K/mTOR pathways. Behav Brain Res 234(2):137– 148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.06.021
- 39. Percie du Sert N, Hurst V, Ahluwalia A, Alam S, Avey MT, Baker M, Browne WJ, Clark A, Cuthill IC, Dirnagl U, Emerson M, Garner P, Holgate ST, Howells DW, Karp NA, Lazic SE, Lidster K, MacCallum CJ, Macleod M, Pearl EJ, Petersen OH, Rawle F, Reynolds P, Rooney K, Sena ES, Silberberg SD, Steckler T, Wurbel H (2020) The ARRIVE guidelines 2.0: updated guidelines for reporting animal research. Br J Pharmacol 177(16):3617–3624. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.15193
- 40. de Vasconcelos Dos Santos A, da Costa RJ, Diaz Paredes B, Moraes L, Jasmin G-GA, Mendez-Otero R (2010) Therapeutic window for treatment of cortical ischemia with bone marrowderived cells in rats. Brain Res 1306:149–158. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.brainres.2009.09.094

- Giraldi-Guimardes A, Rezende-Lima M, Bruno FP, Mendez-Otero R (2009) Treatment with bone marrow mononuclear cells induces functional recovery and decreases neurodegeneration after sensorimotor cortical ischemia in rats. Brain Res 1266:108–120. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2009.01.062
- Khazipov R, Zaynutdinova D, Ogievetsky E, Valeeva G, Mitrukhina O, Manent JB, Represa A (2015) Atlas of the postnatal rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. Front Neuroanat 9:161. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fnana.2015.00161
- 43. Dal-Pizzol F, Rojas HA, dos Santos EM, Vuolo F, Constantino L, Feier G, Pasquali M, Comim CM, Petronilho F, Gelain DP, Quevedo J, Moreira JC, Ritter C (2013) Matrix metalloproteinase-2 and metalloproteinase-9 activities are associated with blood-brain barrier dysfunction in an animal model of severe sepsis. Mol Neurobiol 48(1):62–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-013-8433-7
- Saunders NR, Dziegielewska KM, Mollgard K, Habgood MD (2015) Markers for blood-brain barrier integrity: how appropriate is Evans blue in the twenty-first century and what are the alternatives? Front Neurosci 9:385. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015. 00385
- Durgawale P, Kanase S, Shukla PS, Sontakke S (2005) A sensitive and economical modified method for estimation of cerebrospinal fluid proteins. Indian J Clin Biochem 20(2):174–177. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF02867422
- Zanotto C, Simao F, Gasparin MS, Biasibetti R, Tortorelli LS, Nardin P, Goncalves CA (2017) Exendin-4 reverses biochemical and functional alterations in the blood-brain and blood-CSF barriers in diabetic rats. Mol Neurobiol 54(3):2154–2166. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12035-016-9798-1
- 47. Warren CP, Hu S, Stead M, Brinkmann BH, Bower MR, Worrell GA (2010) Synchrony in normal and focal epileptic brain: the seizure onset zone is functionally disconnected. J Neurophysiol 104(6):3530–3539. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00368.2010
- Andraus ME, Andraus CF, Alves-Leon SV (2012) Periodic EEG patterns: importance of their recognition and clinical significance. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 70(2):145–151. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0004-282x2012000200014
- Brenner RP, Schaul N (1990) Periodic EEG patterns: classification, clinical correlation, and pathophysiology. J Clin Neurophysiol 7(2): 249–267
- Sheorajpanday RV, Nagels G, Weeren AJ, De Deyn PP (2011) Quantitative EEG in ischemic stroke: correlation with infarct volume and functional status in posterior circulation and lacunar syndromes. Clin Neurophysiol 122(5):884–890. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.clinph.2010.08.020
- Sheorajpanday RV, Nagels G, Weeren AJ, van Putten MJ, De Deyn PP (2009) Reproducibility and clinical relevance of quantitative EEG parameters in cerebral ischemia: a basic approach. Clin Neurophysiol 120(5):845–855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph. 2009.02.171
- Finnigan SP, Walsh M, Rose SE, Chalk JB (2007) Quantitative EEG indices of sub-acute ischaemic stroke correlate with clinical outcomes. Clin Neurophysiol 118(11):2525–2532. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.clinph.2007.07.021
- Huang Z, Dong W, Yan Y, Xiao Q, Man Y (2002) Effects of intravenous mannitol on EEG recordings in stroke patients. Clin Neurophysiol 113(3):446–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1388-2457(02)00012-3
- Kiviniemi V, Korhonen V, Kortelainen J, Rytky S, Keinanen T, Tuovinen T, Isokangas M, Sonkajarvi E, Siniluoto T, Nikkinen J, Alahuhta S, Tervonen O, Turpeenniemi-Hujanen T, Myllyla T, Kuittinen O, Voipio J (2017) Real-time monitoring of human blood-brain barrier disruption. PLoS One 12(3):e0174072. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174072

- 55. O'Dell CM, Das A, Wallace G, Ray SK, Banik NL (2012) Understanding the basic mechanisms underlying seizures in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy and possible therapeutic targets: a review. J Neurosci Res 90(5):913–924. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.22829
- Berges S, Moulin T, Berger E, Tatu L, Sablot D, Challier B, Rumbach L (2000) Seizures and epilepsy following strokes: recurrence factors. Eur Neurol 43(1):3–8. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000008120
- Korn A, Golan H, Melamed I, Pascual-Marqui R, Friedman A (2005) Focal cortical dysfunction and blood-brain barrier disruption in patients with postconcussion syndrome. Clin Neurophysiol 22(1):1–9
- Garbuzova-Davis S, Haller E, Williams SN, Haim ED, Tajiri N, Hernandez-Ontiveros DG, Frisina-Deyo A, Boffeli SM, Sanberg PR, Borlongan CV (2014) Compromised blood-brain barrier competence in remote brain areas in ischemic stroke rats at the chronic stage. J Comp Neurol 522(13):3120–3137. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cne.23582
- 59. Vazana U, Veksler R, Pell GS, Prager O, Fassler M, Chassidim Y, Roth Y, Shahar H, Zangen A, Raccah R, Onesti E, Ceccanti M, Colonnese C, Santoro A, Salvati M, D'Elia A, Nucciarelli V, Inghilleri M, Friedman A (2016) Glutamate-mediated blood-brain barrier opening: implications for neuroprotection and drug delivery. J Neurosci 36(29):7727–7739. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.0587-16.2016
- Barreto AD, Ford GA, Shen L, Pedroza C, Tyson J, Cai C, Rahbar MH, Grotta JC, Investigators A (2017) Randomized, multicenter trial of ARTSS-2 (Argatroban With Recombinant Tissue Plasminogen Activator for Acute Stroke). Stroke 48(6):1608– 1616. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.016720
- Enomoto M, Endo A, Yatsushige H, Fushimi K, Otomo Y (2019) Clinical effects of early edaravone use in acute ischemic stroke patients treated by endovascular reperfusion therapy. Stroke 50(3):652–658. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.118. 023815
- 62. Krishnamurthi RV, Feigin VL, Forouzanfar MH, Mensah GA, Connor M, Bennett DA, Moran AE, Sacco RL, Anderson LM, Truelsen T, O'Donnell M, Venketasubramanian N, Barker-Collo S, Lawes CM, Wang W, Shinohara Y, Witt E, Ezzati M, Naghavi M, Murray C, Global Burden of Diseases IRFS, Group GBDSE (2013) Global and regional burden of first-ever ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke during 1990-2010: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet Glob Health 1(5):e259– e281. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(13)70089-5
- 63. Montalvo M, Mistry E, Chang AD, Yakhkind A, Dakay K, Azher I, Kaushal A, Mistry A, Chitale R, Cutting S, Burton T, Mac Grory B, Reznik M, Mahta A, Thompson BB, Ishida K, Frontera J, Riina HA, Gordon D, Parella D, Scher E, Farkas J, McTaggart R, Khatri P, Furie KL, Jayaraman M, Yaghi S (2019) Predicting symptomatic intracranial haemorrhage after mechanical thrombectomy: the TAG score. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry:jnnp-2019-321184. https:// doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2019-321184
- 64. Whiteley WN, Emberson J, Lees KR, Blackwell L, Albers G, Bluhmki E, Brott T, Cohen G, Davis S, Donnan G, Grotta J, Howard G, Kaste M, Koga M, von Kummer R, Lansberg MG, Lindley RI, Lyden P, Olivot JM, Parsons M, Toni D, Toyoda K, Wahlgren N, Wardlaw J, Del Zoppo GJ, Sandercock P, Hacke W, Baigent C, Stroke Thrombolysis Trialists C (2016) Risk of intracerebral haemorrhage with alteplase after acute ischaemic stroke: a secondary analysis of an individual patient data meta-analysis. The Lancet Neurology 15(9):925–933. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30076-X

- 65. Farrall AJ, Wardlaw JM (2009) Blood-brain barrier: ageing and microvascular disease–systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurobiol Aging 30(3):337–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2007.07.015
- Kealy J, Greene C, Campbell M (2018) Blood-brain barrier regulation in psychiatric disorders. Neuroscience letters:133664. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2018.06.033
- 67. Shetty AK, Mishra V, Kodali M, Hattiangady B (2014) Blood brain barrier dysfunction and delayed neurological deficits in mild traumatic brain injury induced by blast shock waves. Front Cell Neurosci 8:232. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00232
- Li Y, Zhong W, Jiang Z, Tang X (2019) New progress in the approaches for blood-brain barrier protection in acute ischemic stroke. Brain Res Bull 144:46–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. brainresbull.2018.11.006
- Zehendner CM, Librizzi L, de Curtis M, Kuhlmann CR, Luhmann HJ (2011) Caspase-3 contributes to ZO-1 and Cl-5 tight-junction disruption in rapid anoxic neurovascular unit damage. PLoS One 6(2):e16760. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016760
- Jin R, Song Z, Yu S, Piazza A, Nanda A, Penninger JM, Granger DN, Li G (2011) Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase gamma plays a central role in blood-brain barrier dysfunction in acute experimental stroke. Stroke 42(7):2033–2044. https://doi.org/10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.601369
- Li L, McBride DW, Doycheva D, Dixon BJ, Krafft PR, Zhang JH, Tang J (2015) G-CSF attenuates neuroinflammation and stabilizes the blood-brain barrier via the PI3K/Akt/GSK-3beta signaling pathway following neonatal hypoxia-ischemia in rats. Exp Neurol 272: 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.12.020
- 72. Qian H, Dou Z, Ruan W, He P, Zhang JH, Yan F (2018) ErbB4 preserves blood-brain barrier integrity via the YAP/PIK3CB pathway after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Front Neurosci 12:492. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00492
- Sifat AE, Vaidya B, Abbruscato TJ (2017) Blood-brain barrier protection as a therapeutic strategy for acute ischemic stroke. AAPS J 19(4):957–972. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-017-0091-7
- Lopez-Ramirez MA, Fischer R, Torres-Badillo CC, Davies HA, Logan K, Pfizenmaier K, Male DK, Sharrack B, Romero IA (2012) Role of caspases in cytokine-induced barrier breakdown in human brain endothelial cells. J Immunol 189(6):3130–3139. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1103460
- 75. Dal-Cim T, Martins WC, Santos AR, Tasca CI (2011) Guanosine is neuroprotective against oxygen/glucose deprivation in hippocampal slices via large conductance Ca(2)+-activated K+ channels, phosphatidilinositol-3 kinase/protein kinase B pathway activation and glutamate uptake. Neuroscience 183:212–220. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.03.022
- Zhao H, Sapolsky RM, Steinberg GK (2006) Phosphoinositide-3kinase/akt survival signal pathways are implicated in neuronal survival after stroke. Mol Neurobiol 34(3):249–270. https://doi.org/10. 1385/MN:34:3:249
- 77. Xiong Z, Chang L, Qu Y, Pu Y, Wang S, Fujita Y, Ishima T, Chen J, Hashimoto K (2020) Neuronal brain injury after cerebral ischemic stroke is ameliorated after subsequent administration of (R)-ketamine, but not (S)-ketamine. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 191: 172904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2020.172904

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Affiliations

Gabriel C. Müller¹ • Samanta O. Loureiro¹ • Letícia F. Pettenuzzo¹ • Roberto F. Almeida² • Evandro Y. Ynumaru¹ • Pedro A. Guazzelli¹ • Fabíola S. Meyer¹ • Mayara V. Pasquetti^{1,3} • Marcelo Ganzella⁴ • Maria Elisa Calcagnotto^{1,3,5} • Diogo O. Souza^{1,5}

- ¹ Graduate Program in Biological Science: Biochemistry, Department of Biochemistry, ICBS, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil
- ² Biological Sciences Department, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto, Ouro Preto, MG, Brazil
- ³ Neurophysiology and Neurochemistry of Neuronal Excitability and Synaptic Pla sticity Laboratory, Department of Biochemistry, ICBS,

Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

- ⁴ Department of Neurobiology, Max Planck Institute for Biophysical Chemistry, Göttingen, Germany
- ⁵ Department of Biochemistry, ICBS, UFRGS, R. Ramiro Barcelos 2600, Anexo 21111, Porto Alegre, RS 90035-003, Brazil

Complementos aos Resultados

Em relação aos animais alocados no protocolo de EEG, um período de imobilidade em vigília de sessenta segundos foi escolhido com o objetivo de reduzir o efeito de artefatos no sinal eletroencefalográfico. Esses animais, em geral, apresentam um comportamento letárgico 48 horas após o protocolo de indução de isquemia. Durante os trechos observados não foram detectados traçados compatíveis com períodos ictais/correspondentes a crises epiléticas, bem como comportamentos estereotipados característicos desses estados.

Além disso, para obtenção da Fig. 5, foram utilizadas as PSD de cada faixa de freqüência analisadas, sendo correlacionadas em pares. O coeficiente de correlação de cada um destes pares originou um dos quadrados, sendo graficamente representados pelo gradiente de cores, sendo as cores "frias" correspondentes a coeficientes negativos, e as "quentes" aos coeficientes positivos.

A fim de esclarecer esse processo, abaixo foi representado um gráfico de pontos com dois parâmetros (PSD de Gama Médio [MG PSD] em E1 e E3) correlacionados.



Fig 2.1. Gráfico de pontos representando as correlações entre PSD de dois eletrodos (E1 e E3) e as linhas de tendência respectivas dos quatro grupos analisados: **a.** Sham (Spearman rho = 0.96), **b.**Sham Guo (Spearman rho = 0.82), **c.** IS (Spearman rho = 0.84) e **d.** IG (Spearman rho = 0.94).

Capítulo II

Resultados complementares ao capítulo I, não submetidos à publicação em revista científica. Este capítulo está ligado ao objetivo geral de determinar a janela terapêutica ótima para In-Guo. Também se relaciona com objetivo específico 2: determinar os efeitos da Guo em parâmetros histológicos e citológicos, perante o dano isquêmico.

1. Metodologias Complementares.

1.1. Animais e Protocolos Experimentais de Isquemia

Nesse estudo, foram utilizados ratos Wistar machos, pesando de 350 a 450 gramas, obtidos do biotério do Departamento de Bioquímica, Instituto de Ciências Básicas, UFRGS, e do Centro de Reprodução de Animais de Laboratório, mantidos em ciclos claro/escuro de 12h, temperatura de 22 ± 1° C, com alimentação e água fornecidas *ad libitum*.

Para indução de isquemia, utilizou-se a metodologia previamente descrita no **Capítulo I** dessa tese.

1.2. Escolha De Esquemas de Administração Intranasal de Guo.



Fig. 2.1 Esquemas de administração intranasal de Guo/Solução salina. T, momento de termocoagulação dos vasos piais (tempo 0). S, primeira avaliação de simetria de patas anteriores (tempo 48h). A - 3h,5h,8h após T0, B - 9h,11h,14h após T0, C - 24h,26h,29h após T0.

Inicialmente, a fim de fundamentar a escolha do esquema de administração de Guo, realizou-se a avaliação comportamental a longo prazo, com diferentes janelas terapêuticas **(Fig 2.1)**. Além disso, os animais também

foram alocados para os grupos Sham (somente craniotomia) e IS (craniotomia e termocoagulação, com tratamento com solução salina).

1.3. Teste de Simetria dos Membros Anteriores

A análise comportamental foi realizada por meio do teste do cilindro, descrito anteriormente no capítulo I (de Vasconcelos Dos Santos, da Costa Reis et al. 2010, Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015). Esse teste consiste em determinar o número de vezes que o animal coloca as patas dianteiras na parede do cilindro, de 20 x 30 cm, onde está contido. Ele é dado por concluído quando o animal atinge um total de 20 colocações, contando-se a quantidade das patas, esquerdas, direitas e ambas simultaneamente, que se apoiaram na parede do cilindro. O escore de simetria é calculado conforme metodologia descrita no artigo do capítulo I.

Os testes comportamentais, sempre conduzidos pelo mesmo experimentador sem conhecimento dos grupos experimentais, foram realizados dois dias antes da cirurgia e nos seguintes períodos posteriores a ela: 2, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35 e 42 dias.

1.4. Processamento e Coleta de Amostras

As amostras foram coletadas 48 horas após a indução de isquemia, sendo realizada perfusão cardíaca e exsanguinação, com a utilização de solução fisiológica salina (0,9%), até que a ausência de conteúdo hemático fosse visualmente confirmada. Após, caso a amostra fosse designada para o protocolo de histologia, administrou-se, da mesma maneira, aproximadamente 50 ml de paraformaldeído 4% (Sigma, St. Louis, MO,USA) em PBS 0,1M pH 7,3.

Para os animais alocados no protocolo de citometria de fluxo, amostras do tecido cerebral adjacente à lesão isquêmica e da região equivalente no hemisfério contralateral foram coletadas, conforme descrito por Hansel e colaboradores (Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015), e posteriormente dissociadas em 1 ml de PBS 0,1 M, pH 7,3 contendo 1 mg/ml de colagenase IV.

1.5. Histologia

Após a coleta, as amostras foram fixadas em solução contendo paraformaldeído a 4% (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA), diluído em PBS 0,1M pH 7,3 por 48 horas; posteriormente realizaram-se secções coronais nas coordenadas centrais relativas à lesão isquêmica (A.P -2 to -4). Essas secções foram parafinizadas, sendo novamente seccionadas em 4µm por meio de micrótomo, e, em seguidas, fixadas em lâminas.

As lâminas, após desparafinização em estufa a 55°C durante 45 minutos,foram mergulhadas em xilol 100% por 10 minutos. Depois disso, passaram por um processo de hidratação gradual do tecido, sendo imersas, por 10 minutos em cada passo, nas seguintes soluções: álcool 90%, 80%, 70%, 50% e água destilada.

Em seguida, cada lâmina foi imersa em hematoxilina de Harris por 5 minutos com o objetivo de corar componentes ácidos, predominantes no núcleo das células. As amostras foram lavadas em água destilada por 10 minutos e imersas em eosina por 10 minutos, corante que reage a componentes básicos, predominantes no citoplasma celular.

Posteriormente, realizaram-se duas lavagens em água destilada por 10 minutos para retirar o excesso de corante; as lâminas foram submetidas à desidratação gradual com álcool (até 90%) e, então, mergulhadas em xilol. Finalmente, a montagem foi feita com meio DPX (Distrene Plasticiser Xylene) e a cobertura, com lamínulas de vidro.

1.6. Mensuração de Volume de Infarto

As imagens foram capturadas pelo microscópio Olympus FLUOVIEW FV1000, com aumentos de 4x, 10x e 40x. Para se estimar o volume de infarto, um observador com experiência em histologia, cegado para a alocação dos grupos, avaliou as de 4x e delimitou as áreas correspondentes ao núcleo da lesão e à parte circundante, com predominância de apoptose, referente ao periinfarto. Dessa forma, as áreas demarcadas foram posteriormente quantificadas com o software Image J (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA) e normalizadas em mm² por meio do diâmetro da objetiva em cada campo de aumento 4x.

1.7. Contagem de Células por Citometria de Fluxo

Posteriormente à dissociação em PBS contendo colagenase IV, as amostras foram filtradas, centrifugadas a 10000 g por 10 minutos a 4°C, lavadas duas vezes com PBS, permeabilizadas com Triton X-100 e bloqueadas com soro de albumina bovina a 1% por 15 minutos.

Essas amostras foram incubadas por uma hora em solução de bloqueio contendo anticorpo anti-GFAP e anti-β-Tubulina III, ambos na proporção de 1:100 (Dako, CA, USA). As células, lavadas novamente duas vezes com PBS, foram, então, incubadas por uma hora com solução de bloqueio contendo AlexaFluor 488 anti-Rabbit e anti-Mouse na proporção de 1:200 (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc, PA, USA).

A quantidade de eventos positivos para GFAP e β Tubulina III foi determinada pelo citômetro de fluxo (FACSCalibur, Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). A emissão dos fluorocromos foi registrada pelos canais específicos, de acordo com o seu comprimento de onda, usando-se o software CellQuest Pro (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA).

Dados de 10000 eventos foram adquiridos – descontados os artefatos, definidos por tamanho e limiar superiores ao especificado – utilizando-se de amplificação logarítmica. As análises foram realizadas por meio do software FlowJo7.6.3 (Treestar, Ashland, OR), a partir de gráfico de pontos ("*dotplots"*) de densidades, com eixo x de FL1 e eixo y de FL3. Analisaram-se dois parâmetros: a porcentagem de eventos positivos para cada marcação (expressada por meio de porcentagem do controle) e a média de intensidade de fluorescência (MFI).

1.8. Estatística

Para análise dos dados, utilizaram-se os softwares: Prism 6.0, R (v3.6.2, R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Áustria) e Rstudio (RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R).

As variáveis foram avaliadas quanto à simetria de suas distribuições; para aquelas que fossem simétricas, foi utilizada a análise de variância (ANOVA) de uma via, com correção para comparações múltiplas pelo método de Tukey. Para analisar variáveis com dependência temporal, utilizou-se a ANOVA de duas vias com medidas repetidas, sendo também utilizado o método de Tukey. Aquelas variáveis com amostra pequena (i.e, volume de infarto n=3 por grupo, com três fatias por animal) tiveram suas diferenças analisadas pela diferença entre as medianas e o cruzamento de seu intervalo de confiança pela unidade, obtido por 10000 simulações, com uso de reamostragem (*"bootstrap"*).

2. Resultados

2.1. Simetria das Patas Anteriores

Em vista do exposto, observou-se que os esquemas terapêuticos, cuja primeira dose foi administrada três e nove horas após a termocoagulação dos vasos piais, foram efetivos na prevenção do déficit motor no escore de simetria em 42 dias. No entanto, 48 horas após a indução de isquemia, somente o grupo tratado com Guo 3 horas após o insulto apresentou diferença estatisticamente significativa em relação ao tratado com placebo (**Fig 2.2**).

Dessa forma, determinou-se que, para avaliações de curto prazo, cujo objetivo seria encontrar parâmetros associados à neuroproteção da Guo, como os apresentados no capítulo I, seria mais adequado o uso da janela de três horas, ainda que o esquema terapêutico iniciado em nove horas apresente maior potencial translacional. Além disso, também foi observado que a administração de Guo 24 horas após o dano induzido por termocoagulação não apresentou capacidade de prevenir o déficit motor em nenhum dos tempos avaliados (Fig. 2.2).



Fig. 2.2. Simetria das patas anteriores pelo teste do Cilindro. **a.** Escore de simetria 48 horas após a indução de isquemia. **b.** Linha temporal da Simetria das patas dianteiras até 42 dias após a indução de isquemia. Expressadas médias nos pontos, sendo omitidos os desvios padrão a fim de melhorar visualização.*p<0.05 comparado com o grupo Sham,[#] p<0,05 comparado com o grupo IS, ambos em cada ponto de tempo, análise de duas vias de variância para medidas repetidas (Tempo e Tratamento), comparações múltiplas corrigidas pelo método de Tukey.

2.2. Avaliação Histológica por H&E e Área de Infarto

Qualitativamente, as fatias dos animais correspondentes ao grupo Sham apresentaram neurônios е células da glia não com sinais de picnose/núcleos aumentados, restritos à área I. Todavia, os animais alocados no grupo IS (isquemia por termocoagulação tratado com solução salina) apresentaram predominância de células anucleadas/núcleo picnótico inteiramente basófilas em todas as áreas avaliadas (Fig 2.3), predominância de tipos celulares característicos de astrócitos, presenca dos tipos celulares gemistocísticos (células astrocitárias caracterizadas por pouca marcação por eosina em seu citoplasma e considerável marcação por hematoxilina em seus limites).

Comparativamente, aqueles animais submetidos ao protocolo de isquemia e tratados com Guo evidenciaram esses tipos celulares restritos

às áreas I e II, também sendo possível observar uma camada de células fibrosas na região III e delimitar células consideradas apoptóticas e saudáveis.



Fig. 2.3. Figura representativa das fatias analisadas por microscopia óptica, a área escura é correspondente à área afetada pela lesão provocada pela termocoagulação dos vasos pia. As letras representamos campos analisados.

Uma vez que se tornou possível delimitar essas áreas, realizou-se a quantificação da área de infarto, sendo utilizadas 10000 simulações pelo método de "*bootstrap*" para apresentar intervalos de confiança robustos, devido ao pequeno tamanho amostral. Observou-se, inclusive, um aumento significativo da área de infarto do grupo IS em relação ao Sham (**Fig. 2.4**), da mesma maneira que foi percebida uma redução significativa daqueles animais alocados no grupo IG em relação aos do grupo IS (**Fig. 2.4**).



Fig. 2.4. Diferença entre as médias das áreas de infarto. No eixo y estão apresentadas as médias pontuais, com seus limites inferiores e superiores estimados por 10000 simulações "bootstrap", sendo consideradas estatisticamente significantes as diferenças que não cruzassem ou contivessem no seu intervalo de confiança 95% ao valor nulo.

2.3. Citometria de Fluxo/Parâmetros celulares

Inicialmente foi realizada a avaliação dos astrócitos e neurônios pelos marcadores GFAP e β Tubulina III respectivamente, ambas relativas ao citoesqueleto desses tipos celulares, 48 horas após a indução de isquemia por termocoagulação.

Não se observou diferença estatisticamente significativa no número de eventos positivos para β Tubulina entre os grupos em ambos os hemisférios (Fig. 2.5). Porém, há diferença entre os controles Sham e os grupos isquemia no conteúdo correspondente à média de intensidade de fluorescência (MFI)

das células positivas para o hemisfério ipsilateral à lesão, medida proporcional ao conteúdo desse marcador nas células analisadas (Fig. 2.5). Possivelmente, isso pode ser explicado pelo fato de que há uma redução nos processos dendríticos no dano agudo.

Em relação aos eventos positivos para GFAP na zona peri-infarto contralateral (Fig. 2.5), o grupo isquemia, tratado com solução salina, apresentou um aumento estatisticamente significativo em relação aos grupos Sham. O tratamento com In-Guo mostrou-se capaz de prevenir esse efeito. Assim sendo, foi reforçado o aspecto global do modelo de termocoagulação e do tratamento com Guo, o que motivou a realização de análises em outros parâmetros para confirmação desse efeito, sendo alguns já expostos no capítulo I.



Fig. 2.5. Análise de citometria de fluxo de marcadores de astrócitos (GFAP) e neurônios (β Tubulina III) (Sham n = 9, IS n =7, IG=7). **a.** percentagem do controle de células marcadas positivamente para β Tubulina III. **b.** percentagem do controle de células marcadas positivamente para GFAP. **c.** Média de fluorescência de intensidade das células marcadas positivamente para β Tubulina III. **d.** Média de fluorescência de intensidade das células marcadas positivamente para GFAP.

PARTE III - DISCUSSÃO E CONCLUSÕES

1. Análise Comportamental a Longo Prazo

Já há algum tempo, tinham sido descritos os efeitos do tratamento com Guo a curto e médio prazo (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014), com prevenção parcial da simetria das patas anteriores, uma vez que os grupos tratados com diferentes concentrações de Guo apresentaram escores inferiores aos grupos controle (Sham).

Em contrapartida, no presente trabalho, o uso da via intranasal preveniu o déficit comportamental induzido pela isquemia cerebral, já que os animais tratados com Guo apresentaram recuperação gradual, atingindo escores semelhantes aos daqueles alocados nos grupos Sham, no 42º dia após a indução de isquemia. Nesse protocolo, particularmente, foram destacados o cegamento dos experimentadores e a randomização dos animais alocados.

Além disso, os dados não publicados mostraram uma recuperação parcial a longo prazo dos animais isquêmicos tratados com Guo, mesmo quando esta foi administrada pela via intranasal, nove horas após a termocoagulação.

Efeitos da Guo nas Oscilações Corticais em Modelos de Isquemia e Injúria Cerebral.

Pela primeira vez, o efeito da isquemia por termocoagulação foi caracterizado em parâmetros das oscilações corticais registradas no EEG, tendo apresentado resultados distintos de outros modelos de isquemia focal permanente. Em modelos com a oclusão da ACM, observaram-se resultados diversos, sendo, no entanto, predominantes os estudos que demonstraram
atenuação das ondas de frequência mais alta (Gama Alta, Média e Baixa, Beta) e aumento relativo das ondas de frequência mais baixa (Alfa e Delta) (Sheorajpanday, Nagels et al. 2009, Sheorajpanday, Nagels et al. 2011, Sheorajpanday, Nagels et al. 2011).

Verificou-se, então, a supressão de todas as ondas nos animais isquêmicos tratados com solução salina, um padrão similar ao observado na redução abrupta de fluxo sanguíneo cerebral nos modelos animais com isquemia global (Schmidt-Kastner, Paschen et al. 1989) e no clampeamento da carótida, em humanos (Tan, Garcia-Toca et al. 2009). Esse padrão é reforçado pelo aumento da correlação global entre as potências espectrais das ondas em diferentes regiões, a qual mostrou um acometimento geral da rede, causado pelo modelo de isquemia por termocoagulação. Outros estudos observaram um padrão semelhante em casos de hipoperfusão severa, nos quais há um aumento transitório da sincronia global do EEG (Hofmeijer, Tjepkema-Cloostermans et al. 2014).

Da mesma forma, a administração de Guo, nesse trabalho, também apresentou efeitos diferentes dos previamente observado. Já foram descritos, em abundância, os efeitos da Guo sobre o sistema glutamatérgico, os quais podem estar correlacionados às alterações eletrofisiológicas demonstradas por Torres e colaboradores, com um efeito da Guo na modulação da PSD das ondas Teta em relação a animais tratados somente com ácido quinolínico (Torres, da Silva Filho et al. 2010).

O tratamento com Guo preveniu a supressão das PSD causada pelo dano isquêmico com poucas restrições a faixas de frequência, assim como teve

71

efeito protetor no hemisfério contralateral em relação à lesão isquêmica. Além disso, também apresentou uma correlação entre a melhora do escore de simetria e as potências espectrais das frequências avaliadas, o que reforça o efeito neuroprotetor dessa molécula. A Guo teve, ainda, efeito na prevenção do aumento de GFAP pela isquemia, na zona peri-isquêmica contralateral, corroborando seu efeito "global".

O contraste entre os efeitos da Guo, descritos em estudos eletrofisiológicos anteriores, e os verificados nesse trabalho pode estar relacionado a alguns fatores: primeiro, a intensidade do dano causado pelo modelo, uma vez que os efeitos da termocoagulação não se restringem somente ao sistema glutamatérgico (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015), diferentemente do tratamento com ácido quinolínico. O segundo fator pode ter relação com a administração de Guo pela via intraperitoneal, afetada pelo metabolismo periférico e de primeira passagem, apresentando, portanto, menor biodisponibilidade em relação à via intranasal (Ramos, Muller et al. 2016). As alterações de supressão das oscilações corticais registradas no EEG podem estar relacionadas ao edema consequente à ruptura da BHE, tendo em vista que autores mostraram alterações na análise quantitativa das EEG, quando administradas soluções hipertônicas com a finalidade de aumentar a permeabilidade da BHE (Huang, Dong et al. 2002).

Alterações da BHE em Modelos de Isquemia Cerebral e Efeitos da Guo em sua Permeabilidade

Os modelos de isquemia cerebral propõem diversas abordagens para a avaliação da disfunção da BHE em modelos animais, sendo predominantemente usados o azul de Evans e a Sódio Fluoresceína (Saunders, Dziegielewska et al. 2015). Há diversas críticas em relação à acurácia dessas avaliações, ainda que revisões as proponham como medidas qualitativas (Saunders, Dziegielewska et al. 2015).

Nesse trabalho, optou-se por duas avaliações da permeabilidade da BHE: uma histológica/gualitativa; outra relacionada a aspectos clínicos. Dessa maneira, observou-se, no presente modelo, a presença de disfunção da BHE por dois métodos e a prevenção dessa disfunção pelo tratamento com Guo. Esse efeito está correlacionado aos aspectos abordados por Hansel e colaboradores (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015) nos quais níveis de interleucinas pró e anti-inflamatórias mostraram-se diferentes entre os dois grupos. Ainda assim, é difícil dissociar essas duas alterações, no sentido de que a inflamação sistêmica causa o aumento da permeabilidade da BHE (Muresanu, Sharma et al. 2019). Aqueles autores avaliaram parâmetros relacionados ao estresse oxidativo (Hansel, Ramos et al. 2014, Hansel, Tonon et al. 2015, que também resulta em dano endotelial (Muresanu, Sharma et al. 2019). Além disso, a hiperestimulação dos receptores NMDA está parcialmente ligada às vias de produção de ROS, reagindo sinergicamente (Vazana, Veksler et al. 2016) a outros estímulos, o que culmina em um aumento significativo da permeabilidade capilar.

Também relacionadas ao efeito da Guo sobre o dano isquêmico e a BHE estão as vias de sinalização ligadas à rota mTOR e à apoptose, sendo que a PI3k e as caspases 3 e 9 foram particularmente estudadas (Jin, Song et al. 2011, Zehendner, Librizzi et al. 2011, Lopez-Ramirez, Fischer et al. 2012, Qian, Dou et al. 2018).

Por conseguinte, os efeitos da Guo encontram-se ligados a diversas vias que convergem para prevenir o dano à BHE, dado que foi confirmado pelos achados desse trabalho. Ainda assim, não há evidência de que esses efeitos sobre a BHE não sejam mediados, fazendo-se necessários, por isso, testes para averiguar o efeito direto da Guo sobre a BHE e desta sobre o escore de simetria.

4. Parâmetros Celulares e de Sinalização Relacionados à Neuroproteção da Guo

Alguns autores sugerem que mecanismos de ação da Guo sejam mediados pelas vias da proteína alvo molecular da rapamicina (mTOR), com estudos conduzidos em modelos de OGD. Neles, a administração de inibidores dessa rota, como LY294002, rapamicina e wortmanina, é capaz de inibir o efeito antiapoptótico da Guo em fatias hipocampais (Molz, Dal-Cim et al. 2011, Tasca, Lanznaster et al. 2018).

Tendo em vista isso, foram abordados vários parâmetros relacionados a vias de sinalização pró e anti-apoptóticas, sendo escolhidas para publicação aquelas afetadas pela termocoagulação de vasos piais e pelo tratamento com Guo: PI3k e Caspase 3. Diante disso, foi possível observar efeitos semelhantes aos apresentados na literatura, uma vez que o tratamento com Guo mostrou-se

capaz de prevenir o aumento relativo nas formas ativas da Caspase 3 e a redução na forma ativa da PI3k, causada pela indução de isquemia. Além disso, também se percebeu a presença de correlações entre esses parâmetros e o escore comportamental, o que reforça o papel dessas vias de sinalização na recuperação dos animais tratados.

Como consequência dos efeitos nas vias de sinalização resultantes do tratamento com Guo, também se observou uma prevenção do dano por parâmetros histológicos, uma vez que, comparado com o grupo IS, aqueles animais tratados com In-Guo apresentaram menor quantidade de núcleos disfuncionais, maior integridade dos tipos celulares na adjacência da área infartada que tem, em última instância, como resultado, menor área de infarto. Ainda que usualmente sejam apresentados os volumes de infarto medidos pela marcação com cloreto de trifenil-tetrazólio (metabolizado pela succinato desidrogenase, com produto um metabólito de cor vermelha, em tecidos "saudáveis") (Bederson, Pitts et al. 1986) alguns autores sugerem que esse método tem baixa sensibilidade, quando utilizado em amostras extraídas 24 horas após a indução de isquemia (Zille, Farr et al. 2012). Em vista disso, esses autores sugerem que a avaliação da região infartada seja feita com colorações como H&E ou cresil violeta (Zille, Farr et al. 2012), particularmente para avaliações seriadas a longo prazo. Algumas características que advogam a favor do uso dessas colorações, principalmente da H&E, encontram-se na facilidade de como são realizadas e na possibilidade de estabelecerem correlações com exames anatomopatológicos. Como exemplo, a constatação da perda de afinidade por hematoxilina dos neurônios após 48 horas de progressão de quadros isquêmicos, fenômeno conhecido como "ghostneurons" (ou "ghost-cells") (Jortner 2006).

Reforçando a avaliação predominantemente qualitativa das lâminas, os parâmetros da citometria de fluxo também foram afetados pela isquemia por termocoagulação. No entanto, não foram observadas diferenças no número de células no hemisfério ipsilateral à lesão, o que pode ser justificado por idiossincrasias da técnica, com baixa acurácia para células com integridade citoplasmática comprometida. Ainda assim, detectou-se redução no conteúdo de proteínas de citoesqueleto neuronais na região peri-infarto ipsilateral dos animais submetidos à isquemia, o que pode estar relacionado a achados de autores que mostraram um aumento do "turnover" de dendritos, com redução da densidade deles em uma semana após o evento isquêmico (Biernaskie and Corbett 2001, Brown, Li et al. 2007). Ainda assim, a fim de confirmar ambos os resultados, são necessárias abordagens com imunofluorescência com marcação para GFAP e ß Tubulina III, atualmente em fase de execução.

No hemisfério contralateral, a diferença foi relativa aos eventos classificados como astrócitos, que aumentaram no grupo IS, um fenômeno já reportado na literatura cujas consequências ainda não foram completamente esclarecidas (Pekny, Wilhelmsson et al. 2014). Esse fenômeno pode estar, porém, relacionado à formação da cicatriz glial e representar elevado grau de dano tecidual, ainda que haja divergências importantes entre os autores sobre esse aspecto (Giffard and Swanson 2005, Nedergaard and Dirnagl 2005, Pekny, Wilhelmsson et al. 2014, Takatsuru, Nabekura et al. 2014, Liu and Chopp 2016). O tratamento com In-Guo, por outro lado, preveniu esse aumento, o que, em conjunto com a formação de uma camada de células

fibróticas entre o tecido saudável e o disfuncional, apontada pela coloração de H&E, reforça o efeito protetor da Guo e sugere que esse tratamento é capaz de prevenir as alterações globais causadas pelo dano isquêmico. Reforçando esses achados, foram observados dados relativos ao qEEG que mostraram um padrão de redução de sincronicidade global nos animais tratados com In-Guo.

5. Conclusões e Perspectivas

Nessa tese foi demonstrado e reforçado o potencial neuroprotetor da Guanosina, em um modelo de isquemia cerebral. Claramente, notou-se que a In-Guo apresentou aumento da janela terapêutica, tendo sido capaz de reverter o déficit comportamental, mesmo quando administrada até nove horas após a indução do dano isquêmico. Ainda assim, para o estudo de alterações bioquímicas e morfológicas, a janela de três horas seja mais vantajosa, já se observaram resultados nos parâmetros comportamentais no primeiro momento de avaliação (48 horas). Diferentemente ocorreu quando se usou o esquema terapêutico com a primeira dose nove horas, pois somente podem ser observadas diferenças comportamentais significativas em relação ao grupo isquêmico tratado com placebo quatorze dias após a indução de isquemia.

Em relação ao qEEG, observa-se que o modelo de isquemia por termocoagulação afetou as oscilações corticais em ambos os hemisférios com uma importante redução no PSD das diferentes faixas de freqüência avaliadas. Por outro lado, o tratamento com In-Guo três horas após o dano foi capaz de prevenir essas alterações, o que é reforçado pelos resultados mostrados pelo mapa de correlações e a análise de redes, onde se percebe uma redução importante do estado de sincronia nos animais tratados com Guo em relação àqueles tratados com solução salina. Foi reforçado, também, o aspecto global relacionado ao dano do modelo de termocoagulação dos vasos piais – considerado um modelo de isquemia focal –, uma vez que se apresentaram alterações no hemisfério contralateral à lesão. Além disso, observou-se que a Guo também foi capaz de prevenir esse dano, com uma janela terapêutica de três horas. Hipotetizou-se, portanto, que a prevenção global desse dano poderia estar relacionada ao impacto direto do tratamento com Guo na disfunção da BHE.

Em vista disso, o tratamento com Guo via intranasal (In-Guo), em janela terapêutica expandida, mostrou-se relevante a longo prazo, aspecto fundamental para a validação do uso desse agente neuroprotetor. Cabe ressaltar, também, a facilidade de administração da via Intranasal em relação a outras vias, o que aumenta o potencial translacional dessa abordagem. No entanto, tornam-se necessárias abordagens confirmatórias no modelo de ECRs, conforme proposto por outros autores (Llovera, Hofmann et al. 2015).

A interação entre a Guo e a BHE também precisa ser explorada, tendo em vista que mecanismos específicos não foram abordados nesse trabalho, sendo importantes, por isso, avaliação da inibição de receptores A1 e A2, bem como vias de sinalização relacionadas a mTOR e a resultante desses eventos no aumento de permeabilidade da BHE (Chojnowski, Opielka et al. 2021). Igualmente fazem-se necessárias elucidações sobre o efeito da Guo em um dano restrito ao endotélio e, por conseguinte, à BHE.

Referências Bibliográficas

(2019). "Correction to: Guidelines for the Early Management of Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke: 2019 Update to the 2018 Guidelines for the Early Management of Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Guideline for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association." Stroke **50**(12): e440-e441.

Albers, G. W., V. E. Bates, W. M. Clark, R. Bell, P. Verro and S. A. Hamilton (2000). "Intravenous tissue-type plasminogen activator for treatment of acute stroke: the Standard Treatment with Alteplase to Reverse Stroke (STARS) study." JAMA **283**(9): 1145-1150.

Albers, G. W., M. P. Marks, S. Kemp, S. Christensen, J. P. Tsai, S. Ortega-Gutierrez, R. A. McTaggart, M. T. Torbey, M. Kim-Tenser, T. Leslie-Mazwi, A. Sarraj, S. E. Kasner, S. A. Ansari, S. D. Yeatts, S. Hamilton, M. Mlynash, J. J. Heit, G. Zaharchuk, S. Kim, J. Carrozzella, Y. Y. Palesch, A. M. Demchuk, R. Bammer, P. W. Lavori, J. P. Broderick, M. G. Lansberg and D. Investigators (2018). "Thrombectomy for Stroke at 6 to 16 Hours with Selection by Perfusion Imaging." N Engl J Med **378**(8): 708-718.

Almeida, R. F., D. D. Comasseto, D. B. Ramos, G. Hansel, E. R. Zimmer, S. O. Loureiro, M. Ganzella and D. O. Souza (2017). "Guanosine Anxiolytic-Like Effect Involves Adenosinergic and Glutamatergic Neurotransmitter Systems." Mol Neurobiol **54**(1): 423-436.

Alvarez, J. I., T. Katayama and A. Prat (2013). "Glial influence on the blood brain barrier." <u>Glia</u> **61**(12): 1939-1958.

Aurell, A., L. E. Rosengren, B. Karlsson, J. E. Olsson, V. Zbornikova and K. G. Haglid (1991). "Determination of S-100 and glial fibrillary acidic protein

concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid after brain infarction." <u>Stroke</u> **22**(10): 1254-1258.

Axmacher, N., M. M. Henseler, O. Jensen, I. Weinreich, C. E. Elger and J. Fell (2010). "Cross-frequency coupling supports multi-item working memory in the human hippocampus." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **107**(7): 3228-3233.

Barreto, G., R. E. White, Y. Ouyang, L. Xu and R. G. Giffard (2011). "Astrocytes: targets for neuroprotection in stroke." <u>Cent Nerv Syst Agents Med</u> <u>Chem</u> **11**(2): 164-173.

Becker, B. F., N. Reinholz, B. Leipert, P. Raschke, B. Permanetter and E. Gerlach (1991). "Role of uric acid as an endogenous radical scavenger and antioxidant." <u>Chest</u> **100**(3 Suppl): 176S-181S.

Bederson, J. B., L. H. Pitts, S. M. Germano, M. C. Nishimura, R. L. Davis and H. M. Bartkowski (1986). "Evaluation of 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride as a stain for detection and quantification of experimental cerebral infarction in rats." <u>Stroke</u> **17**(6): 1304-1308.

Bellaver, B., D. G. Souza, L. D. Bobermin, C. A. Goncalves, D. O. Souza and A. Quincozes-Santos (2015). "Guanosine inhibits LPS-induced pro-inflammatory response and oxidative stress in hippocampal astrocytes through the heme oxygenase-1 pathway." <u>Purinergic Signal</u> **11**(4): 571-580.

Bettio, L. E., M. P. Cunha, J. Budni, F. L. Pazini, A. Oliveira, A. R. Colla and A. L. Rodrigues (2012). "Guanosine produces an antidepressant-like effect through the modulation of NMDA receptors, nitric oxide-cGMP and PI3K/mTOR pathways." <u>Behav Brain Res</u> **234**(2): 137-148.

Biernaskie, J. and D. Corbett (2001). "Enriched rehabilitative training promotes improved forelimb motor function and enhanced dendritic growth after focal ischemic injury." <u>J Neurosci</u> **21**(14): 5272-5280.

Brinjikji, W., A. A. Rabinstein and H. J. Cloft (2014). "Socioeconomic disparities in the utilization of mechanical thrombectomy for acute ischemic stroke." <u>J</u> <u>Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis</u> **23**(5): 979-984.

Brouns, R. and P. P. De Deyn (2009). "The complexity of neurobiological processes in acute ischemic stroke." <u>Clin Neurol Neurosurg</u> **111**(6): 483-495.

Brown, C. E., P. Li, J. D. Boyd, K. R. Delaney and T. H. Murphy (2007). "Extensive turnover of dendritic spines and vascular remodeling in cortical tissues recovering from stroke." <u>J Neurosci</u> **27**(15): 4101-4109.

Bursch, W., L. Kleine and M. Tenniswood (1990). "The biochemistry of cell death by apoptosis." <u>Biochem Cell Biol</u> **68**(9): 1071-1074.

Buzsaki, G. (2006). <u>Rhythms of the Brain</u>, Oxford University Press.

Buzsaki, G. and A. Draguhn (2004). "Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks." Science **304**(5679): 1926-1929.

Buzsaki, G. and X. J. Wang (2012). "Mechanisms of gamma oscillations." <u>Annu</u> <u>Rev Neurosci</u> **35**: 203-225.

Camilo, O. and L. B. Goldstein (2003). "Statewide assessment of hospitalbased stroke prevention and treatment services in North Carolina: changes over the last 5 years." <u>Stroke</u> **34**(12): 2945-2950.

Canolty, R. T., E. Edwards, S. S. Dalal, M. Soltani, S. S. Nagarajan, H. E. Kirsch, M. S. Berger, N. M. Barbaro and R. T. Knight (2006). "High gamma power is phase-locked to theta oscillations in human neocortex." <u>Science</u> **313**(5793): 1626-1628.

Canolty, R. T. and R. T. Knight (2010). "The functional role of cross-frequency coupling." <u>Trends Cogn Sci</u> **14**(11): 506-515.

Chavanpatil, M. D. and P. R. Vavia (2004). "The influence of absorption enhancers on nasal absorption of acyclovir." <u>Eur J Pharm Biopharm</u> **57**(3): 483-487.

Chojnowski, K., M. Opielka, W. Nazar, P. Kowianski and R. T. Smolenski (2021). "Neuroprotective Effects of Guanosine in Ischemic Stroke—Small Steps towards Effective Therapy." **22**(13): 6898.

Chong, Z. Z., J. Hou, Y. C. Shang, S. Wang and K. Maiese (2011). "EPO relies upon novel signaling of Wnt1 that requires Akt1, FoxO3a, GSK-3beta, and beta-catenin to foster vascular integrity during experimental diabetes." <u>Curr</u> Neurovasc Res **8**(2): 103-120.

Chong, Z. Z., F. Li and K. Maiese (2007). "The pro-survival pathways of mTOR and protein kinase B target glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and nuclear factor-kappaB to foster endogenous microglial cell protection." <u>Int J Mol Med</u> **19**(2): 263-272.

Chong, Z. Z., Q. Yao and H. H. Li (2013). "The rationale of targeting mammalian target of rapamycin for ischemic stroke." <u>Cell Signal</u> **25**(7): 1598-1607.

Choudhury, G. R. and S. Ding (2016). "Reactive astrocytes and therapeutic potential in focal ischemic stroke." <u>Neurobiol Dis</u> **85**: 234-244.

Christensen, M. C., R. Valiente, G. Sampaio Silva, W. C. Lee, S. Dutcher, M. S. Guimaraes Rocha and A. Massaro (2009). "Acute treatment costs of stroke in Brazil." <u>Neuroepidemiology</u> **32**(2): 142-149.

Cittolin-Santos, G. F., A. M. de Assis, P. A. Guazzelli, L. G. Paniz, J. S. da Silva, M. E. Calcagnotto, G. Hansel, K. C. Zenki, E. Kalinine, M. M. Duarte and

D. O. Souza (2017). "Guanosine Exerts Neuroprotective Effect in an Experimental Model of Acute Ammonia Intoxication." <u>Mol Neurobiol</u> 54(5): 3137-3148.

Collaborators, G. B. D. S. (2019). "Global, regional, and national burden of stroke, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016." <u>Lancet Neurol</u> **18**(5): 439-458.

Connell, B. J., P. Di Iorio, I. Sayeed, P. Ballerini, M. C. Saleh, P. Giuliani, T. M. Saleh, M. P. Rathbone, C. Su and S. Jiang (2013). "Guanosine protects against reperfusion injury in rat brains after ischemic stroke." <u>J Neurosci Res</u> **91**(2): 262-272.

da Silva, J. S., Y. Nonose, F. Rohden, P. C. Lukasewicz Ferreira, F. U. Fontella,
A. Rocha, A. W. Brochier, R. V. Apel, T. M. de Lima, B. Seminotti, A. U. Amaral,
A. Galina and D. O. Souza (2020). "Guanosine Neuroprotection of Presynaptic
Mitochondrial Calcium Homeostasis in a Mouse Study with Amyloid-beta
Oligomers." <u>Mol Neurobiol</u> 57(11): 4790-4809.

Dal-Cim, T., W. C. Martins, A. R. Santos and C. I. Tasca (2011). "Guanosine is neuroprotective against oxygen/glucose deprivation in hippocampal slices via large conductance Ca(2)+-activated K+ channels, phosphatidilinositol-3 kinase/protein kinase B pathway activation and glutamate uptake." <u>Neuroscience</u> **183**: 212-220.

Dal-Cim, T., W. C. Martins, D. T. Thomaz, V. Coelho, G. G. Poluceno, D. Lanznaster, S. Vandresen-Filho and C. I. Tasca (2016). "Neuroprotection Promoted by Guanosine Depends on Glutamine Synthetase and Glutamate Transporters Activity in Hippocampal Slices Subjected to Oxygen/Glucose Deprivation." Neurotox Res **29**(4): 460-468.

Damji, O. and E. Lang (2018). "In perfusion imaging-selected acute ischemic stroke, thrombectomy at 6 to 16 hours improved functional outcomes." <u>Ann</u> <u>Intern Med</u> **168**(8): JC42.

de Carvalho, J. J., M. B. Alves, G. A. Viana, C. B. Machado, B. F. dos Santos, A. H. Kanamura, C. L. Lottenberg, M. C. Neto and G. S. Silva (2011). "Stroke epidemiology, patterns of management, and outcomes in Fortaleza, Brazil: a hospital-based multicenter prospective study." <u>Stroke</u> **42**(12): 3341-3346.

de Santana, N. M., F. W. Dos Santos Figueiredo, D. M. de Melo Lucena, F. M. Soares, F. Adami, L. de Carvalho Padua Cardoso and J. A. Correa (2018). "The burden of stroke in Brazil in 2016: an analysis of the Global Burden of Disease study findings." <u>BMC Res Notes</u> **11**(1): 735.

Dirnagl, U., C. ladecola and M. A. Moskowitz (1999). "Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view." <u>Trends Neurosci</u> **22**(9): 391-397.

Djupesland, P. G., J. C. Messina and R. A. Mahmoud (2014). "The nasal approach to delivering treatment for brain diseases: an anatomic, physiologic, and delivery technology overview." Ther Deliv **5**(6): 709-733.

Dobrachinski, F., R. R. Gerbatin, G. Sartori, R. M. Golombieski, A. Antoniazzi, C. W. Nogueira, L. F. Royes, M. R. Fighera, L. O. Porciuncula, R. A. Cunha and F. A. A. Soares (2019). "Guanosine Attenuates Behavioral Deficits After Traumatic Brain Injury by Modulation of Adenosinergic Receptors." <u>Mol</u> Neurobiol **56**(5): 3145-3158.

Donnan, G. A., M. Fisher, M. Macleod and S. M. Davis (2008). "Stroke." <u>Lancet</u> **371**(9624): 1612-1623. Durukan, A. and T. Tatlisumak (2007). "Acute ischemic stroke: overview of major experimental rodent models, pathophysiology, and therapy of focal cerebral ischemia." <u>Pharmacol Biochem Behav</u> **87**(1): 179-197.

Enomoto, M., A. Endo, H. Yatsushige, K. Fushimi and Y. Otomo (2019). "Clinical Effects of Early Edaravone Use in Acute Ischemic Stroke Patients Treated by Endovascular Reperfusion Therapy." <u>Stroke</u> **50**(3): 652-658.

Feigin, V. L., R. V. Krishnamurthi, P. Parmar, B. Norrving, G. A. Mensah, D. A.
Bennett, S. Barker-Collo, A. E. Moran, R. L. Sacco, T. Truelsen, S. Davis, J. D.
Pandian, M. Naghavi, M. H. Forouzanfar, G. Nguyen, C. O. Johnson, T. Vos, A.
Meretoja, C. J. Murray, G. A. Roth, G. B. D. W. Group and G. B. D. S. P. E.
Group (2015). "Update on the Global Burden of Ischemic and Hemorrhagic
Stroke in 1990-2013: The GBD 2013 Study." <u>Neuroepidemiology</u> 45(3): 161-176.

Finnigan, S. P., S. E. Rose and J. B. Chalk (2006). "Rapid EEG changes indicate reperfusion after tissue plasminogen activator injection in acute ischaemic stroke." Clin Neurophysiol **117**(10): 2338-2339.

Finnigan, S. P., S. E. Rose, M. Walsh, M. Griffin, A. L. Janke, K. L. McMahon,
R. Gillies, M. W. Strudwick, C. M. Pettigrew, J. Semple, J. Brown, P. Brown and
J. B. Chalk (2004). "Correlation of quantitative EEG in acute ischemic stroke
with 30-day NIHSS score: comparison with diffusion and perfusion MRI." <u>Stroke</u>
35(4): 899-903.

Finnigan, S. P., M. Walsh, S. E. Rose and J. B. Chalk (2007). "Quantitative EEG indices of sub-acute ischaemic stroke correlate with clinical outcomes." <u>Clin Neurophysiol</u> **118**(11): 2525-2532.

Fletcher, L., S. Kohli, S. M. Sprague, R. A. Scranton, S. A. Lipton, A. Parra, D. F. Jimenez and M. Digicaylioglu (2009). "Intranasal delivery of erythropoietin plus insulin-like growth factor-I for acute neuroprotection in stroke. Laboratory investigation." <u>J Neurosurg</u> **111**(1): 164-170.

Foreman, B. and J. Claassen (2012). "Quantitative EEG for the detection of brain ischemia." <u>Crit Care</u> **16**(2): 216.

Fricker, M., A. M. Tolkovsky, V. Borutaite, M. Coleman and G. C. Brown (2018). "Neuronal Cell Death." <u>Physiol Rev</u> **98**(2): 813-880.

Frizzo, M. E., D. R. Lara, S. Prokopiuk Ade, C. R. Vargas, C. G. Salbego, M. Wajner and D. O. Souza (2002). "Guanosine enhances glutamate uptake in brain cortical slices at normal and excitotoxic conditions." <u>Cell Mol Neurobiol</u> **22**(3): 353-363.

Gallinat, J., D. Kunz, D. Senkowski, T. Kienast, F. Seifert, F. Schubert and A. Heinz (2006). "Hippocampal glutamate concentration predicts cerebral theta oscillations during cognitive processing." <u>Psychopharmacology (Berl)</u> **187**(1): 103-111.

Ganzella, M., E. D. de Oliveira, D. D. Comassetto, F. Cechetti, V. H. Cereser, Jr., J. D. Moreira, G. Hansel, R. F. Almeida, D. B. Ramos, Y. N. Figueredo, D. G. Souza, J. P. Oses, P. V. Worm, M. Achaval, C. A. Netto and D. O. Souza (2012). "Effects of chronic guanosine treatment on hippocampal damage and cognitive impairment of rats submitted to chronic cerebral hypoperfusion." Neurol Sci **33**(5): 985-997.

Gao, X., H. Zhang, G. Steinberg and H. Zhao (2010). "The Akt pathway is involved in rapid ischemic tolerance in focal ischemia in Rats." <u>Transl Stroke</u> <u>Res</u> **1**(3): 202-209.

Garbuzova-Davis, S., E. Haller, S. N. Williams, E. D. Haim, N. Tajiri, D. G. Hernandez-Ontiveros, A. Frisina-Deyo, S. M. Boffeli, P. R. Sanberg and C. V. Borlongan (2014). "Compromised blood-brain barrier competence in remote brain areas in ischemic stroke rats at the chronic stage." <u>J Comp Neurol</u> **522**(13): 3120-3137.

Garbuzova-Davis, S., M. C. Rodrigues, D. G. Hernandez-Ontiveros, N. Tajiri, A.
Frisina-Deyo, S. M. Boffeli, J. V. Abraham, M. Pabon, A. Wagner, H. Ishikawa,
K. Shinozuka, E. Haller, P. R. Sanberg, Y. Kaneko and C. V. Borlongan (2013).
"Blood-brain barrier alterations provide evidence of subacute diaschisis in an ischemic stroke rat model." <u>PLoS One</u> 8(5): e63553.

Giffard, R. G. and R. A. Swanson (2005). "Ischemia-induced programmed cell death in astrocytes." <u>Glia</u> **50**(4): 299-306.

Gloor, P., G. Ball and N. Schaul (1977). "Brain lesions that produce delta waves in the EEG." <u>Neurology</u> **27**(4): 326-333.

Goldstein, L. B. and D. L. Simel (2005). "Is this patient having a stroke?" <u>JAMA</u> **293**(19): 2391-2402.

Gorelick, P. B. (2019). "The global burden of stroke: persistent and disabling." <u>Lancet Neurol</u> **18**(5): 417-418.

Hajat, Z., N. Ahmad and J. Andrzejowski (2017). "The role and limitations of EEG-based depth of anaesthesia monitoring in theatres and intensive care." Anaesthesia **72 Suppl 1**: 38-47.

Hajnoczky, G., G. Csordas, S. Das, C. Garcia-Perez, M. Saotome, S. Sinha Roy and M. Yi (2006). "Mitochondrial calcium signalling and cell death: approaches for assessing the role of mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake in apoptosis." <u>Cell Calcium</u> **40**(5-6): 553-560. Hansel, G., D. B. Ramos, C. A. Delgado, D. G. Souza, R. F. Almeida, L. V. Portela, A. Quincozes-Santos and D. O. Souza (2014). "The potential therapeutic effect of guanosine after cortical focal ischemia in rats." <u>PLoS One</u> **9**(2): e90693.

Hansel, G., A. C. Tonon, F. L. Guella, L. F. Pettenuzzo, T. Duarte, M. Duarte, J.
P. Oses, M. Achaval and D. O. Souza (2015). "Guanosine Protects Against Cortical Focal Ischemia. Involvement of Inflammatory Response." <u>Mol Neurobiol</u> 52(3): 1791-1803.

Hengartner, M. O. (2000). "The biochemistry of apoptosis." <u>Nature</u> **407**(6805): 770-776.

Herrmann, M., P. Vos, M. T. Wunderlich, C. H. de Bruijn and K. J. Lamers (2000). "Release of glial tissue-specific proteins after acute stroke: A comparative analysis of serum concentrations of protein S-100B and glial fibrillary acidic protein." <u>Stroke</u> **31**(11): 2670-2677.

Hjort, N., O. Wu, M. Ashkanian, C. Solling, K. Mouridsen, S. Christensen, C. Gyldensted, G. Andersen and L. Ostergaard (2008). "MRI detection of early blood-brain barrier disruption: parenchymal enhancement predicts focal hemorrhagic transformation after thrombolysis." <u>Stroke</u> **39**(3): 1025-1028.

Hofmeijer, J., M. C. Tjepkema-Cloostermans and M. J. van Putten (2014). "Burst-suppression with identical bursts: a distinct EEG pattern with poor outcome in postanoxic coma." <u>Clin Neurophysiol</u> **125**(5): 947-954.

Huang, Z., W. Dong, Y. Yan, Q. Xiao and Y. Man (2002). "Effects of intravenous mannitol on EEG recordings in stroke patients." <u>Clin Neurophysiol</u> **113**(3): 446-453.

Jin, Q., Y. Cai, S. Li, H. Liu, X. Zhou, C. Lu, X. Gao, J. Qian, J. Zhang, S. Ju and C. Li (2017). "Edaravone-Encapsulated Agonistic Micelles Rescue Ischemic Brain Tissue by Tuning Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability." <u>Theranostics</u> **7**(4): 884-898.

Jin, R., Z. Song, S. Yu, A. Piazza, A. Nanda, J. M. Penninger, D. N. Granger and G. Li (2011). "Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase gamma plays a central role in blood-brain barrier dysfunction in acute experimental stroke." <u>Stroke</u> **42**(7): 2033-2044.

Jordan, K. G. (2004). "Emergency EEG and continuous EEG monitoring in acute ischemic stroke." <u>J Clin Neurophysiol</u> **21**(5): 341-352.

Kahana, M. J. (2006). "The cognitive correlates of human brain oscillations." <u>J</u> <u>Neurosci</u> **26**(6): 1669-1672.

Kaji, R. (2019). "Global burden of neurological diseases highlights stroke." <u>Nat</u> <u>Rev Neurol</u> **15**(7): 371-372.

Katan, M. and A. Luft (2018). "Global Burden of Stroke." <u>Semin Neurol</u> **38**(2): 208-211.

Kim, J. S., L. He, T. Qian and J. J. Lemasters (2003). "Role of the mitochondrial permeability transition in apoptotic and necrotic death after ischemia/reperfusion injury to hepatocytes." <u>Curr Mol Med</u> **3**(6): 527-535.

Kothari, R., K. Hall, T. Brott and J. Broderick (1997). "Early stroke recognition: developing an out-of-hospital NIH Stroke Scale." <u>Acad Emerg Med</u> **4**(10): 986-990.

Kuroiwa, T., P. Ting, H. Martinez and I. Klatzo (1985). "The biphasic opening of the blood-brain barrier to proteins following temporary middle cerebral artery occlusion." Acta Neuropathol **68**(2): 122-129.

Lai, T. W., S. Zhang and Y. T. Wang (2014). "Excitotoxicity and stroke: identifying novel targets for neuroprotection." <u>Prog Neurobiol</u> **115**: 157-188. Laman, D. M., G. H. Wieneke, H. van Duijn, R. J. Veldhuizen and A. C. van Huffelen (2005). "QEEG changes during carotid clamping in carotid endarterectomy: spectral edge frequency parameters and relative band power parameters." <u>J Clin Neurophysiol</u> **22**(4): 244-252.

Lanznaster, D., T. Dal-Cim, T. C. Piermartiri and C. I. Tasca (2016). "Guanosine: a Neuromodulator with Therapeutic Potential in Brain Disorders." <u>Aging Dis</u> **7**(5): 657-679.

Lanznaster, D., C. M. Massari, V. Markova, T. Simkova, R. Duroux, K. A. Jacobson, V. Fernandez-Duenas, C. I. Tasca and F. Ciruela (2019). "Adenosine A1-A2A Receptor-Receptor Interaction: Contribution to Guanosine-Mediated Effects." <u>Cells</u> **8**(12).

Lara, D. R., A. P. Schmidt, M. E. Frizzo, J. S. Burgos, G. Ramirez and D. O. Souza (2001). "Effect of orally administered guanosine on seizures and death induced by glutamatergic agents." <u>Brain Res</u> **912**(2): 176-180.

Leung, A. W. and A. P. Halestrap (2008). "Recent progress in elucidating the molecular mechanism of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore." Biochim Biophys Acta **1777**(7-8): 946-952.

Li, D. W., M. Yao, Y. H. Dong, M. N. Tang, W. Chen, G. R. Li and B. Q. Sun (2014). "Guanosine exerts neuroprotective effects by reversing mitochondrial dysfunction in a cellular model of Parkinson's disease." <u>Int J Mol Med</u> **34**(5): 1358-1364.

Li, L., A. Lundkvist, D. Andersson, U. Wilhelmsson, N. Nagai, A. C. Pardo, C. Nodin, A. Stahlberg, K. Aprico, K. Larsson, T. Yabe, L. Moons, A.

Fotheringham, I. Davies, P. Carmeliet, J. P. Schwartz, M. Pekna, M. Kubista, F. Blomstrand, N. Maragakis, M. Nilsson and M. Pekny (2008). "Protective role of reactive astrocytes in brain ischemia." <u>J Cereb Blood Flow Metab</u> **28**(3): 468-481.

Liebner, S., R. M. Dijkhuizen, Y. Reiss, K. H. Plate, D. Agalliu and G. Constantin (2018). "Functional morphology of the blood-brain barrier in health and disease." <u>Acta Neuropathol</u> **135**(3): 311-336.

Lipton, P. (1999). "Ischemic cell death in brain neurons." <u>Physiol Rev</u> **79**(4): 1431-1568.

Liu, F., K. Huang and X. Lu (2019). "Lifetime Risk of Stroke in the Global Burden of Disease Study." N Engl J Med **380**(14): 1377.

Liu, F., J. Lu, A. Manaenko, J. Tang and Q. Hu (2018). "Mitochondria in Ischemic Stroke: New Insight and Implications." <u>Aging Dis</u> **9**(5): 924-937.

Liu, Z. and M. Chopp (2016). "Astrocytes, therapeutic targets for neuroprotection and neurorestoration in ischemic stroke." <u>Prog Neurobiol</u> **144**: 103-120.

Llovera, G., K. Hofmann, S. Roth, A. Salas-Perdomo, M. Ferrer-Ferrer, C. Perego, E. R. Zanier, U. Mamrak, A. Rex, H. Party, V. Agin, C. Fauchon, C. Orset, B. Haelewyn, M. G. De Simoni, U. Dirnagl, U. Grittner, A. M. Planas, N. Plesnila, D. Vivien and A. Liesz (2015). "Results of a preclinical randomized controlled multicenter trial (pRCT): Anti-CD49d treatment for acute brain ischemia." <u>Sci Transl Med</u> **7**(299): 299ra121.

Lo, E. H. (2008). "A new penumbra: transitioning from injury into repair after stroke." <u>Nat Med</u> **14**(5): 497-500.

Lochhead, J. J. and R. G. Thorne (2012). "Intranasal delivery of biologics to the central nervous system." <u>Adv Drug Deliv Rev</u> **64**(7): 614-628.

Lopez-Ramirez, M. A., R. Fischer, C. C. Torres-Badillo, H. A. Davies, K. Logan, K. Pfizenmaier, D. K. Male, B. Sharrack and I. A. Romero (2012). "Role of caspases in cytokine-induced barrier breakdown in human brain endothelial cells." J Immunol **189**(6): 3130-3139.

Ma, H., B. C. V. Campbell, M. W. Parsons, L. Churilov, C. R. Levi, C. Hsu, T. J.
Kleinig, T. Wijeratne, S. Curtze, H. M. Dewey, F. Miteff, C. H. Tsai, J. T. Lee, T.
G. Phan, N. Mahant, M. C. Sun, M. Krause, J. Sturm, R. Grimley, C. H. Chen,
C. J. Hu, A. A. Wong, D. Field, Y. Sun, P. A. Barber, A. Sabet, J. Jannes, J. S.
Jeng, B. Clissold, R. Markus, C. H. Lin, L. M. Lien, C. F. Bladin, S. Christensen,
N. Yassi, G. Sharma, A. Bivard, P. M. Desmond, B. Yan, P. J. Mitchell, V. Thijs,
L. Carey, A. Meretoja, S. M. Davis, G. A. Donnan and E. Investigators (2019).
"Thrombolysis Guided by Perfusion Imaging up to 9 Hours after Onset of
Stroke." <u>N Engl J Med</u> 380(19): 1795-1803.

Ma, Y. P., M. M. Ma, S. M. Cheng, H. H. Ma, X. M. Yi, G. L. Xu and X. F. Liu (2008). "Intranasal bFGF-induced progenitor cell proliferation and neuroprotection after transient focal cerebral ischemia." <u>Neurosci Lett</u> **437**(2): 93-97.

Marks, M. P., E. B. Holmgren, A. J. Fox, S. Patel, R. von Kummer and J. Froehlich (1999). "Evaluation of early computed tomographic findings in acute ischemic stroke." <u>Stroke</u> **30**(2): 389-392.

Martins, S. C., O. M. Pontes-Neto, C. V. Alves, G. R. de Freitas, J. O. Filho, E. D. Tosta, N. L. Cabral and N. Brazilian Stroke (2013). "Past, present, and future

of stroke in middle-income countries: the Brazilian experience." <u>Int J Stroke</u> **8 Suppl A100**: 106-111.

Martins, S. O., F. Mont'Alverne, L. C. Rebello, D. G. Abud, G. S. Silva, F. O. Lima, B. S. M. Parente, G. S. Nakiri, M. B. Faria, M. E. Frudit, J. J. F. de Carvalho, E. Waihrich, J. A. Fiorot, Jr., F. B. Cardoso, R. C. T. Hidalgo, V. F. Zetola, F. M. Carvalho, A. C. de Souza, F. A. Dias, D. Bandeira, M. Miranda Alves, M. B. Wagner, L. A. Carbonera, J. Oliveira-Filho, D. C. Bezerra, D. S. Liebeskind, J. Broderick, C. A. Molina, J. E. Fogolin Passos, J. L. Saver, O. M. Pontes-Neto, R. G. Nogueira and R. Investigators (2020). "Thrombectomy for Stroke in the Public Health Care System of Brazil." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **382**(24): 2316-2326.

Massari, C. M., M. Lopez-Cano, F. Nunez, V. Fernandez-Duenas, C. I. Tasca and F. Ciruela (2017). "Antiparkinsonian Efficacy of Guanosine in Rodent Models of Movement Disorder." <u>Front Pharmacol</u> **8**: 700.

Mazya, M., J. A. Egido, G. A. Ford, K. R. Lees, R. Mikulik, D. Toni, N. Wahlgren, N. Ahmed and S. Investigators (2012). "Predicting the risk of symptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage in ischemic stroke treated with intravenous alteplase: safe Implementation of Treatments in Stroke (SITS) symptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage risk score." <u>Stroke</u> **43**(6): 1524-1531.

Mokin, M., E. I. Levy, J. L. Saver, A. H. Siddiqui, M. Goyal, A. Bonafe, C. Cognard, R. Jahan, G. W. Albers and S. P. Investigators (2017). "Predictive Value of RAPID Assessed Perfusion Thresholds on Final Infarct Volume in SWIFT PRIME (Solitaire With the Intention for Thrombectomy as Primary Endovascular Treatment)." <u>Stroke</u> **48**(4): 932-938.

Molz, S., T. Dal-Cim, J. Budni, M. D. Martin-de-Saavedra, J. Egea, A. Romero, L. del Barrio, A. L. Rodrigues, M. G. Lopez and C. I. Tasca (2011). "Neuroprotective effect of guanosine against glutamate-induced cell death in rat hippocampal slices is mediated by the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/Akt/ glycogen synthase kinase 3beta pathway activation and inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibition." J Neurosci Res **89**(9): 1400-1408.

Muresanu, D. F., A. Sharma, R. Patnaik, P. K. Menon, H. Mossler and H. S. Sharma (2019). "Exacerbation of blood-brain barrier breakdown, edema formation, nitric oxide synthase upregulation and brain pathology after heat stroke in diabetic and hypertensive rats. Potential neuroprotection with cerebrolysin treatment." Int Rev Neurobiol **146**: 83-102.

Myint, P. K., E. F. Staufenberg and K. Sabanathan (2006). "Post-stroke seizure and post-stroke epilepsy." <u>Postgrad Med J</u> **82**(971): 568-572.

Nedergaard, M. and U. Dirnagl (2005). "Role of glial cells in cerebral ischemia." <u>Glia</u> **50**(4): 281-286.

Noshita, N., A. Lewen, T. Sugawara and P. H. Chan (2001). "Evidence of phosphorylation of Akt and neuronal survival after transient focal cerebral ischemia in mice." <u>J Cereb Blood Flow Metab</u> **21**(12): 1442-1450.

Nuwer, M. R., S. E. Jordan and S. S. Ahn (1987). "Evaluation of stroke using EEG frequency analysis and topographic mapping." <u>Neurology</u> **37**(7): 1153-1159.

Paniz, L. G., M. E. Calcagnotto, P. Pandolfo, D. G. Machado, G. F. Santos, G.
Hansel, R. F. Almeida, R. S. Bruch, L. M. Brum, F. V. Torres, A. M. de Assis, E.
P. Rico and D. O. Souza (2014). "Neuroprotective effects of guanosine administration on behavioral, brain activity, neurochemical and redox

parameters in a rat model of chronic hepatic encephalopathy." <u>Metab Brain Dis</u> **29**(3): 645-654.

Patience, M. J., I. Zouikr, K. Jones, A. N. Clarkson, J. Isgaard, S. J. Johnson, F. R. Walker and M. Nilsson (2015). "Photothrombotic stroke induces persistent ipsilateral and contralateral astrogliosis in key cognitive control nuclei." Neurochem Res **40**(2): 362-371.

Pekny, M., U. Wilhelmsson and M. Pekna (2014). "The dual role of astrocyte activation and reactive gliosis." <u>Neurosci Lett</u> **565**: 30-38.

Pisani, A., P. Bonsi and P. Calabresi (2004). "Calcium signaling and neuronal vulnerability to ischemia in the striatum." Cell Calcium **36**(3-4): 277-284.

Powers, W. J., A. A. Rabinstein, T. Ackerson, O. M. Adeoye, N. C. Bambakidis, K. Becker, J. Biller, M. Brown, B. M. Demaerschalk, B. Hoh, E. C. Jauch, C. S. Kidwell, T. M. Leslie-Mazwi, B. Ovbiagele, P. A. Scott, K. N. Sheth, A. M. Southerland, D. V. Summers and D. L. Tirschwell (2019). "Guidelines for the Early Management of Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke: 2019 Update to the 2018 Guidelines for the Early Management of Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Guideline for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association." Stroke **50**(12): e344-e418.

Qian, H., Z. Dou, W. Ruan, P. He, J. H. Zhang and F. Yan (2018). "ErbB4 Preserves Blood-Brain Barrier Integrity via the YAP/PIK3CB Pathway After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Rats." Front Neurosci **12**: 492.

Rabiller, G., J. W. He, Y. Nishijima, A. Wong and J. Liu (2015). "Perturbation of Brain Oscillations after Ischemic Stroke: A Potential Biomarker for Post-Stroke Function and Therapy." <u>Int J Mol Sci</u> **16**(10): 25605-25640.

Radak, D., N. Katsiki, I. Resanovic, A. Jovanovic, E. Sudar-Milovanovic, S. Zafirovic, S. A. Mousad and E. R. Isenovic (2017). "Apoptosis and Acute Brain Ischemia in Ischemic Stroke." <u>Curr Vasc Pharmacol</u> **15**(2): 115-122.

Ramos, D. B., G. C. Muller, G. B. Rocha, G. H. Dellavia, R. F. Almeida, L. F. Pettenuzzo, S. O. Loureiro, G. Hansel, A. C. Horn, D. O. Souza and M. Ganzella (2016). "Intranasal guanosine administration presents a wide therapeutic time window to reduce brain damage induced by permanent ischemia in rats." <u>Purinergic Signal</u> **12**(1): 149-159.

Rathbone, M., L. Pilutti, F. Caciagli and S. Jiang (2008). "Neurotrophic effects of extracellular guanosine." <u>Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids</u> **27**(6): 666-672.

Rathbone, M. P., T. M. Saleh, B. J. Connell, R. Chang, C. Su, B. Worley, M. Kim and S. Jiang (2011). "Systemic administration of guanosine promotes functional and histological improvement following an ischemic stroke in rats." <u>Brain Res</u> **1407**: 79-89.

Rhim, T., D. Y. Lee and M. Lee (2013). "Drug delivery systems for the treatment of ischemic stroke." Pharm Res **30**(10): 2429-2444.

Saunders, N. R., K. M. Dziegielewska, K. Mollgard and M. D. Habgood (2015). "Markers for blood-brain barrier integrity: how appropriate is Evans blue in the twenty-first century and what are the alternatives?" <u>Front Neurosci</u> **9**: 385.

Schmidt-Kastner, R., W. Paschen, B. G. Ophoff and K. A. Hossmann (1989). "A modified four-vessel occlusion model for inducing incomplete forebrain ischemia in rats." <u>Stroke</u> **20**(7): 938-946.

Schmidt, A. P., L. Paniz, C. Schallenberger, A. E. Bohmer, S. T. Wofchuk, E. Elisabetsky, L. V. Portela and D. O. Souza (2010). "Guanosine prevents thermal

hyperalgesia in a rat model of peripheral mononeuropathy." <u>J Pain</u> **11**(2): 131-141.

Schmidt, A. P., A. B. Tort, D. O. Souza and D. R. Lara (2008). "Guanosine and its modulatory effects on the glutamatergic system." <u>Eur</u> <u>Neuropsychopharmacol</u> **18**(8): 620-622.

Schomer, D. L. and F. H. Lopes da Silva (2017). <u>Niedermeyer's</u> <u>ElectroencephalographyBasic Principles, Clinical Applications, and Related</u> <u>Fields: Basic Principles, Clinical Applications, and Related Fields</u>, Oxford University Press.

Schulz, J. B., M. Weller and M. A. Moskowitz (1999). "Caspases as treatment targets in stroke and neurodegenerative diseases." <u>Ann Neurol</u> **45**(4): 421-429. Schwartzman, R. A. and J. A. Cidlowski (1993). "Apoptosis: the biochemistry and molecular biology of programmed cell death." <u>Endocr Rev</u> **14**(2): 133-151. Sheorajpanday, R. V., G. Nagels, A. J. Weeren and P. P. De Deyn (2011). "Quantitative EEG in ischemic stroke: correlation with infarct volume and functional status in posterior circulation and lacunar syndromes." <u>Clin</u> Neurophysiol **122**(5): 884-890.

Sheorajpanday, R. V., G. Nagels, A. J. Weeren, D. De Surgeloose and P. P. De Deyn (2010). "Additional value of quantitative EEG in acute anterior circulation syndrome of presumed ischemic origin." <u>Clin Neurophysiol</u> **121**(10): 1719-1725. Sheorajpanday, R. V., G. Nagels, A. J. Weeren, M. J. van Putten and P. P. De Deyn (2009). "Reproducibility and clinical relevance of quantitative EEG parameters in cerebral ischemia: a basic approach." <u>Clin Neurophysiol</u> **120**(5): 845-855.

Sheorajpanday, R. V., G. Nagels, A. J. Weeren, M. J. van Putten and P. P. De Deyn (2011). "Quantitative EEG in ischemic stroke: correlation with functional status after 6 months." <u>Clin Neurophysiol</u> **122**(5): 874-883.

Sifat, A. E., B. Vaidya and T. J. Abbruscato (2017). "Blood-Brain Barrier Protection as a Therapeutic Strategy for Acute Ischemic Stroke." <u>AAPS J</u> **19**(4): 957-972.

Silver, J. and J. H. Miller (2004). "Regeneration beyond the glial scar." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Neurosci</u> **5**(2): 146-156.

Szabadkai, G. and M. R. Duchen (2008). "Mitochondria: the hub of cellular Ca2+ signaling." <u>Physiology (Bethesda)</u> **23**: 84-94.

Takatsuru, Y., J. Nabekura and N. Koibuchi (2014). "Contribution of neuronal and glial circuit in intact hemisphere for functional remodeling after focal ischemia." <u>Neurosci Res</u> **78**: 38-44.

Takatsuru, Y., K. Nakamura and J. Nabekura (2013). "Compensatory contribution of the contralateral pyramidal tract after experimental cerebral ischemia." Front Neurol Neurosci **32**: 36-44.

Taliyan, R. and S. Ramagiri (2016). "Delayed neuroprotection against cerebral ischemia reperfusion injury: putative role of BDNF and GSK-3beta." <u>J Recept</u> <u>Signal Transduct Res</u> **36**(4): 402-410.

Tan, T. W., M. Garcia-Toca, E. J. Marcaccio, Jr., W. I. Carney, Jr., J. T. Machan and J. M. Slaiby (2009). "Predictors of shunt during carotid endarterectomy with routine electroencephalography monitoring." <u>J Vasc Surg</u> **49**(6): 1374-1378.

Tasca, C. I., D. Lanznaster, K. A. Oliveira, V. Fernandez-Duenas and F. Ciruela (2018). "Neuromodulatory Effects of Guanine-Based Purines in Health and Disease." Front Cell Neurosci **12**: 376.

Thomalla, G., C. Z. Simonsen, F. Boutitie, G. Andersen, Y. Berthezene, B. Cheng, B. Cheripelli, T. H. Cho, F. Fazekas, J. Fiehler, I. Ford, I. Galinovic, S. Gellissen, A. Golsari, J. Gregori, M. Gunther, J. Guibernau, K. G. Hausler, M. Hennerici, A. Kemmling, J. Marstrand, B. Modrau, L. Neeb, N. Perez de la Ossa, J. Puig, P. Ringleb, P. Roy, E. Scheel, W. Schonewille, J. Serena, S. Sunaert, K. Villringer, A. Wouters, V. Thijs, M. Ebinger, M. Endres, J. B. Fiebach, R. Lemmens, K. W. Muir, N. Nighoghossian, S. Pedraza, C. Gerloff and W.-U. Investigators (2018). "MRI-Guided Thrombolysis for Stroke with Unknown Time of Onset." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **379**(7): 611-622.

Thomaz, D. T., T. A. Dal-Cim, W. C. Martins, M. P. Cunha, D. Lanznaster, A. F. de Bem and C. I. Tasca (2016). "Guanosine prevents nitroxidative stress and recovers mitochondrial membrane potential disruption in hippocampal slices subjected to oxygen/glucose deprivation." <u>Purinergic Signal</u> **12**(4): 707-718.

Thomazi, A. P., B. Boff, T. D. Pires, G. Godinho, C. E. Battu, C. Gottfried, D. O. Souza, C. Salbego and S. T. Wofchuk (2008). "Profile of glutamate uptake and cellular viability in hippocampal slices exposed to oxygen and glucose deprivation: developmental aspects and protection by guanosine." <u>Brain Res</u> **1188**: 233-240.

Thomazi, A. P., G. F. Godinho, J. M. Rodrigues, F. D. Schwalm, M. E. Frizzo, E. Moriguchi, D. O. Souza and S. T. Wofchuk (2004). "Ontogenetic profile of glutamate uptake in brain structures slices from rats: sensitivity to guanosine." <u>Mech Ageing Dev</u> **125**(7): 475-481.

Tornabene, E., H. C. C. Helms, S. F. Pedersen and B. Brodin (2019). "Effects of oxygen-glucose deprivation (OGD) on barrier properties and mRNA transcript

levels of selected marker proteins in brain endothelial cells/astrocyte cocultures." <u>PLoS One</u> **14**(8): e0221103.

Torres, F. V., M. da Silva Filho, C. Antunes, E. Kalinine, E. Antoniolli, L. V. Portela, D. O. Souza and A. B. Tort (2010). "Electrophysiological effects of guanosine and MK-801 in a quinolinic acid-induced seizure model." <u>Exp Neurol</u> **221**(2): 296-306.

Tort, A. B., C. E. Mantese, G. M. dos Anjos, M. O. Dietrich, O. P. Dall'Igna, D. O. Souza and D. R. Lara (2004). "Guanosine selectively inhibits locomotor stimulation induced by the NMDA antagonist dizocilpine." <u>Behav Brain Res</u> **154**(2): 417-422.

Truelsen, T., L. H. Krarup, H. K. Iversen, G. A. Mensah, V. L. Feigin, L. A. Sposato and M. Naghavi (2015). "Causes of Death Data in the Global Burden of Disease Estimates for Ischemic and Hemorrhagic Stroke." <u>Neuroepidemiology</u> **45**(3): 152-160.

Tsurukiri, J., T. Ota, H. Jimbo, E. Okumura, K. Shigeta, T. Amano, M. Ueda, Y. Matsumaru, Y. Shiokawa and T. Hirano (2019). "Thrombectomy for Stroke at 6-24 hours without Perfusion CT Software for Patient Selection." <u>J Stroke</u> Cerebrovasc Dis **28**(3): 774-781.

Turner, R. J. and F. R. Sharp (2016). "Implications of MMP9 for Blood Brain Barrier Disruption and Hemorrhagic Transformation Following Ischemic Stroke." <u>Front Cell Neurosci</u> **10**: 56.

Uzdensky, A. B. (2019). "Apoptosis regulation in the penumbra after ischemic stroke: expression of pro- and antiapoptotic proteins." <u>Apoptosis</u> **24**(9-10): 687-702.

van Vugt, M. K., P. B. Sederberg and M. J. Kahana (2007). "Comparison of spectral analysis methods for characterizing brain oscillations." <u>J Neurosci Methods</u> **162**(1-2): 49-63.

Vazana, U., R. Veksler, G. S. Pell, O. Prager, M. Fassler, Y. Chassidim, Y.
Roth, H. Shahar, A. Zangen, R. Raccah, E. Onesti, M. Ceccanti, C. Colonnese,
A. Santoro, M. Salvati, A. D'Elia, V. Nucciarelli, M. Inghilleri and A. Friedman
(2016). "Glutamate-Mediated Blood-Brain Barrier Opening: Implications for
Neuroprotection and Drug Delivery." <u>J Neurosci</u> **36**(29): 7727-7739.

Vinny, P. W., V. Y. Vishnu and M. V. P. Srivastava (2018). "Thrombectomy for Stroke with Selection by Perfusion Imaging." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **378**(19): 1849.

Wang, Z. L., S. M. Cheng, M. M. Ma, Y. P. Ma, J. P. Yang, G. L. Xu and X. F. Liu (2008). "Intranasally delivered bFGF enhances neurogenesis in adult rats following cerebral ischemia." <u>Neurosci Lett</u> **446**(1): 30-35.

Weier, K., F. Fluri, S. Kos and A. Gass (2009). "Postcontrast flair MRI demonstrates blood-brain barrier dysfunction in PRES." <u>Neurology</u> **72**(8): 760-762.

Wetherington, J., G. Serrano and R. Dingledine (2008). "Astrocytes in the epileptic brain." <u>Neuron</u> **58**(2): 168-178.

Wood, H. (2018). "Stroke: Expanding the thrombectomy time window after stroke." <u>Nat Rev Neurol</u> **14**(3): 128.

Wu, X., C. E. Reiter, D. A. Antonetti, S. R. Kimball, L. S. Jefferson and T. W. Gardner (2004). "Insulin promotes rat retinal neuronal cell survival in a p70S6K-dependent manner." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **279**(10): 9167-9175.

Wunderlich, M. T., C. W. Wallesch and M. Goertler (2006). "Release of glial fibrillary acidic protein is related to the neurovascular status in acute ischemic stroke." <u>Eur J Neurol</u> **13**(10): 1118-1123.

Yang, S., K. Liu, H. Ding, H. Gao, X. Zheng, Z. Ding, K. Xu and P. Li (2019). "Longitudinal in vivo intrinsic optical imaging of cortical blood perfusion and tissue damage in focal photothrombosis stroke model." <u>J Cereb Blood Flow</u> <u>Metab</u> **39**(7): 1381-1393.

Yang, Y. and G. A. Rosenberg (2011). "Blood-brain barrier breakdown in acute and chronic cerebrovascular disease." <u>Stroke</u> **42**(11): 3323-3328.

Zehendner, C. M., L. Librizzi, M. de Curtis, C. R. Kuhlmann and H. J. Luhmann (2011). "Caspase-3 contributes to ZO-1 and CI-5 tight-junction disruption in rapid anoxic neurovascular unit damage." <u>PLoS One</u> **6**(2): e16760.

Zhang, Z. G. and M. Chopp (2009). "Neurorestorative therapies for stroke: underlying mechanisms and translation to the clinic." <u>Lancet Neurol</u> **8**(5): 491-500.

Zhao, H., R. M. Sapolsky and G. K. Steinberg (2006). "Phosphoinositide-3kinase/akt survival signal pathways are implicated in neuronal survival after stroke." <u>Mol Neurobiol</u> **34**(3): 249-270.

Zhao, H. L. and Y. Huang (2019). "Lifetime Risk of Stroke in the Global Burden of Disease Study." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **380**(14): 1377-1378.

Zhao, J., H. Zhao, R. Li, J. Li, C. Liu, J. Lv, Y. Li, W. Liu, D. Ma, H. Hao, X. Xiao, J. Liu, Y. Yin, R. Liu, Q. Yu, Y. Wei, P. Li, Y. Wang and R. Wang (2019). "Outcome of multimodal MRI-guided intravenous thrombolysis in patients with stroke with unknown time of onset." <u>Stroke Vasc Neurol</u> **4**(1): 3-7. Zille, M., T. D. Farr, I. Przesdzing, J. Muller, C. Sommer, U. Dirnagl and A. Wunder (2012). "Visualizing cell death in experimental focal cerebral ischemia: promises, problems, and perspectives." <u>J Cereb Blood Flow Metab</u> **32**(2): 213-231.

Zivin, J. A. (1998). "Factors determining the therapeutic window for stroke." <u>Neurology</u> **50**(3): 599-603.

ANEXOS

1. Artigo publicado na revista Purinergic Signalling:

Intranasal guanosine administration presents a wide therapeutic time window to reduce brain damage induced by permanent ischemia in rats ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Intranasal guanosine administration presents a wide therapeutic time window to reduce brain damage induced by permanent ischemia in rats

Denise Barbosa Ramos¹ · Gabriel Cardozo Muller¹ · Guilherme Botter Maio Rocha¹ · Gustavo Hirata Dellavia¹ · Roberto Farina Almeida¹ · Leticia Ferreira Pettenuzzo¹ · Samanta Oliveira Loureiro¹ · Gisele Hansel¹ · Ângelo Cássio Magalhães Horn² · Diogo Onofre Souza¹ · Marcelo Ganzella^{1,3}

Received: 20 August 2015 / Accepted: 10 December 2015 © Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht 2015

Abstract In addition to its intracellular roles, the nucleoside guanosine (GUO) also has extracellular effects that identify it as a putative neuromodulator signaling molecule in the central nervous system. Indeed, GUO can modulate glutamatergic neurotransmission, and it can promote neuroprotective effects in animal models involving glutamate neurotoxicity, which is the case in brain ischemia. In the present study, we aimed to investigate a new in vivo GUO administration route (intranasal, IN) to determine putative improvement of GUO neuroprotective effects against an experimental model of permanent focal

Denise Barbosa Ramos and Gabriel Cardozo Muller contributed equally as first authors.

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s11302-015-9489-9) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Marcelo Ganzella ganzellam@gmail.com

> Denise Barbosa Ramos denibaramos@yahoo.com.br

> Gabriel Cardozo Muller mullergabriel94@gmail.com

Guilherme Botter Maio Rocha guilhermebmrocha@gmail.com

Gustavo Hirata Dellavia hirata.dellavia@ufrgs.br

Roberto Farina Almeida almeida rf@yahoo.com.br

Leticia Ferreira Pettenuzzo leticiapettenuzzo@gmail.com

Samanta Oliveira Loureiro dasamanta@yahoo.com.br

cerebral ischemia. Initially, we demonstrated that IN [³H] GUO administration reached the brain in a dose-dependent and saturable pattern in as few as 5 min, presenting a higher cerebrospinal GUO level compared with systemic administration. IN GUO treatment started immediately or even 3 h after ischemia onset prevented behavior impairment. The behavior recovery was not correlated to decreased brain infarct volume, but it was correlated to reduced mitochondrial dysfunction in the penumbra area. Therefore, we showed that the IN route is an efficient way to promptly deliver GUO to the CNS and that IN GUO

Gisele Hansel gihansel@gmail.com

Ângelo Cássio Magalhães Horn angelo.horn@poa.ifrs.edu.br

Diogo Onofre Souza diogo@ufrgs.br

- ¹ Departamento de Bioquímica, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Rua Ramiro Barcelos, 2600 – anexo, Santana, 90035-003 Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil
- ² Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Rio Grande do Sul, IFRS, Campus Porto Alegre, Rua Ramiro Barcelos, 2777, Santana, 90035-007 Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil
- ³ Now at: Neurobiology Department, Max Planck Institute for Biophysical Chemistry, Am Fassberg 11, 37077 Göttingen, Germany

treatment prevented behavioral and brain impairment caused by ischemia in a therapeutically wide time window.

Keywords Guanosine · Intranasal · Purines · Ischemia · Neuroprotection

Introduction

Guanine-based purines (GBPs), specifically the nucleoside guanosine (GUO) and the nucleotides guanosine-5'-mono-, di-, and triphosphate (GMP, GDP, and GTP, respectively), are endogenous molecules and members of the purinergic system, which are known to participate in several intracellular processes. In the central nervous system (CNS), in addition to their intracellular roles, GBPs present extracellular effects that suggest they are putative neuromodulator signaling molecules [1]. Indeed, GBPs can modulate neurotransmitter systems, particularly glutamatergic neurotransmission. Specifically, the nucleoside GUO has been shown to stimulate astrocytic glutamate (GLU) uptake [2, 3] and to inhibit GLU vesicular storage [4], thus modulating glutamatergic synaptic transmission. As GLU is the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the CNS, and excessive GLU signaling (excitotoxicity) is involved with several brain diseases [5, 6], the neuroprotective potential of GUO against excitotoxicity has been investigated. Accordingly, the exogenous administration of GUO has shown neuroprotective effects on CNS injury in several animal models linked to excitotoxicity events, including models of dementia [7], seizures [8, 9], neuropathic pain [10], stroke [11–15], and hepatic encephalopathy [16].

Although modulatory and neuroprotective potentials of GUO were strongly demonstrated, GUO mechanism of action is not fully understood. A putative binding site for GUO was already described in rat brain membranes [17], but in opposite, several evidences point to an adenosine (ADO) receptors contribution for GUO effects. Indeed, some, but not all of the observed neuroprotective effects of GUO, were blocked by ADO receptor antagonists, suggesting multiple mechanisms of action for GUO [18-22]. Certainly, GUO effects seem to be directly mediated by action on the brain, as intracerebroventricular or intracortical GUO infusion in experimental models of excitotoxicity have demonstrated neuroprotection [8, 13]. Nevertheless, most of the neuroprotective effects exerted by GUO were observed after its systemic (intraperitoneal [IP] or oral) administration [7, 9–16]. In this regard, systemic administration routes present important limitations for protocols with endogenous drugs that aim to reach the brain but can be metabolized in the systemic pathway, which is the case for GUO. GUO can be enzymatically degraded to guanine both extra- and intracellularly and subsequently reduced to xanthine (XAN) and uric acid (UA). Moreover, the interconversion among guanine- and adenine-based purines, such as ADO and its derivatives inosine (INO) and hypoxanthine (HYPO), plays an important role in maintaining purine homeostasis [23, 24]. Therefore, a long systemic pathway could decrease the amount of GUO that reaches the brain by metabolization and/or uptake, consequently decreasing the effectiveness of the administered dose [25, 26].

An intranasal (IN) route of administration appears to be a relevant alternative for delivering compounds to the CNS. Several works have demonstrated transport of macromolecules across the nasal epithelia, sometimes faster and higher than the conventional intravascular pathway [27-31]. Currently, it is thought that substances that are able to cross the nasal epithelial barrier can reach the brain through components associated with the olfactory and trigeminal nerves after IN administration. Subsequently, they are rapidly distributed throughout the brain by convective perivascular space flow. Hence, the IN route of administration may be a particularly attractive drug delivery method to manage cerebrovascular diseases, such as stroke [27, 28]. Accordingly, therapeutic proteins and other molecules were delivered to ischemic brains, suggesting that IN administration is clearly a promising route for stroke therapy [29-31]. Thus, IN GUO administration could offer a potential means of improved delivery to the brain.

Recently, we have shown neuroprotective effects of IP treatment with GUO early after permanent focal cerebral ischemia [11, 12], which caused a significant and long-lasting recovery of the impaired behavioral function and decreased the extension of brain infarct volume. These effects were related to modulation of the glutamatergic system, cellular redox environment, and inflammatory cytokine balance in the penumbra area (periphery of lesion), the main presumptive site of endogenous restorative processes and, thus, of the therapeutic target site. Like the conventional drugs to manage stroke, IP GUO was shown to be effective when administered immediately after the induction of experimental brain ischemia [11, 12].

Taken together, in the present work, we aimed to investigate the neuroprotective potential of IN GUO following brain ischemia as an alternative strategy to avoid GUO metabolization and compromised blood circulation as a consequence of ischemia. Thus, we induced a permanent focal cerebral ischemia in rats searching for a therapeutic time window for IN GUO treatment. Preliminarily, we evaluated pharmacokinetic parameters of IN GUO administration and compared them with an IP route using radiolabeled [³H] GUO administration and purine levels determination in brain structures, blood plasma, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF).

Materials and methods

Chemicals

GUO, acetonitrile (ACN), trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), and methyl triphenyl tetrazolium chloride (TTC) were purchased
from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). Methacrylate resin was from Leica[®], and methylene blue was obtained from Merck[®]. [³H] GUO (specific activity 15 Ci/mmol) was obtained from American Radiolabeled Chemicals (St. Louis, MO, USA). The anesthetic ketamine hydrochloride and xylazine were obtained from Syntec Brazil (Cotia, SP, Brazil). All other chemicals were of analytical grade and obtained from standard suppliers.

Animals

One hundred fifty adult male Wistar rats (60–90 days old) were obtained from the animal facility house of the Department of Biochemistry, ICBS, UFRGS. The animals were kept under a 12-h light/dark cycle (light on at 7:00 am) at a temperature of $22\pm1^{\circ}$ C. They were housed in plastic cages (five per cage) with water and commercial food available ad libitum. The animals were anesthetized by IP administration of both ketamine hydrochloride (50 mg/kg) and methyl xylazine (10 mg/kg). The IP injection volume was 1 ml/kg. Animals were sacrificed by decapitation using a guillotine. All experiments were performed following the rules of the Ethics Committee on Animal Use - CEUA-UFRGS. The protocols were approved by the CEUA-UFRGS, Project No.: 22319.

Preparation and administration of IN [³H] GUO solution

A mother solution of unlabeled GUO (120 mg/ml) was prepared on the day of each experiment, and it was used to prepare all the different concentrations of GUO used in the study. Unlabeled GUO at each concentration specified was mixed with a fixed amount of radiolabeled [³H] GUO (0.5 mCi/ml, specific activity 15 Ci/mmol). The mixture of unlabeled GUO with tracer amounts of [³H] GUO was named as [³H] GUO solution.

Six rats per each condition analyzed were anesthetized, and the [3 H] GUO solution was administered to both nostrils of each animal at the bottom of the nasal septum with a pipette tip with a long edge. The administered volume of [3 H] GUO solution was applied slowly, and the interval between each nostril administration was approximately 2 min. After the time interval specified for each group protocol, blood samples were transcardially collected and the animals were decapitated and the brain structures (i.e., olfactory bulb, parietal cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum) were dissected and processed.

Rats that received no interference, such as anesthesia, surgery, and/or treatment, were considered control animals that were designated as "naïve" group in each analyses. At the end of the experiments, all naïve animals were grouped into a single population to consider inter-experimental variability (eight rats in total). Thus, the control group was identical for all comparisons in this work.

Evaluation of pharmacokinetic parameters of IN [³H] GUO solution administration

We investigated dose curve and time distribution of IN $[^{3}H]$ GUO into the rat brain and blood plasma. The dose curve of IN $[^{3}H]$ GUO solution was evaluated by applying 0.05 ml per nostril of different concentrations of $[^{3}H]$ GUO solution (2.5, 7.5, 15, 30, and 60 mg/ml) and assessing the radioactivity content and purine levels in brain structures and blood plasma 15 min after administration. Based on the unlabeled GUO concentration and the radioactivity detected for each solution administered, we estimated the dose curve for $[^{3}H]$ GUO exposure of each brain structures and blood plasma. To achieve the IN $[^{3}H]$ GUO time curve, we applied 30 mg/ml IN $[^{3}H]$ GUO solution, 0.05 ml per nostril, and evaluated the radioactivity content and purine levels after 5, 15, 60, 120, and 180 min.

Comparison between IN and IP [³H] GUO administration

The $[{}^{3}H]$ GUO solution (30 mg/ml) was injected IN (IN GUO, 0.05 ml per nostril) or IP (IP GUO 0.1 ml). After 5 min, the radioactivity and purine levels of the brain structures, CSF, and plasma samples were determined.

Brain structure processing

The olfactory bulb, parietal cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum were dissected from the brain, weighed, and the right hemisphere structures were used for quantification of radioactivity (by liquid scintillation counter Hidex 300 SL), and the left hemisphere structures were used for determination of purines by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) measurements. The following procedure was performed for both hemispheres according to [25] with minor modifications; the structures were homogenized in 0.6 ml of 7 % TFA, except the bulb, which was homogenized in 0.3 ml of 7 % TFA for deproteinization. Next, the homogenates were centrifuged at 10,000×g at 4 °C for 10 min, and the supernatants were collected. Aliquots of 0.2 and 0.4 ml from the olfactory bulb and other structures, respectively, were used to measure the radioactivity content. To analyze purines by the HPLC method, an aliquot of 0.1 ml was neutralized with 0.075 ml of 1.5 M potassium bicarbonate (KHCO₃). After, the samples were filtered through cellulose 0.22 µm pore size membrane and finally stored at -70 °C.

CSF and plasma sampling

CSF samples (approximately 0.1 ml) were removed by direct puncture of the cisterna magna with an insulin needle in a stereotactic apparatus. Each sample was centrifuged at 10, $000 \times g$ at 4 °C for 10 min to obtain a cell-free supernatant.

This supernatant was filtered through a cellulose 0.22 μ m pore size membrane, and the samples were individually stored at -70 °C.

Blood was withdrawn (approximately 2 ml) by cardiac puncture and added to collection tubes containing sodium citrate as an anticoagulant. The samples were centrifuged at $5000 \times g$ for 10 min and the supernatant (plasma) was collected. An aliquot of 0.4 ml was added to 0.6 ml of 7 % TFA to deproteinization. After, the samples were centrifuged at 10, $000 \times g$ at 4 °C for 10 min and the supernatant was collected. A supernatant aliquot (0.4 ml) was collected for radioactivity analysis. Another aliquot (0.1 ml) was submitted to the same process of neutralization and storage as brain structures and it was used for purines analysis.

HPLC

Determination of the purines concentration in CSF, blood plasma, and brain structures was performed using the methodology of HPLC described previously [7]. The injected sample volume was 0.02 ml. The following purines were analyzed: ADO, INO, HYP, GUO, XAN, and UA.

Evaluation of the neuroprotective potential of IN GUO treatment in the cerebral ischemia model

To investigate the neuroprotective potential of IN GUO treatment, we used a permanent focal cerebral ischemia model in rats and evaluated parameters of behavioral functionality (cylinder test), histological damage (infarct volume by TTC stained), and mitochondrial dysfunction at the penumbra area (MitoTrackerTM analyses).

Before any surgical manipulation, we performed cylinder test (described below) in all animals to exclude potential asymmetric rats. Following this preliminary test, the animals were randomly separated into two main groups: ischemia saline (IS; craniotomy with induced ischemia followed by saline solution administration) and GUO ischemia (IG; craniotomy with induction of ischemia followed by GUO treatment). Of note, we previously showed that animals submitted only to surgical procedures (craniotomy) without thermocoagulation of pial vessels (SHAM) showed no behavioral impairment or brain histological damage [11, 12]. The IG group was subdivided according to the administration schedule: IG 0 h (immediately, 1, 3, and 6 h after surgery), IG 1 h (1, 3, and 6 h after surgery), or IG 3 h (3, 5, and 8 h after surgery). Saline or 30 mg/ml GUO solutions were IN administered (0.05 ml per nostril). The saline group received four administrations of saline solution (NaCl 0.9 %) immediately, 1, 3, and 6 h after surgery. For saline and/or GUO administration 3 to 8 h after the surgery, animals were anesthetized again with half of the initial anesthetic dose. The concentration of GUO solution for neuroprotective experiments was chosen based on the

pharmacokinetics profile of IN administration. The administration schedule was initially chosen based on previous studies by our research group [11, 12]. After induction of ischemia, further analyses were performed by investigators blind to the treatments.

Induction of permanent focal ischemia

Ischemic injury was induced by thermocoagulation of pial blood vessels in the motor and sensorimotor cortices by approaching a hot probe to the meninges [11, 12]. This procedure resulted in the degeneration of the six cortical layers just below the affected blood vessels [32]. Briefly, the animals were anesthetized and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus. The skull was surgically exposed and a craniotomy was performed, exposing the left fronto-parietal cortex (+3–6 mm and AP + LL 2–0 mm bregma). After the procedure, the skin was sutured and the body temperature was maintained at 37 °C using a heating pad until recovery from anesthesia.

Measurement of sensorimotor activity

This procedure was based on the spontaneous exploratory behavior of rodents. It consisted of placing the animal into a glass cylinder (20 cm in diameter and 30 cm high) and counting the first 20 forelimb contacts with the cylinder walls. Occurrences of contact with exclusive use of the ipsilateral limb (to the injury) or contralateral limb or the use of both limbs were recorded separately. The animals were submitted to a pre-test prior to surgery and a post-test 48 h after surgery. The score of symmetry for each animal was calculated each day by the formula previously described [11, 12, 32].

Measurement of the volume of the brain infarcted area

After the cylinder procedure, the animals were euthanized and the brains were quickly removed from the skulls and sectioned in a coronal plane at 2 mm thickness using a rat brain matrix (Insight LTDA, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil). The slices were immersed for 30 min in 2 % TTC at 37 °C followed by overnight fixation in 4 % paraformaldehyde. The infarct volume was calculated by the formula: volume=measurement of infarct area × slice thickness (2 mm). The brain slices were analyzed by the software Image J. The results are expressed in mm³.

Dysfunctional mitochondria measurement

Tissue samples (30 mg) from the side of the lesion of parietal cortex, located between the lesion and the cerebral longitudinal fissure (a piece measuring approximately 8 mm \times 6.2 mm) was dissected after rat transcardial perfusion with saline in accordance with recent studies by our group [11, 12]. This region was chosen because it has characteristics similar to the penumbra area [11, 12, 32]; therefore, it was designated as the penumbra area. The samples were dissociated in 0.1 M phosphate-buffered solution (PBS), pH 7.4, containing 0.1 mg/ml of collagenase IV. After the dissociation, the samples were decanted for 15 min and an aliquot of supernatant was collected and incubated with MitoTrackerTM Green FM and Red FM dyes (100 nM each). MitotrackerTM green provides an estimation of mitochondrial quantity and mass, and red provides a measure of the mitochondrial potential. Taken together, these data (higher mitochondrial mass and lower potential) indicate mitochondria dysfunction [33]. The emission of fluorescence was measured by a band pass green (FL-1; 530 nm/30) and red (FL-3; 670 nm long pass) using CellQuest Pro software (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and data from 10,000 events were acquired. All flow cytometric analyses were performed using Flow Jo software 7.6.3 (Treestar, Ashland, OR).

Statistics

An unpaired Student's t test was used to compare radioactivity measurements between IN and IP [³H] GUO groups. Purine levels evaluated by HPLC in brain structures, blood samples, and CSF were analyzed by a one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-test. Kruskal Wallis test followed by Dunn's post-test was used to analyze the neuroprotective effects of different administration schedules of IN GUO treatment on sensorimotor activity and on brain infarct volume, comparing each different treatment protocol with IS. Dysfunctional mitochondrial cell data were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni's post-test. Post-test statistical powers were calculated after each analysis of neuroprotective effects and are shown in the Supplementary Material. Correlations were analyzed by a Pearson's correlation analysis. Differences were considered significant at $p \le 0.05$ probability.

Results

Pharmacokinetic analysis following IN [³H] GUO solution administration

Radioactivity detection

Radioactivity was detected in all investigated brain structures (i.e., olfactory bulb, parietal cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum) with the olfactory bulb presenting higher radioactivity levels (Fig. 1). The dose curve indicated that IN [³H] GUO exposure was increased in brain structures by increasing the GUO amount administered (Fig. 1a), pointing to a dose-dependent profile. Saturation was achieved with the dose of



Fig. 1 Brain structures. a Dose curve of IN [³H] GUO administration. Radioactivity detected 15 min after administration of 0.05 ml per nostril. b Time curve. Radioactivity detected after administration of 30 mg/ml of IN [³H] GUO solution, 0.05 ml per nostril. Each point represents the mean \pm SE. N = 6 animals per group

30 mg/ml IN [³H] GUO solution. Regarding the time curve, no significant difference was observed in radioactivity content from 5 to 180 min after IN [³H] GUO solution administration (Fig. 1b).

Similar to brain structures, the dose curve indicated a dosedependent profile of [³H] GUO after IN [³H] GUO solution administration in blood plasma (Fig. 2a). In contrast to brain structures, no saturation level was reached even in the higher doses administered (Fig. 2a), and higher radioactivity levels were observed over time (Fig. 2b).

HPLC measurements

No significant difference in GUO levels analyzed by HPLC was observed in any brain structure between naïve rats and rats that received IN [³H] GUO solution of each different tested conditions (concentration and time curves; Supplementary Tables 1 and 2). Only XAN and UA profiles showed statistically significant differences at specific conditions; a significant increase in XAN level in the olfactory bulb, 15 min after 7.5 mg/ml of IN [H³] GUO solution (Supplementary Table 1), and an increase in UA level in the parietal cortex, 60 min following 30 mg/ml of IN [H³] GUO solution administration (Supplementary Table 2).

We observed that only ADO plasma levels were significantly increased 15 min after animals received 15 to



Fig. 2 Blood plasma. a Dose curve of IN [³H] GUO administration. Radioactivity detected 15 min after administration of 0.05 ml per nostril. b Time curve. Radioactivity detected after administration of 30 mg/ml of IN [³H] GUO solution, 0.05 ml per nostril. Each point represents the mean \pm SE. N=6 animals per group. *P<0.05 compared to the naïve group

60 mg/ml of IN [³H] GUO solution (Supplementary Table 3A). This selectivity of the increase in ADO levels was confirmed in the time curve (Supplementary Table 3B). A significant decrease in XAN levels was observed from 60 to 180 min following 30 mg/ml of IN [³H] GUO solution (Supplementary Table 3B). Blood plasma GUO and HYP levels were not possible to be detected due to its value not reaching the HPLC inferior detection limits (data not shown). This inability seems to be related specifically to the use of TFA 7 % in purines extraction protocol, as GUO plasma levels could be observed using different extraction compounds [7, 16, 25, 26]. Notably, we chose TFA 7 % based on a pilot experiment which we tested different chemicals to homogenize brain tissue and blood samples to obtain the highest radioactivity extraction derived from [³H] GUO (TCA 10 %, TFA 7 %, ACN, methanol, perchloric acid; data not shown).



Fig. 3 Comparison of injection routes for $[{}^{3}\text{H}]$ GUO solution administration. The radioactivity in: **a** different brain structures and **b** the CSF and blood plasma, five minutes after IN (0.05 ml per nostril) or IP (0.1 ml) 30 mg/ml [{}^{3}\text{H}] GUO administration. Data are expressed as the mean ± SE. N=6 (brain structures and plasma) or 3–4 (CSF) animals per group. *P < 0.05 compared to IN groups

Comparison between IN and IP [³H] GUO solution administration

Five minutes after administration of 30 mg/ml IP (0.1 ml) and IN (0.05 ml per nostril) [³H] GUO solution, the radioactivity was detected in brain structures (Fig. 3a). The radioactivity levels detected in the olfactory bulb were higher compared to other brain structures after IN but not IP administration. The radioactivity levels in the parietal cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum were significantly higher after IP than IN administration.

HPLC analyses confirmed no significant change in endogenous purine levels in brain structures after IN [³H] GUO solution administration, while IP [³H] GUO solution administration caused a small number of significant increases, i.e., UA in the olfactory bulb, INO in the hippocampus, and GUO and INO in the cerebellum (Supplementary Table 4).

CSF was collected from six animals of each naïve, IN, and IP GUO groups; however, only four, three, and three CSF samples were obtained without blood contamination, respectively. The radioactivity levels in the CSF were not significantly different between the two administrations (Fig. 3b), while in blood plasma it was significantly higher after IP than IN administration. In both protocols, the radioactivity levels in blood plasma were significantly higher than in the CSF. Significantly higher ADO levels were observed in blood plasma 5 min after IP, but not IN [³H] GUO solution injection compared to naïve rats. The concentrations of other analyzed purines showed no significant differences between the groups in blood plasma (Table 1). In contrast, IN [³H] GUO solution administration significantly increased the levels of GUO, XAN, UA, INO, and HYP in the CSF, especially GUO, INO, and HYP levels that were 2.5, 2.1, and 4.5 times compared to naïve animals. The concentrations of other analyzed purines in the CSF showed no significant differences between the groups (Table 1).

Evaluation of the neuroprotective potential of IN GUO administration

All animals presented a symmetry rate of approximately 90 % in the cylinder test before surgery (data not shown). Ischemic insult reduced the symmetry to approximately 25 %. IN GUO treatments improved the symmetry rate (Fig. 4, Supplementary Table 5).

Brain TTC staining indicated that permanent focal ischemia induced a lesion in the cerebral cortex of the left

Table 1 Levels of endogenous purine and metabolites in the CSF or blood plasma, measured in naïve animals and in animals at 5 min after IN (0.05 ml per nostril) or IP (0.1 ml) [³H] GUO administration. Levels of endogenous purines and metabolites in blood plasma (A) and CSF (B): comparison between IN and IP [3H] GUO administration

Nucleoside and metabolites	Näive	IN [3H] GUO	IP [3H] GUO
A. Blood plasma			
GUO	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
XAN	0.90 ± 0.17	0.82 ± 0.11	0.70 ± 0.11
UA	10.46 ± 0.78	11.49 ± 2.79	11.15 ± 2.48
ADO	0.56 ± 0.15	1.05 ± 0.25	$1.55\pm0.26^{\ast}$
INO	3.60 ± 0.26	3.43 ± 0.61	3.12 ± 0.46
HYP	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
B. CSF			
GUO	0.10 ± 0.02	$0.25\pm0.04^{\ast}$	0.20 ± 0.04
XAN	2.41 ± 0.07	$3.28\pm0.26^{\ast}$	2.04 ± 0.09
UA	2.39 ± 0.08	3.24 ± 0.21 **	$1.91\pm0.03^{\ast}$
ADO	0.18 ± 0.02	0.14 ± 0.03	0.17 ± 0.02
INO	0.67 ± 0.09	$1.43\pm0.26^{\ast}$	0.44 ± 0.04
НҮР	2.31 ± 0.33	$10.38\pm2.01*$	3.06 ± 0.46

GUO guanosine, *XAN* xanthine, *UA* uric acid, *ADO* adenosine, *INO* inosine, *HYP* hypoxanthine. N=6 (plasma) or 3–4 (CSF) animals per group.*P<0.05 compared to respective control group, ${}^{\#}P$ <0.05 compared both to respective control and IP groups. Values are expressed as mean ± SE in nmol/ml

*P<0.05 compared to the naïve group, **P<0.05 compared to the naïve and IP [3H]GUO groups



Fig. 4 Performance in the cylinder test 48 h after ischemia. Symmetry score of rats receiving IN treatment of saline (IS, N=21) or GUO through a protocol starting immediately (IG 0 h, N=16), 1 h (GUO 1 h, N=9) or 3 h (GUO 3 h, N=19) after ischemia induction. The symmetry score index and the schedule of administration for each treatment are described in material and methods. ${}^{#}P < 0.0001$ compared to IS, IG 0 h, IG 1 h, IG 3 h groups; *P < 0.05 compared to IS group; **P < 0.001 compared to IS group. Data are expressed as the mean ± SE

hemispher measured at 48 h after surgery (Fig. 5). IN GUO administration decreased the infarct volume only when the treatment started immediately after ischemia induction (IG 0 h; Fig. 5a-b, Supplementary Table 6). No statistical correlation between the symmetry score and the infarct volume was found (Pearson's R^2 =0.016, P=0.41; Fig. 5c).

We further evaluated functional mitochondrial integrity in cortical penumbra area of animals that received IN GUO treatment starting 3 h after ischemia onset since this experimental group presents a more interesting therapeutic time window compared to the others. The volume and morphological complexity analyses together with the MitotrackerTM incorporation (mass and potential mitochondrial measurement) through flow cytometry indicated that permanent focal ischemia induced injury to neural cells in the penumbra area of the parietal cortex of the ipsilateral, but not of the contralateral hemisphere. Notably, IN GUO treatment starting 3 h after ischemic insult (IG 3 h) significantly reduced mitochondrial dysfunction when compared to the IS group (Fig. 6a, Supplementary Table 7). We observed a statistical correlation between functional behavior recovery and mitochondrial dysfunction in the penumbra area (Pearson's $R^2 = 0.39$, P = 0.006; Fig. 6b).

Histological analysis of the nasal septum was performed to verify the integrity of the mucosa after IN GUO treatment (IG 0 h group). No histological alteration was observed (Supplementary Figure 1).

Discussion

In the present work, we conducted pharmacokinetic evaluation of GUO IN administration to determine when, how, and where GUO could reach the brain. We observed a dose-



Fig. 5 Parameters of brain infarct measured 48 h after cerebral ischemia. **a** Volume of brain infarct of rats receiving treatment with saline (IS, N=14) or GUO starting immediately (GUO 0 h, N=16), 1 h (GUO 1 h, N=9) or 3 h (GUO 3 h, N=12) following ischemia induction. **b** Representative images of brain TTC staining of experimental groups. **c** Correlation (IS and GUO 0H groups) between cortex infarct volume and forelimb function (symmetry score) measured 48 h after ischemia, Pearson's $R^2 = 0.016$, P = 0.41. *P < 0.05 compared to IS group

dependent and saturable pattern of GUO exposure in brain structures. Although, to our knowledge, this was the first time that IN GUO administration was investigated, the delivery of nucleoside analogs to the CNS has been demonstrated by several works through IN administration in rodents [34, 35]. Indeed, nucleoside transporters were found in the nasal epithelia, pointing out that the uptake of GUO by their specific transporters can facilitate its delivery to the brain [36]. The pathway by which GUO applied to the nostril reaches the CNS seems to be reached as fast as only 5 min post-injection. This result is in accordance with other studies, which demonstrated that different drugs could reach maximal CNS concentrations immediately after administration [37, 38]. No significant difference was observed in GUO endogenous levels in the brain structures following IN $[{}^{3}H]$ GUO solution administration in any condition tested in this work. These results could be expected as GUO exposure on each brain structure was lower than the variability of total endogenous purines among naïve animals.

In blood plasma, IN [³H] GUO administration increased ADO levels 15 min after injection of 15–60 mg/ml IN GUO. Previously, we reported that chronic oral GUO treatment was also able to increase ADO plasma levels [7]. Some works in the literature have focused attention on the interplay of extracellular ADO and GUO levels. An experimentally based hypothesis is that GUO caused an increase in extracellular ADO levels by competing with nucleoside transporter [19, 20]. In fact, some of GUO's neuroprotective effects, but not all, are ADO receptor dependent [18–22, 39].

Interestingly, radioactivity amounts were higher in brain structures following IP than IN [³H] GUO solution administration. As expected, significantly, more radioactivity amount was detected in the blood plasma after IP compared with IN [³H] GUO administration; however, the same levels of radioactivity were detected in CSF. Taken together, these data support the hypotheses that GUO reaches CSF after IN administration by a pathway, at least partially, not involving systemic circulation and that brain structures take up purines directly from blood after IP administration. CSF purines analysis indicated that GUO levels were significantly increased after IN ³H] GUO administration. Moreover, GUO direct metabolites, i.e., XAN and UA, as well as INO and HYP, which concentrations can be influenced by GUO, are also significantly increased after IN [³H] GUO administration, demonstrating a fast delivery pathway to the CNS. CSF GUO levels increased after IP [³H] GUO administration but did not reach a statistically significant difference. Except for ADO, no purine levels showed a significant difference compared to endogenous levels in CSF after IP [³H] GUO administration. The increase of CSF ADO levels may be associated with the increased blood plasma ADO levels after IP [³H] GUO injection. Together, these data reinforced the idea that the CSF may be a major source of distribution to the brain following IN administration while the purine levels after IP administration reflect blood levels. This hypothesis is reinforced by works of Jiang's group [19, 20] that showed, using a mixture of unlabeled and labeled [³H] GUO (40 times more [³H] GUO than was used here), that GUO is promptly and markedly metabolic breakdown after systemic administration reflecting in an increase of GUO metabolites in the brain [25, 26].

As we demonstrated that an IN route can be an efficient method for the delivery of GUO to the CNS, we further evaluated the IN GUO treatment neuroprotective potential in a brain ischemia model. Stroke, which mainly causes ischemic events, is the third cause of death worldwide and the main cause of chronic, severe adult disability. The current therapy can restore cerebral blood flow within a narrow time window



Fig. 6 Dysfunctional mitochondria in the penumbra zone (contralateral and ipsilateral sides) measured 48 h after ischemia induction: **a** percentage of dysfunctional mitochondria in the penumbra area from rats of SHAM (N=5 animals), IS (N=7 animals), and IG 3 h (N=7

animals). The description of each experimental group is detailed in material and methods. **c** Correlation between infarct volume and forelimb function (symmetry score; Pearson's $R^2 = 0.39$, P = 0.006)

to prevent damage to the "penumbra" area, which surrounds the infarct core [40]. In order to increase the therapeutic time window, neuroprotection is an alternative or adjunct approach to thrombolysis, targeting the cerebral parenchyma in the acute ischemic phase [41].

The neuroprotective effects of the nucleoside GUO have been demonstrated after systemic administration in ischemia models by our and other groups [11–15]. We recently showed, using the same permanent focal cerebral ischemia model used in the present work, that systemic GUO treatment started immediately after ischemia induction improved functional recovery of behavioral impairment, simultaneously preventing brain oxidative stress, modulating glutamatergic parameters, attenuating changes in the inflammatory system, thus decreasing neuronal degeneration in the penumbra area [11, 12]. Additionally, other groups demonstrated that GUO treatment starting before a transient focal cerebral ischemia induction (middle cerebral arteria occlusion model [MCAO]) decreased brain infarct volume and improved neurological deficits, acting directly in the CNS [13, 15].

The main goal of the present work was to explore the neuroprotective potential of GUO through an alternative administration route, i.e., the IN pathway. In addition to being a noninvasive method, the advantage of the IN route is to be a direct pathway for endogenous drugs to be delivered to the CNS, decreasing the influence of systemic metabolism and the blood brain barrier, as we observed for GUO in our pharmacokinetics data. Moreover, the IN route presents alternative pathways to deliver drugs to the CNS that does not involve blood vessels, which are compromised in stroke [27, 28]. Remarkably, IN GUO treatment that was initiated immediately after ischemia onset prevented behavior impairment and decreased brain infarct volume with a dose almost seven times lower than the effective dose for IP administration [11, 12]. This effective result of IN compared to systemic administration was also observed for other neuroprotective drugs against ischemia damage [29, 30].

Although the exact GUO mechanism of action is still not fully clear, GUO seems to counteract different steps following the ischemia cascade events [11, 12]. Thus, we tested different therapeutic schedules of treatment, increasing the time of the first dose administered after ischemia induction. We observed that IN GUO treatment starting 1 or 3 h after ischemia induction were efficient in preventing functional behavior impairment induced by ischemia but had no effect on brain infarct volume, evaluated by the TTC technique. Interestingly, no statistical correlation between these two parameters was observed. In this way, it is important to consider that TTC methodology relies on the degree of dehydrogenase enzymes and cofactors functionality, but the tissue that stains positively is not necessarily health. Together, these results suggest that GUO may be acting in a different damaged region. The area between the pale-ischemic core and the red-colored healthy tissue represents the penumbra zone where brain tissue is damaged but not yet dead, thus comprising the transition zone between the core and the repairable zone that is the anatomical target of protective intervention [42, 43]. In agreement with the idea of neuroprotection action in the penumbra zone, we observed that IN GUO treatment starting 3 h after the insult statistically decreased the number of events containing dysfunctional mitochondria in the penumbra area. To reinforce this idea, we detected a statistical correlation between the mitochondrial status in the penumbra area and the behavioral performance. Our data are in agreement with our previous work, which reported a correlation between oxidative stress parameters in the penumbra area (but not infarct volume) and functional recovery of animals submitted to ischemia treated with systemic GUO [12]. However, the wide time window for therapy with GUO seems to be an outstanding outcome particular to the IN route, as systemic GUO injection was efficient only when administered before or immediately after ischemia onset [11-15].

In summary, we showed in the present work that the IN route is an efficient route to promptly deliver the neuroprotective nucleoside GUO to the CNS. Moreover, we demonstrated that IN GUO prevented behavioral injury in a much lower dose and a wider therapeutic time window compared to systemic administration, an effect related to improvement in tissue viability in the penumbra area. As the search for an effective neuroprotective treatment that can be started later after ischemia onset is currently one of the most challenging goals to treat stroke, we believe that our present data support that IN GUO may be a promise strategy to treat stroke. We expect that our present results will stimulate other groups to explore the neuroprotective potential of IN GUO treatment.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul (FAPERGS), Financiadora de Estudos e Projetos (FINEP) -IBN.Net 01.06.0842-00, and Instituto Nacional de Ciência e Tecnologia para Excitotoxicidade e Neuroproteção (INCTEN).

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions Author contributions: D.B.R., G.C.M., S.O.L., D.O.S., and M.G. designed research; D.B.R., G.C.M., G.B.M.R., G.H.D., R.F.A., L.F.P., G.H., A.C.M.H., S.O.L., and M.G. performed research; L.F.P., A.C.M.H., D.O.S. and M.G. contributed new reagents/analytic tools; D.B.R., G.C.M., G.B.M.R., R.F.A., L.F.P., G.H., A.C.M.H., S.O.L., D.O.S., and M.G. analyzed data; and D.B.R., G.C.M., S.O.L., D.O.S., and M.G. wrote the paper.

References

- Schmidt AP, Lara DR, Souza DO (2007) Proposal of a guaninebased purinergic system in the mammalian central nervous system. Pharmacol Ther 116(3):401–416. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2007. 07.004
- Frizzo ME, Antunes Soares FA, Dall'Onder LP, Lara DR, Swanson RA, Souza DO (2003) Extracellular conversion of guanine-based purines to guanosine specifically enhances astrocyte glutamate uptake. Brain Res 972(1-2):84–89
- Frizzo ME, Lara DR, Dahm KC, Prokopiuk AS, Swanson RA, Souza DO (2001) Activation of glutamate uptake by guanosine in primary astrocyte cultures. Neuroreport 12(4):879–881
- Tasca CI, Santos TG, Tavares RG, Battastini AM, Rocha JB, Souza DO (2004) Guanine derivatives modulate L-glutamate uptake into rat brain synaptic vesicles. Neurochem Int 44(6):423–431
- Lai TW, Zhang S, Wang YT (2014) Excitotoxicity and stroke: identifying novel targets for neuroprotection. Prog Neurobiol 115:157– 188. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.11.006
- Lipton SA (2007) Pathologically activated therapeutics for neuroprotection. Nat Rev Neurosci 8(10):803–808. doi:10.1038/nrn2229
- Ganzella M, de Oliveira ED, Comassetto DD, Cechetti F, Cereser VH Jr, Moreira JD, Hansel G, Almeida RF, Ramos DB, Figueredo YN, Souza DG, Oses JP, Worm PV, Achaval M, Netto CA, Souza DO (2012) Effects of chronic guanosine treatment on hippocampal damage and cognitive impairment of rats submitted to chronic cerebral hypoperfusion. Neurol Sci 33(5):985–997. doi:10.1007/ s10072-011-0872-1
- Schmidt AP, Avila TT, Souza DO (2005) Intracerebroventricular guanine-based purines protect against seizures induced by quinolinic acid in mice. Neurochem Res 30(1):69–73
- Lara DR, Schmidt AP, Frizzo ME, Burgos JS, Ramirez G, Souza DO (2001) Effect of orally administered guanosine on seizures and death induced by glutamatergic agents. Brain Res 912(2):176–180
- Schmidt AP, Paniz L, Schallenberger C, Bohmer AE, Wofchuk ST, Elisabetsky E, Portela LV, Souza DO (2010) Guanosine prevents thermal hyperalgesia in a rat model of peripheral mononeuropathy. Journal Pain 11(2):131–141. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2009.06.010
- Hansel G, Tonon AC, Guella FL, Pettenuzzo LF, Duarte T, Duarte MM, Oses JP, Achaval M, Souza DO (2014) Guanosine Protects Against Cortical Focal Ischemia. Involvement of Inflammatory Response. Mol Neurobiol. doi:10.1007/s12035-014-8978-0
- Hansel G, Ramos DB, Delgado CA, Souza DG, Almeida RF, Portela LV, Quincozes-Santos A, Souza DO (2014) The potential therapeutic effect of guanosine after cortical focal ischemia in rats. PLoS One 9(2), e90693. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090693
- Connell BJ, Di Iorio P, Sayeed I, Ballerini P, Saleh MC, Giuliani P, Saleh TM, Rathbone MP, Su C, Jiang S (2013) Guanosine protects against reperfusion injury in rat brains after ischemic stroke. J Neurosci Res 91(2):262–272. doi:10.1002/jnr.23156
- Rathbone MP, Saleh TM, Connell BJ, Chang R, Su C, Worley B, Kim M, Jiang S (2011) Systemic administration of guanosine promotes functional and histological improvement following an ischemic stroke in rats. Brain Res 1407:79–89. doi:10.1016/j.brainres. 2011.06.027
- 15. Chang R, Algird A, Bau C, Rathbone MP, Jiang S (2008) Neuroprotective effects of guanosine on stroke models in vitro

and in vivo. Neurosci Lett 431(2):101-105. doi:10.1016/j.neulet. 2007.11.072

- 16. Paniz LG, Calcagnotto ME, Pandolfo P, Machado DG, Santos GF, Hansel G, Almeida RF, Bruch RS, Brum LM, Torres FV, de Assis AM, Rico EP, Souza DO (2014) Neuroprotective effects of guanosine administration on behavioral, brain activity, neurochemical and redox parameters in a rat model of chronic hepatic encephalopathy. Metab Brain Dis 29(3):645–654. doi:10.1007/s11011-014-9548-x
- Traversa U, Bombi G, Di Iorio P, Ciccarelli R, Werstiuk ES, Rathbone MP (2002) Specific [(3)H]-guanosine binding sites in rat brain membranes. Br J Pharmacol 135(4):969–976. doi:10. 1038/sj.bjp.0704542
- Dal-Cim T, Ludka FK, Martins WC, Reginato C, Parada E, Egea J, Lopez MG, Tasca CI (2013) Guanosine controls inflammatory pathways to afford neuroprotection of hippocampal slices under oxygen and glucose deprivation conditions. J Neurochem 126(4): 437–450. doi:10.1111/jnc.12324
- Jackson EK, Cheng D, Jackson TC, Verrier JD, Gillespie DG (2013) Extracellular guanosine regulates extracellular adenosine levels. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 304(5):C406–C421. doi:10. 1152/ajpcell.00212.2012
- Jackson EK, Mi Z (2014) The guanosine-adenosine interaction exists in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 350(3):719–726. doi:10.1124/ jpet.114.216978
- Dal-Cim T, Molz S, Egea J, Parada E, Romero A, Budni J, Martin de Saavedra MD, del Barrio L, Tasca CI, Lopez MG (2012) Guanosine protects human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells against mitochondrial oxidative stress by inducing heme oxigenase-1 via PI3K/Akt/GSK-3beta pathway. Neurochem Int 61(3):397–404. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2012.05.021
- Di Iorio P, Kleywegt S, Ciccarelli R, Traversa U, Andrew CM, Crocker CE, Werstiuk ES, Rathbone MP (2002) Mechanisms of apoptosis induced by purine nucleosides in astrocytes. Glia 38(3): 179–190. doi:10.1002/glia.10055
- Ipata PL, Camici M, Micheli V, Tozz MG (2011) Metabolic network of nucleosides in the brain. Curr Top Med Chem 11(8):909– 922
- Micheli V, Camici M, Tozzi MG, Ipata PL, Sestini S, Bertelli M, Pompucci G (2011) Neurological disorders of purine and pyrimidine metabolism. Curr Top Med Chem 11(8):923–947
- Giuliani P, Ballerini P, Ciccarelli R, Buccella S, Romano S, D'Alimonte I, Poli A, Beraudi A, Pena E, Jiang S, Rathbone MP, Caciagli F, Di Iorio P (2012) Tissue distribution and metabolism of guanosine in rats following intraperitoneal injection. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 26(1):51–65
- Jiang S, Fischione G, Giuliani P, Romano S, Caciagli F, Di Iorio P (2008) Metabolism and distribution of guanosine given intraperitoneally: implications for spinal cord injury. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 27(6):673–680. doi:10.1080/15257770802143962
- Djupesland PG, Messina JC, Mahmoud RA (2014) The nasal approach to delivering treatment for brain diseases: an anatomic, physiologic, and delivery technology overview. Ther Deliv 5(6): 709–733. doi:10.4155/tde.14.41
- Lochhead JJ, Thorne RG (2012) Intranasal delivery of biologics to the central nervous system. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64(7):614–628. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2011.11.002
- 29. Yu YP, Xu QQ, Zhang Q, Zhang WP, Zhang LH, Wei EQ (2005) Intranasal recombinant human erythropoietin protects rats against

focal cerebral ischemia. Neurosci Lett 387(1):5-10. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2005.07.008

- Fletcher L, Kohli S, Sprague SM, Scranton RA, Lipton SA, Parra A, Jimenez DF, Digicaylioglu M (2009) Intranasal delivery of erythropoietin plus insulin-like growth factor-I for acute neuroprotection in stroke. Laboratory investigation. J Neurosurg 111(1): 164–170. doi:10.3171/2009.2.JNS081199
- Lee M, Bikram M, Oh S, Bull DA, Kim SW (2004) Sp1-dependent regulation of the RTP801 promoter and its application to hypoxiainducible VEGF plasmid for ischemic disease. Pharm Res 21(5): 736–741
- 32. de Vasconcelos Dos Santos A, da Costa RJ, Diaz Paredes B, Moraes L, Jasmin G-GA, Mendez-Otero R (2010) Therapeutic window for treatment of cortical ischemia with bone marrowderived cells in rats. Brain Res 1306:149–158. doi:10.1016/j. brainres.2009.094
- 33. Tal MC, Sasai M, Lee HK, Yordy B, Shadel GS, Iwasaki A (2009) Absence of autophagy results in reactive oxygen species-dependent amplification of RLR signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(8): 2770–2775. doi:10.1073/pnas.0807694106
- Chavanpatil MD, Vavia PR (2004) The influence of absorption enhancers on nasal absorption of acyclovir. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 57(3):483–487. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2004.01.001
- Yang Z, Huang Y, Gan G, Sawchuk RJ (2005) Microdialysis evaluation of the brain distribution of stavudine following intranasal and intravenous administration to rats. J Pharm Sci 94(7):1577–1588. doi:10.1002/jps.20334
- Genter MB, Krishan M, Augustine LM, Cherrington NJ (2010) Drug transporter expression and localization in rat nasal respiratory and olfactory mucosa and olfactory bulb. Drug Metab Dispos 38(10):1644–1647. doi:10.1124/dmd.110.034611
- Falcone JA, Salameh TS, Yi X, Cordy BJ, Mortell WG, Kabanov AV, Banks WA (2014) Intranasal administration as a route for drug delivery to the brain: evidence for a unique pathway for albumin. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 351(1):54–60. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.216705
- Dhuria SV, Hanson LR, Frey WH 2nd (2009) Intranasal drug targeting of hypocretin-1 (orexin-A) to the central nervous system. J Pharm Sci 98(7):2501–2515. doi:10.1002/jps.21604
- Schmidt AP, Bohmer AE, Schallenberger C, Antunes C, Tavares RG, Wofchuk ST, Elisabetsky E, Souza DO (2010) Mechanisms involved in the antinociception induced by systemic administration of guanosine in mice. Br J Pharmacol 159(6):1247–1263. doi:10. 1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00597.x
- Balami JS, Hadley G, Sutherland BA, Karbalai H, Buchan AM (2013) The exact science of stroke thrombolysis and the quiet art of patient selection. Brain 136(Pt 12):3528–3553. doi:10.1093/ brain/awt201
- Moretti A, Ferrari F, Villa RF (2015) Neuroprotection for ischaemic stroke: current status and challenges. Pharmacol Ther 146:23–34. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.09.003
- 42. Kramer M, Dang J, Baertling F, Denecke B, Clarner T, Kirsch C, Beyer C, Kipp M (2010) TTC staining of damaged brain areas after MCA occlusion in the rat does not constrict quantitative gene and protein analyses. J Neurosci Methods 187(1):84–89. doi:10.1016/j. jneumeth.2009.12.020
- Lo EH (2008) A new penumbra: transitioning from injury into repair after stroke. Nat Med 14(5):497–500. doi:10.1038/nm1735